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Results of operations & & %4

Financial Highlights
IR E

RMB'000 A R# Tt 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-TF T T —ET-o=F ZE-NF
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(& =51) (g =351)) (& =51)
Revenue B 5,315,685 6,359,786 7,151,039 5,430,974 5,258,919
Profit/(loss) before tax Fi Al FE (EiE) 1,327,836 222,264 829,851 (928,334) 726,229
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners FEEARRQX G #HEA A
of the Company for the year AT (BE) 1,024,981 241,038 727,425 (783,258) 646,742
Basic earnings/(loss) per share FRERAEF (FHiB) 0.76 0.16 0.50 (0.53) 0.44
Asset information EEMR
RMB'000 A R#F T 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-E2F —E-_—F —ET-— —E_= —E_NE
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(& &%) (&&E75) (r&&75))
Total assets BERE 19,027,124 19,109,656 20,816,030 19,203,417 17,343,524
Total liabilities BB 7,336,905 7,584,862 8,406,565 7,215,040 5,141,403
Equity attributable to shareholders SFEBRAA & R EES
of the Company 11,570,621 11,412,833 12,312,741 11,913,148 12,148,673
Share capital & 75 1,467,296 1,467,296 1,467,296 1,467,296 1,467,296
Revenue & X% Gross profit EF|
RMB’000,000 AREBETT RMB’000,000 AR¥EAE T
e 7151 2,500 2,290
7,000 6,360 2,017 1,994
G 1,739
S 5,316 5431 5259 i
5,000 1,500
4,000
3,000 R0 -
2,000
500
1,000
0 — 0
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

The Group’s financial statements for years 2016 and before were prepared in
accordance with the PRC GAAP and were not prepared in accordance with the
IFRS. If the investor needs the relevant information, please visit the website at
http://www.cninfo.com.cn.
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (the “Company”), | am pleased to announce the

“Board”) of Shenzhen Hepalink

audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “we")
for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

In 2024, following the Company’s performance bottoming out in 2023, the
Company achieved growth against the odds through comprehensive management
changes and business innovation. Despite the challenging global economic
environment characterized by geopolitical tensions, supply chain restructuring and
inflation pressures, we successfully navigated through these complexities with firm
strategic execution and the collective efforts of our colleagues around the world,
delivering an impressive performance. Over the past decade, the Company has
grown from a China-based enterprise to a global leader in the heparin field,
marking our steady progress and outstanding achievements in global expansion.
During the Reporting Period, market uncertainties persisted, especially with
heightened geopolitical risks and volatility in emerging markets. Against this
backdrop, the Group further deepened its global footprint, continuously improving
the vertically integrated heparin industry chain and consolidating its leading
position in the international market. We established a more comprehensive
marketing network globally, further expanding our market influence. This
decade-long growth journey not only signifies the Company’s successful
transformation from a local company to a global group but also reflects our
commitment to innovation-driven and globalization strategies.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved a revenue of approximately
RMBS5,258.9 million, with a net profit of approximately RMB624.9 million, marking
a significant year-on-year growth. This achievement is primarily due to the Group’s
continued focus on core business and improvements in operational efficiency.
During the current financial year, the net cash flow from operating activities
returned to normal levels, further enhancing our risk resilience, with net operating
cash inflow recorded at approximately RMB2,194.1 million (2023: approximately
RMB398.2 million), showcasing our stable operational capability and consistent
cash generation ability.

We have continuously strengthened the vertical integration advantage of the
heparin industry chain, further consolidating our leading position in the global
market. The heparin business, as the core pillar of the Group, performed
exceptionally well in 2024. Through deepening local operations and market
penetration, we achieved a leap in market share, setting a historical best
performance for the Company; sales across regions continue to grow, with our
formulation products being highly recognized by local mainstream medical systems.
In the Chinese market, we continued to reinforce our industry leadership,
maintaining significant competitive advantages. The new automated formulation
production line at our Shenzhen Pingshan Industrial Park was successfully
commissioned, significantly enhancing overall production capacity and providing
strong support for our global market layout, thereby strengthening our core
competitiveness.

Our Contract Development and Manufacturing Organization (“CDMO") business
exhibited strong growth momentum, forming a positive “dual-wheel drive”
development pattern. On one hand, by continuing to deepen business
transformation and management upgrades of SPL Acquisition Corp. (“SPL"), we
successfully built a diversified business matrix with CDMO and specialty products as
growth points. This strategic transformation not only significantly enhanced SPL's
market competitiveness but also led to a leap in its overall performance. On the
other hand, Cytovance Biologics, Inc. (“Cytovance”), leveraging its expertise in the
macromolecular drug field, demonstrated extraordinary resilience during the global
CDMO industry adjustment period, not only stabilizing its core business but also
securing cooperation orders from several multinational pharmaceutical companies,
laying a solid foundation for future business recovery and sustained growth.
Through forward-looking strategic layout and continuous resource investment, we
have built competitive advantages in technology reserve, talent team, and customer
resources, opening new growth paths for the Group’s high-quality development in
the future. This “dual-wheel drive” development model ensures short-term
performance stability while injecting strong momentum for long-term sustainable
development.

The Group’s innovative drug development business has also entered a new stage,
with the self-developed innovative drug H1710 project completing China’s
Investigational New Drug (IND) application and being accepted, marking a further
breakthrough in our innovation field. The H1710 project, intended for treating
pancreatic cancer and other solid tumors, has broad market prospects. We will
continue to increase R&D investment, promoting more innovative drugs’ clinical
progress to provide more treatment options for patients.
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Chairman’s Statement
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In terms of management reform and operational efficiency improvement, through
the matrix management improvement project, the Group enhanced its global
organization’s collaborative efficiency and resource integration capability,
strengthening risk control. The Group implemented effective cash flow
management strategies, with the Group’s net operating cash inflow reaching a
historical high, significantly improving fund operation efficiency. The new
formulation production line project at the Shenzhen Pingshan Industrial Park was
successfully completed, significantly boosting the Company’s formulation capacity,
providing strong support for further global market expansion.

Looking ahead to 2025, the global economic environment remains challenging, but
we are confident about the future. The Group will continue to uphold the
management philosophy of “from strategy to execution”, steadily advancing the
following key tasks. We will further optimize the vertical integration of the heparin
industry chain, enhancing product competitiveness and market share, consolidating
our global leadership position. Meanwhile, we will continue to advance innovative
drug development, accelerate the clinical progress of the H1710 project, and
explore more opportunities for innovative drug research and development. The
Group will strengthen the diversified operations of SPL and Cytovance, promoting
the sustained growth of CDMO and specialty product businesses. In terms of global
operations, we will continue to improve the global marketing network layout,
strengthen international market development and brand building, enhancing the
Group’s influence in the global market. Through matrix management changes, we
will further enhance the global organization’s collaborative efficiency and resource
integration ability, strengthening risk control. We will also strengthen talent
management, inspire organizational vitality, and cultivate management teams with
innovative thinking and high execution efficiency.

Barring unforeseen circumstances, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about
its business prospects. Meanwhile, we will continue to focus on cost control to
ensure the Group achieves more stable financial benefits and cash flow levels under
favorable market conditions.

Lastly, on behalf of the Group, | would like to express sincere gratitude to our loyal
customers for their persistent support, as well as all business partners, investors
and shareholders for their trust. | would also like to present my heartfelt gratitude
to all staff for their consistent hard work and contribution in the past year. The
Group will build on past achievements and keep pace with the times, capitalize on
market opportunities and leverage its own advantages to promote the long-term
healthy development of the Group, thereby maximizing returns for shareholders.

Li Li
Company Chairman and Group President
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the global economy was complex and variable, facing challenges such as
slowing growth, divergent inflation trends, adjustments in monetary policy, rising
geopolitical risks and uncertainties in the trade environment. As a result, there
were significant differences in economic performances among countries. According
to the latest “World Economic Outlook” report from the International Monetary
Fund (IMF), global economic growth rates were projected to be 3.2% in 2024 and
3.3% in 2025. Despite the global economy showing some resilience, global
economic growth still lacks sufficient momentum, with some regions facing
downward risks. During the Reporting Period, the United States’ economy
performed steadily, with Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in 2024 being above
average and the unemployment rate maintained at around 4%. Although inflation
has not shown a significant decline, it has generally stabilized. The European
economy is recovering slowly. While inflation has decreased, fluctuations in energy
prices and geopolitical risks persist, leaving European central banks in a dilemma
between promoting economic growth and controlling inflation, which adds multiple
pressures on the European economic growth. In Asia, economic performance was
mixed. China’s economy maintained growth resilience but faced pressures from
weakened domestic demand and industrial adjustments. In contrast, India benefited
from strong domestic demand and investment growth, with an expected economic
growth rate exceeding 6%, thereby making it one of the highlights of global
economic growth. During the Reporting Period, China’s economy rebounded amid
fluctuations, with GDP surpassing RMB130 trillion for the first time, reflecting a 5%
increase compared to the same period in 2023. As existing policies continue to take
effect and new policies are being effectively implemented, positive factors in
economic operations continue to increase. In 2024, indicators such as per capita
disposable income, per capita consumption expenditure, and total retail sales of
consumer goods showed significant rebounds. Notably, per capita disposable
income and per capita consumption expenditure both saw a nominal increase of
5.3% compared to the previous year, while total retail sales of consumer goods
grew by 3.5% year-on-year. Overall, the livelihood economy is running smoothly
and steadily progressing.

In 2024, the Group firmly anchored its established development goals, continuing
to strengthen the core driving force of value creation through its formulation
business and steadily advancing its globalization strategy. The Group actively
enhanced its business capabilities and operational quality, optimized its business
structure, and achieved good sales growth, significantly improving operating
profits. During the Reporting Period, the Group further solidified its business
foundation by being deeply engaged in markets in Europe, China, the United
States, and other non-European and non-American markets and promoting sales
growth in various regions. The Group's annual sales volume of enoxaparin sodium
formulations achieved double-digit growth again, successfully expanding its global
formulation market share and brand influence in various regions. However,
according to data from the General Administration of Customs, the prices of
heparin active pharmaceutical ingredients (“API"”) remain low, and the APl market
price continues to face significant pressure. Despite this, the Group’s product
quality continued to be its core competitive advantage during the Reporting Period,
and with a strictly maintained pricing system, results such as APl sales volume
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growing by double digits year-on-year were achieved. Benefiting from the rebound
in demand for bio-macromolecule CDMO business and improved management
efficiency, the Group’s CDMO business experienced rapid growth during the
Reporting Period, with both business revenue and gross margin increasing
year-on-year. The Group actively assessed and adjusted its investment portfolio and
proportions during the Reporting Period, continuously optimizing capital allocation
with the goal of maximizing shareholder interests, achieving significant progress.
The performance of HighTide Therapeutics, Inc. and other investment portfolios
during the Reporting Period was ideal, bringing considerable investment returns to
the Group. The Group placed great emphasis on financial stability, continuously
strengthening fund coordination and allocation management, optimizing its debt
structure, and enhancing cost and expense control to balance financial risks and
reduce funding costs. With a robust financial strategy, the Group’s net cash flow
from operating activities increased from approximately RMB398.2 million in 2023
by approximately 451.0% to approximately RMB2,194.1 million in 2024. In the
current uncertain global economic environment, the Group will continue to adhere
to prudent financial management principles, ensuring the stability of liquidity,
enhancing capital operational efficiency, and supporting the Company’s long-term
development.

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved an operating revenue of
approximately RMB5,258.9 million in total, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 3.2%, with a gross profit of approximately RMB1,739.3 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 84.9%, and a gross margin
of approximately 33.1%, which is up by approximately 15.8 percentage points
year-on-year. The Group turned from loss into profit during the Reporting Period,
with a net profit of approximately RMB624.9 million and the net profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company was approximately RMB646.7 million.

SALES

The Group primarily operates through three main business segments: (i) the heparin
supply chain business; (ii) the CDMO business; and (iii) the innovative drugs and
innovation business.

HEPARIN SUPPLY CHAIN BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s heparin supply chain business achieved a
sales revenue of approximately RMB4,051.8 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 5.5%. Finished dose pharmaceutical products sales
experienced double-digit growth, reaching a record high in annual sales volume
with sales revenue of approximately RMB2,986.1 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 0.2%, accounting for approximately 56.8%
of the Group’s total revenue. The gross profit was approximately RMB950.3 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 26.0%, with a gross margin
of approximately 31.8%. Due to the impact of centralized procurement bidding,
the Group's product sales in the Chinese market significantly increased, but
procurement prices were substantially lower as compared to the same period in the
first half of 2023, which greatly affected the overall gross profit and gross profit
margin of the formulation business during the Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The European market continued to be the core engine for the Group’s enoxaparin
sodium formulation business. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s product
sales maintained its market share as top two in Europe. In terms of sales strategy,
the Group actively strengthened relationships with existing customers, deeply
analyzed market dynamics in various countries, and adjusted sales plans based on
local demand, successfully increasing the bid-winning rate to expand market share.
The Group also accelerated the exploration of uncovered markets, formulated
precise strategies, and promoted sales in underdeveloped areas, achieving new
tender orders. The Company showcased the advantages of its products and its
corporate strength by extensively participating in international pharmaceutical
exhibitions and industry summits, thus enhancing brand awareness. The Group also
enhanced the building of localized teams in Europe to maintain sharp market
insights for better responsiveness to market changes.

In the United States market, the Group's sales revenue showed impressive growth
during the Reporting Period, primarily benefiting from a dual strategy of
self-operated and agency-driven approaches of the Group, gradually achieving a
“1+1>2" collaborative advantage. During the Reporting Period, the Group's
self-operated team in the United States continuously pushed forward, actively
expanding market coverage through building its sales network and managing
distribution channels, thereby reaching markets that were previously uncovered and
effectively driving sales growth of core products. Currently, the Group’s United
States self-operated team has established cooperative relationships with multiple
medical systems, laying a solid foundation for business development. While
promoting sales growth of existing products, the Group continued to advance the
commercialization of Fosaprepitant dimeglumine in the United States market during
the Reporting Period. The Group actively utilized resources and platforms from
self-operated sales to strive for synergistic effects and create new revenue sources.

In the Chinese market, the Group maintained rapid sales growth through the
national centralized procurement platform. However, due to the pricing mechanism
of national procurement, sales revenue and gross profit in China were somewhat
affected. In this context, although the Group's scale of sales further expanded, the

gross profit of products was squeezed, leading to a decline in gross profit margin.
To address this, the Group is actively working to increase market share, leveraging
economies of scale to alleviate pricing pressure and consolidating its position in the
Chinese market. Additionally, the Group is committed to filling market gaps
through independent market development and planning, striving to find points of
growth outside of centralized procurement.
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In the non-European and non-American overseas markets, normalcy has resumed,
with various markets and sales channels reopening for planning and procurement,
bringing significant growth in sales volume to the Group. On one hand, the Group
strengthened its deep cultivation of existing markets, while on the other hand, it
actively developed new markets and explored new points of growth. During the
Reporting Period, the Group actively adjusted its business strategies to adapt to
changing market demands in different regions, accelerating market entry to expand
market coverage. At the same time, the Group strengthened its relationships with
governments, regulatory agencies, and partners to expedite product approvals. The
Group obtained market entry licenses in Thailand and New Zealand during the
Reporting Period, which not only brought new sales opportunities but also further
enhanced the Group’s international market share.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s API business generated a sales revenue of
approximately RMB1,065.7 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 18.5%. However, the sales volume increased by approximately
10.8% as compared to the same period in 2023, and the gross profit margin was
approximately 38.6%, gross profit margin turned positive compared to the negative
gross margin of approximately 42.8% in 2023. In the challenging market
environment, the Group actively adjusted its market strategies and planning and
achieved results. During the Reporting Period, the demand for API market increased
as compared to the same period in 2023, driving up sales volume. However, the
overall year-on-year decline in raw material prices was significant and market
competition was intensified. While the Company strived to maintain the API pricing
system, the trend of price wars became increasingly evident, causing API sales
prices to remain low during the Reporting Period. According to data from the
General Administration of Customs, the export price of heparin remained at a low
point. In the face of challenges posed by market competition, the Group responded
calmly, actively adjusted its market strategies, and tackled difficulties head-on
amidst the market impact, consistently adhering to the strategy of establishing
quality through its products and building its brand through its products while
maintaining the pricing system. The Group will not blindly follow the market's price
war, but will instead strengthen its product competitiveness to consolidate market
share.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CDMO BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s CDMO business achieved sales of
approximately RMB1,033.8 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 6.9%. Not only did sales revenue recover and grow, but the gross
profit margin also rose significantly, increasing by approximately 10.9%
year-on-year to approximately 32.9% in 2024, reflecting the Group’s achievements
in cost control and business optimization. Throughout the Reporting Period, the
Group continued to consolidate and deepen its cooperative relationships with
existing clients, maintaining stable business growth. Simultaneously, the Group
actively developed new customer groups, strengthened marketing efforts to reach
more potential clients, and expanded the coverage of its CDMO business.
Additionally, the Group optimized its internal project management mechanisms,
implemented new plans, and adopted more effective project management
strategies to enhance customer satisfaction and loyalty, further consolidating
cooperative relationships. To enhance the competitive advantage of its CDMO
business, the Group actively consolidated internal resources during the Reporting
Period to build more diversified business capabilities. The CDMO business, driven
by Cytovance and SPL, leverages synergistic effects to improve overall business
performance. Benefiting from the collaborative efforts of both platforms, the
Group can more comprehensively allocate resources and capacity, enabling the
CDMO business to serve clients more efficiently and create more growth
momentum for the business.

INNOVATIVE DRUGS AND INNOVATION BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, the Group signed a distribution agreement with
Zhejiang Yongtai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (HT K KB B R A7) (“Yongtai
Pharmaceutical”), pursuant to which Yongtai Pharmaceutical granted the Group a
license to commercialize Gabapentin capsules in the United States. According to
such agreement, the Group will purchase Gabapentin capsules from Yongtai
Pharmaceutical at an agreed price and will be responsible for the commercialization
of Gabapentin capsules in the United States market.

At the same time, the Group’s self-operated team in the United States continued to
advance the commercialization of Fosaprepitant dimeglumine, a product under
Chia Tai Tianging Pharmaceutical Group Co. Ltd., in the United States market,
including marketing, promotion, sales, and distribution of the product.

The continuously expanding new business varieties fully reflect the Group’s
commitment to international operations and support for Chinese pharmaceutical
companies’ strategies to enter the European and American markets. The Group has
established complete self-operated teams in five countries in Europe, namely the
United Kingdom, Italy, Spain, Germany, and Poland, as well as in the United States,
with well-developed sales networks and channels. The Group is actively evaluating
drugs with significant potential and synergistic value to seek new business growth
and partnerships.
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H1710

H1710 is a candidate drug independently developed by the Group, and the Group
owns the global rights to develop and commercialize H1710. H1710 is a novel
compound that targets heparanase, a heparin-degrading enzyme. It has a suitable
chain length and a unique flexible structure, and competitively binds to heparanase
with heparan sulfate proteoglycans or heparin, making it a highly efficient and
selective heparanase inhibitor. Heparanase is overexpressed in various tumors and
is associated with tumor growth and metastasis. Studies have shown that targeting
heparanase is a new anticancer strategy of cancer treatment. The Group's
preclinical research has demonstrated that H1710 exhibits anti-tumor
pharmacological activity by inhibiting the activity and expression of heparanase.
H1710 has shown significant anti-tumor effects in various tumor animal models. In
February 2025, the Group received the Notice of Approval for Clinical Trial ( {£.%)
Fa R Bt ERANE) ) issued by the National Medical Products Administration
(NMPA) for approving the clinical trial of H1710 injection.

Oregovomab

Oregovomab, a murine monoclonal antibody, is an anti-CA125 immunotherapy
drug candidate being developed by a subsidiary of the Company, OncoQuest Inc. It
has completed a Phase Il clinical trial as a standard treatment combined with
chemotherapy in patients with advanced primary ovarian cancer. The Group has
exclusive development and commercial rights for Oregovomab in the Greater China
region. An interim analysis of Oregovomab Phase IIl clinical trial suggested that the
study did not meet its intended objectives and a patient follow-up on survival
statistics is being conducted as recommended by the Data and Safety Monitoring
Board (DSMB). The Group will actively explore options to advance the development
of new drugs for Oregovomab. One of the Group’s subsidiary, Shenzhen OncoVent
Biomedical Technology Co., Ltd., has also entered into a licensing agreement for
Oregovomab with Orient EuroPharma Co., Ltd. (a biotechnology company). The
Group will continue to explore cooperation opportunities, accelerate the strategic
layout of innovative drugs and build up diversified commercialization capabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

AR-301 (Salvecin)

AR-301 is a fully human monoclonal IgG1 antibody (mAb) that specifically targets
S. aureus alpha-toxin. It is being developed by a subsidiary of the Company, Aridis
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Aridis”). The Group has exclusive development and
commercial rights in the Greater China region. AR-301 was granted Fast Track
Designation by the United States Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA") and
Orphan Drug Designation by the European Medicines Agency (the “EMA"). The
Global Phase Il Study of Tosatoxumab (AR-301) in Combination with Antibiotics
(SOCQ) for the Treatment of Staphylococcus aureus Ventilator-associated Pneumonia
did not reach the primary study endpoint. However, the study data revealed that
Tosatoxumab significantly improves outcomes for patients over age 65 with
ventilator-associated pneumonia, and also demonstrates efficacy against
Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) infections. Based on this
finding, Aridis has discussed with and obtained guidance from the FDA and the
EMA on the design of a second Phase Ill study for the treatment of hospitalized
patients who are diagnosed with pneumonia caused by Staphylococcus aureus and
require mechanical ventilation by combining it with standard-of-care antibiotics.

RVX-208 (Apabetalone)

RVX-208 is a selective inhibitor of bromodomain and BET proteins with selectivity
for the second bromodomain. It is the first small molecule drugs being developed
by a subsidiary of the Company, Resverlogix Corp.. The Group has exclusive
development and commercial rights in the Greater China region. RVX-208 has
completed phase Il clinical trial (BETonMACE) in combination with standard-of-care
antibiotics to reduce the incidence of major adverse cardiovascular events among
high-risk cardiovascular disease patients with type Il diabetes mellitus, recent acute
coronary syndrome, and low levels of high-density lipoprotein (HDL). RVX-208 was
granted Breakthrough Therapy Designation by the FDA in February 2020 and the
clinical plan for pivotal phase Il was approved by the FDA in June 2020.
Apabetalone, the first drug in its class to receive the FDA Breakthrough Therapy
approval for a major cardiovascular indication, will further advance its drug

development progress, including planned clinical trials and the implementation of
an accelerated development strategy.
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OUTLOOK

In the current complex and rapidly changing global economic environment, the
Group continues to face significant challenges, including the impacts of trade
protectionist policies and short-term pressures on heparin industry chain pricing.
Nevertheless, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about the future and is firmly
committed to advancing its high-quality development strategy to ensure sustainable
long-term growth of the Group.

To address these challenges, the Group will further deepen its internationalization
strategy, accelerate its global presence, enhance its brand influence, and increase
market penetration to consolidate the Group’s leading position in the global
heparin industry. The Group will proactively respond to changes in policies across
various countries, carefully analyze and assess market challenges and opportunities,
and adjust marketing strategies to meet diverse market demands of different
countries and regions. Additionally, the Group is strengthening its global supply
chain system to improve coordination in raw material procurement, production,
and sales, thereby enhancing integrated competitiveness domestically and
internationally. Faced with shifting market demands, the Group will flexibly adjust
its production and operational strategies to reduce costs and bolster profitability.

In the finished dosage form business, the Group has further deepened its global
market expansion to enhance competitive advantages. The Group will continuously
optimize its marketing strategies, increase market penetration, and improve sales
share and market presence. Leveraging its global sales management system, local
marketing teams, and business partnerships, the Group showed its strength in sales
growth, and aims to proactively explore new market opportunities and strengthen
product promotion to drive sales growth. In other overseas markets, the Group will
seize market opportunities through agile market strategies, actively expanding
market share in Asia-Pacific, Latin America, and emerging countries like Argentina,
while quickly entering markets and advancing sales through cooperation with local
pharmaceutical enterprises. Despite tariff and pricing pressures in certain markets,
the Group will improve pricing flexibility and competitiveness through optimized
cost management and pricing strategies, adapting swiftly to market changes.

In its API business, the Group will maintain a strategic focus. Based on industry
trends and market demand analysis, the Group acknowledges that there is
sufficient overall API supply, with prices stabilizing at lower levels and customers
adopting a cautious approach. However, with a recovery in end-market demand
and raw material inventories bottoming out, the Group will closely monitor and
analyze market developments and trends, as well as dynamically adjust strategies to
strengthen resilience and competitiveness in the API business. Concurrently, the
Group will actively expand its client base, develop new markets, and establish
diversified sales channels. The Group remains vigilant and responsive to the rapidly
changing business environment, enhancing supply chain efficiency and collaborative
capabilities to consistently meet customer needs.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7

R
EHMEAT  2REEERSE  ARELY
BRNADREENE REEHRELE

BREE bhEFZEXBEREHEAERD
Hx -l AEEHAS %\E 48 RIFER
ERLEESEEEREXE BERAAEEER

IR A o

DB - AN B — R BIPR L SRES
MEZRMGE  RAREZED  BemH2
BER REAAGSEERTRERTOHELL
u cAKBEEEBEHEEBRNEL  FAl

DT RFFETISORB RS RETHH
EZHRE WEIRERMROTESE
o bdh REBE BB MNE 2R HEERE
o RAARFRE LEMEESHE - =8
RNHIMERBF S - METE LT IHEER

FEBSEERABRLEEREERE BESE
B IR AFIGE S
BB R AKREE - T RILEHETS

R RABRFEY AEERFEELEH
REE - RAMIHZER  REHEOBERTS
EEX - ARERBREDREEEERR &
WEHERRAERH  RERAHERS

THREF TSRS - NRERNTISER
HBHEER - EEMBIITSEIE  AEE
REMTHISHE  BAEETSRE  HEH
B A T XM RERKMAAREN T
S0 BEMBEMCEETAEREK  RE
AT K S E - 8 2K (8 Bl 5 E R 7
BEEREN  AERFBEBE{LKEER
LREBERE RREEEEUERZRFN  AE
FETISIRFE AL -

M%%yﬁilﬁﬁ%ﬁWEﬁvﬁﬁﬂg
TEEDRBERTISER  AEERBAPIT
EI%VERE'E%WEWFﬁﬁﬁ%&’
BB 2IEEER - Am - BERIKEMSEK
WEARRMBETHE ASEEHH@
ERDTTISE R RES - BIEHERE - N
BAPIEBEMMBE S - RHRITEF M
MG BEHAENES BUEZTHESR
B AKEBRYBEIREEENEERE
WRAEEBEHT SRR - RA L EEN
EMBIEREE ] - WRERBERFHER -



Management Discussion and Analysis

The CDMO business will continue to support dual-platform development through
Cytovance and SPL, integrating production capacity and coordinating project
timelines to better fulfill customer demands, increase retention rates, and scale
overall business growth. The Group will further enhance market development and
customer relationship management, boosting penetration in CDMO business and
accurately identifying both current and potential customer needs. Additionally, the
Group will improve production and managerial efficiency, enhance internal
management, optimize project workflows, and elevate operational effectiveness,
ensuring long-term development of the CDMO business. Ongoing technological
advancements and strengthened R&D investment will elevate the Group’s CDMO
technical capabilities, providing high-value-added services to customers.

In the face of intense market competition, the Group will continue to strengthen
meticulous management, optimize organizational structures, and establish a flat,
efficient corporate framework to comprehensively boost operational efficiency and
profitability. The Group will continuously improve process management, enhance
decision-making efficiency, and swiftly adapt to market changes. Additionally, the
Group will increase management precision, optimize resource allocation, and
effectively manage human resources, capital, and production capacities, thereby
fortifying and enhancing its financial strength. The Group firmly believes that,
through the collective efforts of its employees, the Group will continue to generate
significant value, delivering fruitful results to shareholders, customers, and society,
and embracing an even brighter future.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Bt %5 12 8

WA

For the year ended December 31,
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Year-on-year

2024 2024 2023 2023 increase/
Sales % of Sales % of decrease
amount Revenue amount Revenue (%)
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RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR (%) ARETT (%) (%)
Sale of goods HEER 4,157,537 79.0% 4,415,058 81.3% (5.8%)
Finished dose pharmaceutical products ) S| 2,986,129 56.8% 2,979,030 54.9% 0.2%
API API 1,065,692 20.2% 1,307,343 24.1% (18.5%)
Others" Hip 105,716 2.0% 128,685 2.4% (17.8%)
CDMO services CDMORR 7% 1,033,790 19.7% 966,952 17.8% 6.9%
Others? Hmpo 67,592 1.3% 48,964 0.9% 38.0%
Total &t 5,258,919 100.0% 5,430,974 100.0% (3.2%)

Revenue from manufacturing and sales of goods decreased by approximately
RMB257.6 million to approximately RMB4,157.5 million, accounting for
approximately 79.0% of the total revenue during the Reporting Period, as
compared with approximately RMB4,415.1 million or accounting for approximately
81.3% of the Group’s revenue in 2023. The decrease in revenue from
manufacturing and sales of goods was mainly due to the year-on-year decrease in
sales revenue of APl during the Reporting Period.

Cost of sales

During the Reporting Period, cost of sales decreased by approximately RMB970.5
million to approximately RMB3,519.6 million, as compared with approximately
RMB4,490.1 million in 2023. The cost of sales decreased mainly due to (i) the
transfer of inventory costs for which inventory write-down provisions were made
which offsetted the inventory costs, and (ii) the reduction in inventory write-down
provisions for APIs during the Reporting Period.
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== & = N
EEE”=uﬁ Eﬂ ﬂ?
Gross Profit ER
For the year ended December 31,
BE+=-A=+—-HLEFE

2024 2023

2024 Gross profit 2023 Gross profit

Gross profit margin Gross profit margin

—E_E —E-ME TEC=fF —E-=F

EX EF =R EH EF=E

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T (%) ARBTT (%)

Sale of goods HEEM 1,357,356 32.6% 693,525 15.7%

Finished dose pharmaceutical products R 21| 950,329 31.8% 1,284,627 43.1%

API API 411,058 38.6% (560,161) (42.8%)

Others™ H Ao (4,031) (3.8%) (30,941) (24.0%)

CDMO services CDMORR 340,298 32.9% 213,036 22.0%

Others®? H@ 41,660 61.6% 34,335 70.1%

Total a5t 1,739,314 33.1% 940,896 17.3%
Notes: Bt 5

(1

Other products mainly include Pancreatin API.

)

Other business mainly includes manufacture and marketing services, processing services,
technical support services and other services.

During the Reporting Period, gross profit increased by approximately RMB798.4
million to approximately RMB1,739.3 million, as compared with approximately
RMB940.9 million in 2023. During the Reporting Period, gross profit margin
increased by approximately 15.8 percentage points to approximately 33.1%, as
compared with approximately 17.3% in 2023. The increase in gross profit margin
was mainly due to (i) the reversal of inventory costs for which the provision for
inventory write-down was made in 2023 which reduced inventory costs, and (ii) the
decrease in the provision for inventory write-down made for APl during the
Reporting Period. The costs of sales included the amount of inventory impairment
loss. In 2024, the impairment amount provided by the Group was only
approximately RMB7.6 million, while the amount provided by the Group in 2023
was approximately RMB855.4 million, which led to a significant increase in costs of
sales in 2023.

The cost of sales included the inventory impairment provision of approximately
RMB 7.6 million (2023: approximately RMB855.4 million). Excluding such amount,
the adjusted gross profit in 2024 was approximately RMB1,746.9 million (2023:
approximately RMB1,796.3 million) and the adjusted gross profit margin was
slightly increased to approximately 33.2% (2023: approximately 33.1%).

e

(1) EfEmEZBEREEAP -
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FINANCE COSTS

The Group's finance costs mainly consist of interest on bank borrowings and
corporate bonds and other finance costs. During the Reporting Period, finance
costs decreased by approximately RMB82.9 million to approximately RMB145.2
million, as compared with approximately RMB228.1 million in 2023, representing a
decrease of approximately 36.3%. The decrease in finance costs was mainly due to
a decrease in interest on corporate bonds and bank borrowings as compared with
2023.

TAXATION

During the Reporting Period, income tax expense was approximately RMB101.3
million, as compared with an income tax credit of approximately RMB126.2 million
in 2023.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group recognized an impairment loss of approximately RMB55.4 million on
property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets during the Reporting
Period. The Group mainly focused on the development expenditure of AR-301
injection. Based on the status of the research and development project and the
principle of prudence, a dynamic evaluation and adjustment was conducted on the
ongoing projects, estimating the recoverable amounts for projects showing signs of
impairment. In 2024, the Group engaged an independent third party appraiser to
conduct an impairment assessment on the idle fixed assets of Chengdu Sunrace
Animal Products Co., Ltd.* (K& XImEE@AERZAA), one of the Group's
subsidiaries. The estimated results of the recoverable amounts indicated that the
assets’ recoverable amounts were lower than the carrying amounts, thus the
carrying amounts of the assets were reduced to the recoverable amounts.

PROFIT/LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

During the Reporting Period, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
was approximately RMB646.7 million, as compared with loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately RMB783.3 million in 2023.
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EARNINGS/LOSS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of the Company in issue for the Reporting Period. The diluted earnings per share is
calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue for the
Reporting Period (with adjustments made for all potential dilution effect of the
ordinary shares).

For the Reporting Period, both basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per
share were RMBO0.44, as compared with both basic loss per share and diluted loss
per share of RMB0.53 in 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Treasury Policies

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain its ability
to continue to operate so that the Group can constantly provide returns for
shareholders of the Company and benefits for other stakeholders by implementing
proper product pricing and securing access to financing at reasonable costs. The
Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments by taking into consideration of the changes in economic conditions, its
future capital requirements, prevailing and expected profitability and operating
cash flows, expected capital expenditures and expected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group closely monitors its debt-to-asset ratio, which is defined
as total borrowings divided by total assets.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's liquidity remains strong. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
funds was primarily from its ordinary business. As at December 31, 2024, the
Group's cash and bank balances were approximately RMB1,421.8 million
(December 31, 2023: approximately RMB1,765.6 million).

Capital Structure

As at December 31, 2024, the Group recorded short-term loans of approximately
RMB2,367.2 million (December 31, 2023: approximately RMB3,624.6 million) and
long-term loans of approximately RMB1,081.0 million (December 31, 2023:
approximately RMB1,810.0 million).

Pledge of Assets

As at December 31, 2024, the Group's assets of approximately RMB2,922.0 million
were pledged to banks and other financial institutions to secure the credit facilities
granted to the Group (December 31, 2023: approximately RMB2,995.5 million).
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Contingent Liabilities

As at December 31, 2024, neither the Group nor the Company had material
contingent liabilities (December 31, 2023: nil).

Asset-liability Ratio

As at December 31, 2024, the Group's total assets amounted to approximately
RMB17,343.5 million (December 31, 2023: approximately RMB19,203.4 million),
whereas the total liabilities amounted to approximately RMB5,141.4 million
(December 31, 2023: approximately RMB7,215.0 million). The asset-liability ratio
(i.e., total liabilities divided by total assets) was approximately 29.6% (December
31, 2023: approximately 37.6%).

Interest Rate Risk and Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates relates to the
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings with floating interest rates. The
Group's policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate
debts. As at December 31, 2024, the Group had approximately 69.6%
interest-bearing borrowings bearing interest at fixed rates (December 31, 2023:
approximately 96.6%).

The majority of the Group’s revenue and expenses are settled in RMB, euros, and
US dollars. During the Period, the Group did not encounter any significant
difficulties or impacts on its operations or working capital due to fluctuations in
exchange rates. The Group minimizes foreign exchange risk through forward
contracts with reputable financial institutions or by using spot hedging, and does
not maintain significant long positions. However, the Group remains vigilant,
continuously monitoring foreign exchange risks and taking prudent measures as
necessary to manage any potential impacts on its financial performance and
condition.

Significant Investments Held

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not hold significant investments with a
value of 5% or more of the Company’s total assets. As at the date of this report,
the Group does not have any plan for material investments or purchase of capital
assets.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates
and Joint Ventures

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Future Plan For Material Investments or Capital Assets

As of December 31, 2024, save for the “Use of Proceeds from the H Share Listing
of the Company” section in this annual report, the Group did not have any existing
plan for acquiring other material investments or capital assets.
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Indebtedness B
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
R-ZB-WMEF RZEZ=4F
+=—A=+—8H +=—A=+—8
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETFT
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERITREMER 3,448,209 5,434,596
Lease liabilities HEBE 96,592 128,220
Total financial indebtedness S REBEE 3,544,801 5,562,816
Pledged bank deposits BB IRITIER (80) (80)
Net financial indebtedness SRERFRE 3,544,721 5,562,736

The maturity profile of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings is
set out as follows:

REEFBRITREMER 2 EFRHIN T :

As at As at

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

R=-ZT-mF R-T=—=4F

+T=ZA=t+—H +=—A=+—8

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Repayable: AR T3 HREE

Within one year or on demand —FRHIRER 2,367,161 3,624,575

After one year but within two years —FRERWEN 567,118 772,003

After two years but within five years MERERATA 335,213 642,237

After five years REF% 178,717 395,781

Total &5t 3,448,209 5,434,596
The Group’s bank borrowings as at December 31, 2024 was approximately AEFBRTEER-_E-_NE+_A=+—

RMB2,604.2 million (December 31, 2023: approximately RMB4,365.9 million). As at
December 31, 2024, the Group had no remaining corporate bond (December 31,
2023: approximately RMB512.7 million). As at December 31, 2024, the Group's
total amount of other borrowings was approximately RMB844.0 million (December
31, 2023: approximately RMB556.0 million).
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Li (Z%%), aged 61, spouse of Ms. Li Tan and brother-in-law of Mr. Shan Yu,
is the chairman of the Board, an executive Director and the founder of our
Company. Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He
is primarily responsible for the major decision-making and strategic planning of our
Group and oversees the financial and external affairs of our Group. As the chairman
of our Strategy Committee, Mr. Li spearheads our Group’s business strategies.
Mr. Li led the innovative drugs sector since 2012. Mr. Li approved our strategies in
the CDMO sector and has participated in the management of the CDMO business
since our acquisition of Cytovance in 2015.

Mr. Li founded the Company and was appointed as the chairman of the Board in
April 1998. Mr. Li has also been serving as a director of Topknow since May 2000;
a director of Feilaishi since June 2008; a director of Leren Technology since August
2007; a director of Hepalink Europe AB since February 2010; a director of Shenzhen
Techdow Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Techdow") since November 2010;
a director of Hepalink (Hong Kong) since June 2014; a director of Techdow
Pharmaceutical (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd. since May 2013; a director of Hepalink USA
INC. (“Hepalink USA") since April 2014; a director of Shenzhen Dekang
Investment Development Co., Ltd. since March 2015; a director of Shenzhen Fanpu
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. since April 2015; a director of Cytovance since October
2015; a director of OncoVent since July 2016; a director of Shenzhen Arimab
Biomedical Co., Ltd. since July 2018; and a director of HighTide (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 2511) from
October 2018 to February 2024; a director of Shenzhen Hightide Biopharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. from November 2011 to October 2020; a director of Shanghai Hightide
Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from March 2014 to October 2020; and a director of
Shenzhen Junshengkang Biotechnology Co., Ltd. from July 2015 to September
2020.

Mr. Li graduated from Chengdu University of Science and Technology (which later
became Sichuan University) in China with a bachelor of science degree in chemistry
in July 1987 and obtained the qualification of senior manager from the Vocational
Skills Identification Center in February 2005.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7

=3

BITES

FEELE 6 FHIXTHWEBRETR
EMKRK  RARRESER  HTEEREN
AN FREERBETERAR0FER - HX
ZEEAEBENBERRRREMMARE > WEE
REBNPHERIFEE - ERUKEEEE
B FREARSIBGAEENEBRE - Tk
ER-T-—FREFAGRIMELF - FEER
“E-RFHE TCOMOR B RE - WA
P EBEEEEYLS EERCODMOET °

FERERINARRER —NWNANFEOAEEZE
BEER -TRENE-ZTTTFRHABET
LZELEE GTT\FAARBEARKEA
EE AT\ ABRETRECREES:
BT —Z 9 = A EHepalink Europe AB
B 8T TF+-AREERIIWmRE
BEBERAT([RINKRENES: 5T —1
FRAREAERBERESZ BT —=F
hAREERBEBLE(BH)ARATES: 8
— =4 A #RIEEHepalink USA INC. ([
BEEER)ESE BT -—RAF=AREDR
JTEREEERERARES B =T —*A
FOAREERNTREEMEMERARE
F AT hFETRARECEEEMES
B R"FtLtAREERHESZ BT
—NFLARBEDCRIMmEYEEFRA
AESE KRBT \FTHAEZT_NF=
REEEZR(—RRBEBBMIMER LT
AREBOHARSE 251 EFE: =22 ——F
T—RAEZZE_EFTAREERNEEREYD
EiERARESE T —NF=AZ=%F
—EF T ARELEEEREYRITBR AR
E5 KRBT RAGELAEZFT_TFNA
BERINBEREYMEMBRATES -

FRER—NNELF L AEERTEAKER
BRRE(REAR/MIAE)  BEEESEL(C
BREN YR -_TTHhFE - AESRBRERRE
EEHEB)PLETHRRALLMELR



Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

Ms. Li Tan (238), aged 60, spouse of Mr. Li Li and sister of Mr. Shan Yu, is our
executive Director, a member of the Nomination Committee (appointed on March
31, 2025), co-founder and deputy general manager. Ms. Li has over 30 years of
experience in the pharmaceutical industry. She is primarily responsible for the major
decision-making of our Group and oversees the business development activities and
management of human resources of our Group. As a member of our Strategy
Committee, Ms. Li also actively participates in the formulation and implementation
of our Group’s business strategies, including our strategies in the innovative drugs
and the CDMO sectors.

Ms. Li co-founded the Company and was appointed as our Director and deputy
general manager in April 1998. Ms. Li has also been serving as a director of
Topknow since August 2007; the managing partner of Jintiantu since August 2007;
a director of Hepalink (Hong Kong) since June 2014; a director of Shenzhen
Techdow since November 2010; a director of Hepalink USA, since October 2013; a
director of SPL since August 2015 and a director of Kymab Group Limited from
November 2016 to January 2021.

Ms. Li graduated from Chengdu University of Science and Technology (which later
became Sichuan University) in China with a bachelor of science degree in chemistry
in July 1987 and obtained the qualification of senior manager from the Vocational
Skills Identification Center in February 2005.

Mr. Shan Yu (85), aged 64, brother of Ms. Li Tan and brother-in-law of Mr. Li Li,
is our executive Director, co-founder and general manager. Mr. Shan has over 30
years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He is primarily responsible for
the major decision-making of our Group and oversees the production capacity,
security, logistics and external affairs of our Group. Mr. Shan also actively
participates in the implementation of our Group’s business strategies, including our
strategies in the innovative drugs and CDMO sectors.

Mr. Shan co-founded the Company and was appointed as our Director and general
manager in April 1998. Mr. Shan has also been serving as a director of Shenzhen
Topknow Industrial Development Co., Ltd. since October 2000; a managing partner
of Shuidi Shichuan since August 2007; a director of Chengdu Sunrace Animal
Ltd. since November 2009; a director of Shenzhen Beidi Aoke
Technology Development Co., Ltd. since December 2009; a director of Shandong
Ruisheng Biotechnology Co., Ltd. since July 2010; a director of Shenzhen Pingshan
New District Hepalink Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. since July 2013; and a director of
Hepalink USA since April 2014.

Products Co.,

Mr. Shan graduated from Peking University in China with a bachelor of science
degree in applied physics in July 1982 and obtained the qualification of senior
manager from the Vocational Skills Identification Center in February 2005.
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Mr. Zhang Ping (5&kF), aged 59, is a Chinese national who graduated from
Shaanxi Radio and Television University in China in 1992 with a postgraduate
degree in English. In 1998, he graduated from Shanxi Jiaotong University in China
with a master’s degree in Industrial Management. Mr. Zhang has over 30 years of
experience in manufacturing and operations in the pharmaceutical industry.
Mr. Zhang served as the General Manager of Hangzhou Innovax Biotech Co., Ltd
from November 2021 to April 2022. He served as the Head of Industry Affairs
China at Sanofi from January 2002 to November 2021 and was responsible for
seven plants across China. He has extensive experience in technical transfer and
new product launches. Prior to that, he served as the Head of Manufacturing at
Xian Janssen Pharmaceutical Ltd. from February 1988 to February 2002.

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Lu Chuan (#)1]), aged 55, is our independent non-executive Director. Dr. Lu
joined the Company and was appointed as an independent Director in December
2019. Dr. Lu has been serving as a vice president of Xingye Alloy Material Group
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
stock code: 505) since October 2019.

Dr. Lu served as an assistant engineer of Nanjing Jinling Shipyard Company Limited
from August 1991 to August 1994. From July 1997 to August 2005, Dr. Lu worked
at Shenzhen Nonferrous Metals Finance Co., Ltd. as a research fellow of the
investment bank department. From August 2005 to November 2018, Dr. Lu worked
as a managing director assistant and deputy general manager of Yinjian
International Industrial Co., Ltd. Dr. Lu served as a director of Shenzhen
Zhonggingbao Interactive Network Co., Ltd. (A share stock code on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange: 300052) from April 2008 to April 2012, a non-executive director
of China Geothermal Industry Development Group Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 8128) from September
2008 to March 2009, a non-executive director of E-Commodities Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1733) from June 2010 to July 2016, and director of Ningxia West King Liquor
Co., Ltd. from October 2011 to February 2014.

Dr. Lu graduated from Wuhan University of Technology in China with a bachelor’s
degree in naval mechanical engineering in July 1991, graduated from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology in China with a master’s degree in business
management in May 1997 and a doctorate in management in December 2006.
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Mr. Huang Peng (&15), aged 75, is our independent non-executive Director. He
was born in 1949 and is a Chinese national. He obtained a Ph.D. in Management
from Northwestern Polytechnical University in China in 2003. He obtained a
master’s degree in Economics from Fudan University in China in 1995 and a
bachelor’s degree in Economic Management from Nanjing University in China in
1985. He is a professor of accounting. Since September 1988, he has been working
as an associate professor, professor, department head of accounting, and doctoral
supervisor of finance and taxation at Suzhou University in China, and is currently
the dean of the Institute of Entrepreneurship for New Era (3B ¥R at
Suzhou University in China. He was an independent director of Jiangsu Asian Star
Anchor Chain Co., Ltd. (SHA: 601890) from May 2022 to May 2023 and Jiangsu
Jujie Microfiber Technology Group Co., Ltd. (SHE: 300819) from July 2020 to
August 2023. He is also an independent director of the following companies listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange or the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, namely Suzhou
Wanxiang Technology Co., Ltd. (SHE: 301180) and Suzhou Kelida Building &
Decoration Co., Ltd. (SHA: 603828). Mr. Huang has obtained a qualification
certificate as an independent director recognized by the China Securities Regulatory
Commission of the PRC.

Mr. Yi Ming (5%48), aged 47, is our independent non-executive Director. He was
born in 1977 and is a Chinese national. He obtained a Master’s degree in Finance
from ISMA Centre, Henley Business School, University of Reading in the United
Kingdom in July 2002 and an EMBA master’s degree from Guanghua School of
Management, Peking University in China in June 2014. He served as Senior
Manager of the Investment Banking Department and General Manager of the
Investment Department of China Cinda (Hong Kong) Asset Management Company
from March 2003 to December 2012. He was the Managing Partner of Zeal (Asia)
Asset Management Company from June 2013 to June 2018. He is the Chief
Financial Officer of Asia Pacific Aviation Leasing Group Ltd. from October 2018 to
the present.

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Zheng Zehui (#5£}%), aged 55, is the chairman of our Supervisory Committee.
Mr. Zheng has also been serving as the general manager of URIT Medical Electronic
Sales Co., Ltd. from October 2006 to June 2021. Mr. Zheng graduated from Wuhan
University in China with a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry in July 1992 and
graduated from China Europe International Business School in China with a
master’s degree in business administration in October 2011.

Ms. Tang Haijun (E%19), aged 46, is a Supervisor and the manager of the GXP
document control department of our Company. Ms. Tang joined the Company in
February 2001 and was appointed as our Supervisor in December 2007.

Ms. Tang graduated from Sun Yat-sen University in China with a bachelor’s degree
in administrative management in July 2014,

Ms. Su Jilan (#:42#), aged 45, is an employee Supervisor of our Company. Ms. Su
joined the Company in February 2004 and was appointed as our employee
Supervisor in December 2007. Ms. Su served as the deputy manager of the quality
inspection department of our Company from April 2014 to June 2021. She has
been the Inspection Module Manager of our Quality Control Department since June
2021.

Ms. Su graduated from Xi‘an Jiaotong University in China with a bachelor of
science degree in pharmacy in July 2001. Ms. Su obtained the qualification of
assistant engineer from the Department of Human Resources of Shaanxi Province in
August 2002.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shan Yu (85), aged 64, is our executive Director and general manager. For
the biography of Mr. Shan, please refer to “— Directors — Executive Directors” of
this section.

Ms. Li Tan (Z18), aged 60, is our executive Director, a member of the Nomination
Committee (appointed on March 31, 2025), co-founder and deputy general
manager. For the biography of Ms. Li, please refer to “— Directors — Executive
Directors” of this section.

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors, Supervisors and members of senior
management is related to other Directors, Supervisors and members of the senior
management.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Qian Fengqi ((&.3), aged 39, the Secretary to the Board and one of the
joint company secretaries of the Company, is experienced in capital market research
and investment matters, in particular in the healthcare industry in the PRC.
Mr. Qian served as a research analyst at Bosera Fund Management from July 2008
to March 2010, a senior research analyst at Goldman Sachs Group (China) from
August 2010 to August 2013, and a fund manager of Norges Bank, which manages
the assets of the sovereign wealth fund of Norway, from September 2013 to April
2016, each with a focus on investments in listed securities of PRC-based healthcare
companies. Mr. Qian also served as a managing director of Lingfeng Capital
Management Co., Ltd. ({RREAREIEHERAA]), a private equity fund with a focus
on the fintech sector in the PRC, from January 2017 to August 2019 and from
November 2020 to August 2021, and the head of Strategic Investment Department
of We Doctor Group (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd. ({2 & E(#)I)BFR A7), a digital medical
service provider in the PRC, from August 2019 to November 2020. Mr. Qian
graduated from Fudan University with a bachelor of economics (specialising in
finance) degree in July 2008. Mr. Qian obtained the board secretary certificate
granted by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in September 2021.

Ms. Chan Sze Ting (Ff&5#2) is a Joint Company Secretary. Ms. Chan currently
serves as a director of Company Secretarial Services of Tricor Services Limited, a
member of Vistra Group. Ms. Chan has over 19 years of experience in the corporate
secretarial field. She has been providing professional corporate services to multiple
Hong Kong listed companies. Ms. Chan is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered
Governance Professional and a Fellow of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor of laws degree from the University of London.
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The Board presents this annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a joint stock limited company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC, the predecessor of which, Shenzhen Hepalink Industrial Development
Company Limited (I8 LR E ¥ EE B R A A]), was established under the laws
of the PRC on April 21, 1998. The Company completed its initial public offering
and listing of its A Shares on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002399)
on May 6, 2010. The Company completed its initial public offering and listing of its
H Shares on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, (stock code: HK
9989) on July 8, 2020 (the “Listing Date”). The Group is a leading China-based
pharmaceutical company with global pharmaceutical, innovative biotech and
CDMO businesses.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are shown
under note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group's
revenue and operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2024 by principal
activities is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report and note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business during the year ended December 31, 2024, which
includes a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, an
analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators,
particulars of important events affecting the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2024, and an indication of likely future developments in the Group'’s
business, could be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,

“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” in
this annual report. The review and discussion form part of this Directors’ report. An
account of the Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers,
suppliers and others that have a significant impact on the Company is set out in the
environmental, social and governance report of the Company for the Reporting
Period to be published in due course.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out
on pages 85 to 86 of this annual report.

The Board proposed the distribution of a final cash dividend of RMB2.5 (tax
inclusive) per ten ordinary shares of the Company (2023: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 5 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 171 to 172 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection and has
not noted any material in compliance with all relevant laws and regulations in
relation to its business including environmental protection, health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment.

The Group has established detailed internal rules regarding environmental
protection, in particular, the discharge of air, water and solid waste and noise
control. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not incur any additional
costs specifically attributable to environmental compliance.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance will be
disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the Reporting Period to be published at the same time as the annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 208
of this annual report.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7

XBERRE
REERREHANNEEZGEEEIRAT
fE¥R4E 5852861 ©

EXZeRR RN ARPREREGTRARAE
BERARB25T (ER) (ZF_=F: &) -

BB E
AREBEEANREEEHEOES  AE
REEHBERNATERE FSH

ME- -BRERZE
AEBMRBERANNODE BERERESEF
BEAREEREF 171 E12ENEE TR
FHIEE15 ©

REBERERE
AEERMBROEB U - L E IR
38 R A R A B 0k R (B
R RERRZ - TIESHHN - BERER)
BB -

AEEEHERARR (FRIRZER - KME R
B ¥ ) B U B MR FR b)) e R AR BB AR Y o
BE_T_MFE+_A=+—HILFE - &M
W AR B E R T A M E AT EBEIMNKA -

EMARERAREREABH RS  BEAL
T FBE TR R RS R R RE
SRR R -

fi% Z<
ARNRRREHANBR RS FBRNREEE
5 E208H MR A B 5 KR MI 5535 -




RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the current
and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 89 to 90 of this annual report. Details of the movement in the reserves of
the Company during the Reporting Period is set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 209 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2024, the Company's distributable reserves, calculated in
accordance with PRC rules and regulation, were RMB793.9 million.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) during the
Reporting Period. As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not hold any
treasury shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association, or
the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE H SHARE LISTING OF
THE COMPANY

The H shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on July 8, 2020 (the “Listing Date"”), and the Company obtained
net proceeds from such H shares offering (the “Net Proceeds”) of RMB3,538.4
million. According to the plan on use of Net Proceeds as set out in the prospectus
dated June 24, 2020 of the Company (the “Prospectus”), approximately 30% of
the Net Proceeds (or approximately RMB1,061.5 million) is intended to be used for
improving capital structure and repaying the existing debt; approximately 30% of
the Net Proceeds (or approximately RMB1,061.5 million) is intended to be used for
expansion of the sales and marketing network and infrastructure in the European
Union and other global markets, such as the PRC; approximately 20% of the Net
Proceeds (or approximately RMB707.7 million) is intended to be used for expanding
our development and manufacturing capacity and broadening our product and
services offering of Cytovance; and approximately 20% of the Net Proceeds (or
approximately RMB707.7 million) is intended to be used for investment in

innovative drugs.
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As disclosed in the announcement (the “Announcement”) of the Company dated
November 20, 2023, the remaining balance of unutilized Net Proceeds amounted
to RMB861.9 million, and the Group announced a change in use of Net Proceeds,
under which part of the unutilized balance of the Net Proceeds will be utilized in
accordance with among others, the business needs of the Group and the market
conditions, which has been approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on December 15, 2023. As at
December 31, 2024, the unutilized Net Proceeds amounted to RMB293.8 million.
Details are set out in the following table:

BUOARRARAR T -_=F+—A-+AHK
NE([ZAE]DPIRE - REMAETIRFER
MR RARKE1IBET MAKEEMHE
BB RIFENAE - Bt R(AHERE)
AEEWEBRERTRMB B AN RSB
ISR ENBRE  YERERARRTR
EC=F+-_ATHEHAFRNBRBREARE L
BRBARABRRYE - BE_T_NF+_A
=t+—H8  RBAMBHREFERARK293.8
BET H#BHRTX:

Unutilized Net
Proceeds as at
December 31,

Utilized for
the year ended
December 31,

Unutilized Net
Proceeds as at
December 31,

Business objectives 2023 2024 2024
R-ZE_-_WMF
R=-FZ-=F H#HE-ZT-WIFE +=ZA=t-—H
+=—H=+-—AH +=—HA=+-—H REBAFRB
¥KEBE KREYARIE TR LtEEEEHA I
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)
(ANREBBET) (ANREBBET) (ANREBBET)
(1) Improving capital structure and (1) REEXEER = = =
repaying the existing debt BERBER
(2) Expansion of the sales and (2) ERERHEMEIR 482.2 304.9 177.3
marketing network and % () R E
infrastructure in the European HE R AL
Union and other global markets, AR ERERE X
such as the PRC; in expanding FERERAR
production scale and organization, BEINEEEBRD
increasing procurement and KB LFHE
reserves of production resources
(3) Expanding our development and (3) BAKRMAOMAER 92.1 55.6 36.5
manufacturing capacity and HERES WX
broadening our product and MR EEEY
services offering of Cytovance RENE®RRE
(4) Investment in innovative drugs (4) BIFTEERIRE 80.0 = 80.0
(5) General working capital of the (5) RAFIH—REE 50.0 50.0 -
Company or, subject to permission BEad (ERBUEEZE
under the PRC laws and regulations, EHATHERT)
the balance to be placed with PRC i 45 88 TFE AR & Rl
financial institutions as short-term BB RS BER
deposits
Total: 4Bt 704.3 410.5 293.8
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As at December 31, 2024, an accumulative amount of approximately RMB1,034.4
million had been used by the Company to improve capital structure and repay the
existing debt; an accumulative amount of approximately RMB836.5 million had
been used to expand its sales and marketing network and infrastructure in the
European Union and other global markets such as the PRC, and in expanding
production scale and organization, increasing procurement and reserves of
production resources; an accumulative amount of approximately RMB275.2 million
had been used to enhance its development and production capabilities and to
expand its product and service offerings to Cytovance; an accumulative amount of
approximately RMB90.3 million had been used for investments in innovative drugs;
an accumulative amount of approximately RMB1,008.3 million had been used for
general working capital of the Company; and the remaining unutilized Net
Proceeds of approximately RMB293.8 million were deposited with licensed financial
institutions as deposits. The Group expects to fully utilize the remaining Net
Proceeds on or before November 30, 2025.

The expected timeline for utilization of the unutilized net proceeds above is based
on the Group's best estimation and is subject to change based on the future
development of market conditions.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Directors’
Report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Li (Chairman)

Ms. Li Tan (Deputy General Manager)
Mr. Shan Yu (General Manager)
Mr. Zhang Ping

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Lu Chuan

Mr. Huang Peng
Mr. Yi Ming

SUPERVISORS

The Supervisors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Directors’
Report are as follows:

Mr. Zheng Zehui (Chairman)
Ms. Tang Haijun
Ms. Su Jilan (Employee Supervisor)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS, THE
SUPERVISORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors, the Supervisors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 24 to 28 in the
section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS'’
INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other information is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Mr. Li Li, Ms. Li Tan and Mr. Shan Yu, as executive Directors, each renewed their
respective service contract with the Company for a term of three years starting
from May 22, 2023. Mr. Zhang Ping was appointed as an executive Director on
May 22, 2023 and entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of
three years starting from May 22, 2023.

Dr. Lu Chuan, as an independent non-executive Director, renewed the service
contract with the Company for a term of three years starting from May 22, 2023.

Each of Mr. Huang Peng and Mr. Yi Ming was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on May 22, 2023 and entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years starting from May 22, 2023 respectively.

Mr. Zheng Zehui, Ms. Tang Haijun and Ms. Su Jilan, as Supervisors, each renewed
their respective service contract with the Company for a term of three years starting
from May 22, 2023.

The appointments of the Directors and Supervisors are subject to the re-election
upon expiry of their term of office according to the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (excluding contracts
expiring or determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation).

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period or subsisted at December 31, 2024 and no contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a
Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the
Reporting Period or subsisted at December 31, 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to the business of the
Group which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director/Supervisor or any entity connected with such a Director/Supervisor had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at December 31, 2024 or
at any time during the Reporting Period.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of Directors, Supervisors and senior management is determined
with reference to factors including the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management, employment conditions of other positions in our Company and the
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 162 to 165 of this annual report.

For the Reporting Period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director,
Supervisors or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors
or Supervisors has waived any emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are payable, for
the year ended December 31, 2024, by our Group to or on behalf of any of the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, none of the
Directors and Supervisors or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a
Director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any other
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.
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NON-COMPETITION ARRANGEMENTS

Each of the Controlling Shareholders provided certain non-competition
undertakings in favor of the Company. Details of the non-competition agreements
are set out in the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders
— Competition” in the Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders confirmed that they have complied with the non-
competition undertakings for the Reporting Period. The independent non-executive
Directors have conducted such review for the Reporting Period and also reviewed
the relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the non-competition undertakings
have been fully complied with.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ and Supervisors’ service contracts and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at December 31, 2024 or at any time during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the Reporting
Period.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan or provided any
guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company, the controlling shareholders of the Company (if any)
or their respective connected persons.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

The valid share incentive schemes of the Group as of the date of this report are as

follows.

Share Incentive Scheme Il (“Scheme 11”) and the Share
Incentive Scheme llI

The Company adopted the Share Incentive Scheme Il (“Scheme I1”) and the Share
Incentive Scheme Il (“Scheme Ill”, and together with Scheme I, the “Schemes”)
in November 2016 and December 2018, respectively. The following is a summary of

the principal terms of the Schemes:

(a)

(b)

Purpose

The purpose of the Schemes is to promote the success and enhance the value
of the Company by linking the personal interests of the employees to those
of the Shareholders. It is intended to provide flexibility to the Company in its
ability to motivate, attract and retain the services of the employees upon
whose judgment, interest and special effort the successful conduct of the
Company’s operation is largely dependent.

Scope of Participants

The participants of Scheme Il are the Directors (excluding the independent
Directors and external Directors), Supervisors (excluding the external
supervisors), senior management and core staff members of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The participants of Scheme Il are employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries (excluding the Directors, Supervisors and senior management).
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(d)

(e)
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Term of the Schemes

Scheme Il was effective for an initial period of 36 months from December 12,
2016 to December 11, 2019. Scheme lll is effective for a period of 24 months
from December 28, 2018 to December 27, 2020. Within two months prior to
the expiration of the respective term of each Scheme, with the approval of
more than two-thirds of the votes of holders of the interests under relevant
Scheme (the “Holders”), who attend the Holders’ meeting, and subject to
the approval of the Board, the term of the relevant Schemes may be
extended, provided that each extension shall not exceed 12 months. Each
Scheme may be terminated upon expiry of the respective lock-up period as
detailed below when all the assets underlying such Scheme become monetary
assets. On December 6, 2019, the Company, with the Board's approval,
extended the term of Scheme Il for 12 months, up to December 11, 2020.
On December 4, 2020, the Company, with the Board’s approval, further
extended the term of Scheme Il for 12 months, up to December 11, 2021,
and extended the term of Scheme Ill for 12 months, up to December 27,
2021. Accordingly, as at the date of this report, there is no further shares
available for grant under each of the Schemes. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, there was also no grant of Shares under the Schemes.

Source of Shares under the Schemes

The Shares underlying the Schemes shall be A Shares purchased from the
secondary market through bidding, block trade, share transfer or other
methods in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

Maximum Number of Shares

All the Shares underlying Scheme Il had been purchased as of March 9, 2017.
As of the date of this report, the total number of Shares underlying Scheme
Ilis 15,118,035 A Shares, accounting for approximately 1.03% of the total
outstanding share capital of the Company.

All the Shares underlying Scheme Il had been purchased as of February 1,
2019. The total number of Shares underlying Scheme Il is 3,886,264 A
Shares, accounting for approximately 0.26% of the total outstanding share
capital of the Company as of the date of this report.

The maximum number of Shares to be granted to an employee under each
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the total outstanding share capital of the
Company.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7

(c)

(d)

(e)

i1 IR R
Eo-HEE = —A"F+=ZA+=
AEE-_T—-—NF+=A+—HIL &
RBMEA3EA - E=HtEE =%
—NE+_A=Z+tN\HEBE-Z-FF
TZAZT LRI BEREHA24ER -
FEHESEHRERARMEARN - &H
ERAEATENEETERBEA(EE
AD =92 Z A B ERRIE N
RGBSR AR BBETEHRAT T
E HEIERHTEBBI12EA -
EEMP RN BEEIK AR

BER FEE TN EEBRE
MBI -R—E—hhE+=-AKE -
KEEGIE  ARRKE B 8IE
RNR2@AA BEEZ 7_7¢+ A+—
H-R=ZZ_ZTF+-_AMA KLE=Z
S AR A E M EIE— T

ENR@EA BEE-_TE-_—F+=-_A+—
H WHE=ZMHETERI2ER BZE
—ZE—F+ZA=+tB-BAlt R
RREAH  SraBEnitE — 2%
ERORG RBEE-_ZT-_MNFE+=A
=t+—ALFER  THEREFTER
R o

T EIH IR 17 FKIR

HEFSRORDEABBEERS -
ARX S ROBERALMH S EF
SERERM R RIS E MAR -

5%%&%%5

HE_ZT—+F=ANB  F_H:t3
%&&%%ﬁk ﬁaﬁﬁﬁ°§§$
HE B £ MM RH D&

2515,1 18,035H><AH>< CHUEAR AR B R
ITRR AR BEEA1.03% ©

HE-_ZT—HhF=-F—8 F=H:t2
TS REMBERDEBERE - £ =4
FTEI P & B AR 17 48 15 3,886,264%A
B QAR B EEARRE B S BT
IR B FEH10.26% °

RIEZXBEFERETEENZRSROEK
TREBAAAREHETEANAREDN
1% °



(7)

(9)

(h)

Administration of the Schemes

The Holders’ meeting is the highest management authority of the Schemes.
A management committee has been set up to oversee the daily management
of respective Scheme.

For Scheme I, the management committee has appointed Guolian Securities
Co., Ltd. to establish a single customer assets management plan. Guolian
Securities Co., Ltd. is responsible for the management of the assets
underlying Scheme I, including purchasing and holding the Shares and cash
under Scheme II.

For Scheme Ill, the management committee has appointed CMS Asset
Management Co., Ltd. to establish a single customer assets management
plan. CMS Asset Management Co., Ltd. is responsible for the management
of the assets underlying Scheme IlI, including purchasing and holding the
Shares and cash under Scheme III.

Source of Funds to be Used to Purchase the Shares
under the Schemes

The source of funds for the Schemes consists of (i) the funds raised by the
participants and (ii) loans provided by the Controlling Shareholders.

The maximum amount of the funds to be raised for Scheme Il and Scheme IlI
shall not exceed RMB400 million and RMB87 million, respectively. The
Holders shall pay the subscription amount before the establishment of the
relevant single customer asset management plan.

The purchase price of each Share granted under the Scheme was RMB20.34
representing the average cost per Share acquired from the secondary market
for the purposes of the Schemes.

Lock-up Period

The first lock-up period lasted until March 10, 2018. The Shares underlying
Scheme Il are not subject to lock-up and have been fully unlocked on June
11, 2019. As of the date of this report, 15,118,035 A Shares remain unsold.

The lock-up period for the Shares underlying Scheme Ill is from February 2,
2019 to February 1, 2020, being a period of 12 months commencing from
the date of publication of the announcement in respect of the transfer of the
last batch of Shares to the relevant single customer asset management plan.
As at the date of this report, 3,886,264 Shares remain unsold.

There is no vesting period in relation to Shares granted under the Schemes.
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(i) Rights of the Holders

The Holders of each Scheme are entitled to the following rights:

(M

to share the interests of the assets underlying the Scheme in proportion
to his holding in the Scheme;

to attend the general meeting of Holders in person or by proxy, and to
exercise the corresponding voting rights;

to supervise the administration of the Scheme, and to make
suggestions or inquiries as applicable;

to waive the voting rights attached to the underlying Shares of the
Company he holds indirectly through the Scheme; and

to exercise other rights stipulated by laws, administrative regulations,
or the terms of the Scheme.

(j) Obligations of the Holders

The Holders of each Scheme have the following obligations:

(M

to assume the risks associated with the Scheme in proportion to his
holding in the Scheme;

to comply with the provisions of the Rules Governing Employee Share
Scheme;

not to request the Company to distribute the assets underlying the
Scheme during the term of the Scheme; and

to assume the obligations provided by applicable laws, administrative
regulations and other obligations stipulated under the terms of the
Scheme.

(k) Transfer of Holders’ Interests

During the term of the respective Scheme, no Holder shall in any way

transfer, withdraw, charge or mortgage his holding interests in the Scheme

or use such interests to guarantee or repay debts except for unusual

circumstances as provided under the terms of the relevant Scheme.
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Distribution of Interests under the Schemes

Upon the expiry of the respective lock-up period of each Scheme, the
liquidation of the Schemes shall be completed within fifteen business days
upon the sale of all the Shares underlying the Schemes. The proceeds from
the sale of all the Shares underlying the Schemes shall be distributed in the
following order:

(1) to repay the loans provided by the Shareholders for the Schemes and
the associated interests;

(2)  to repay the funds contributed by the employee and the associated
return based on the performance of the employee in accordance with

the terms of the Schemes; and

(3)  the remaining proceeds (if any) shall be distributed among the Holders

in proportion to their interest in the Schemes.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2024, interests or short positions of Directors, Supervisors and
chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which are registered in the register that the Company must keep in

accordance with the section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance; or which

shall be separately notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the

follows:

“Model Code”), are as

Interests of Directors in the Shares or Underlying Shares of

the Company

Number and class
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Approximate
Percentage of
shareholding
in the relevant

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

of Shares class of the total Shares
Name of Director Nature of Interest interested in Shares** in issue***
HEERERWN HEEER HEBITRAG
RHBEA BR 17 B9 48 49 BE LD
BEEHE Rty R BRE D BEREDH***
Mr. Li Li®” Interest in a controlled corporation; 922,391,179 Shares 73.96%(L)* 62.86%(L)*
interest of a spouse A Shares(L)*
PO R AERER  IREER 922,391,1798% 73.96%(L)* 62.86%(L)*
AR(L)*
Ms. Li Tan® Interest in a controlled corporation; 922,391,179 Shares 73.96%(L)* 62.86%(L)*
interest of a spouse A Shares(L)*
FEZL O AR R RBER 922,391,1798% 73.96%(L)* 62.86%(L)*
ARR(L)*
Mr. Shan Yu® Interest in a controlled corporation; 52,302,892 Shares 4.19%(L)* 3.56%(L)*
beneficial owner A Shares(L)*
BEFEE L TEERED  BEnBEAA 52,302,892 % 4.19%(L)* 3.56%(L)*

ARZ(L)*
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Notes:

* “L" means holding a long position in Shares.

xx Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant class of Shares involved divided by the
number of Shares in issue of the relevant class of Shares of the Company as at the December
31, 2024.

**%  Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant class of Shares involved divided by the
number of all Shares in issue of the Company as at the December 31, 2024.

(1) These Shares include: (i) 474,029,899 A Shares held by Shenzhen Leren Technology Co., Ltd.
("Leren Technology”); (ii) 408,041,280 A Shares held by Xiamen Jintiantu Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Jintiantu”); and (iii) 40,320,000 A Shares held by Xiamen
Feilashi Investment Co., Ltd. (“Feilashi”).

For Leren Technology’s issued share capital, Mr. Li Li holds 99% and Ms. Li Tan holds 1%; for
Jintiantu’s issued share capital, Mr. Li Li holds 1% (as a limited partner) and Ms. Li Tan holds
99% as a general partner; and Feilaishi is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Li Li. Since Leren
Technology, Jintiantu and Feilaishi beneficially own a total of 922,391,179 A Shares in the
Company, and Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan are spouses, Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan are deemed to be
interested in 922,391,179 A Shares beneficially held by Leren Technology, Jintiantu and
Feilaishi according to Part XV of the SFO.

(2) Mr. Shan Yu holds 99% of equity interests in Xiamen Shuidi Shichuan Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (“Shuidi Shichuan”). Thus, he is deemed to be interested in 46,425,600
A Shares held by Shuidi Shichuan. In addition, Mr. Shan also participated in Scheme Il and has
a 38.88% interest in 15,118,035 A Shares held by the asset manager for the benefit of the
participants of the Scheme II.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as at the December 31,
2024, none of our Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of the Company has
any interest and/or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or our associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which will be required,
pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

_x_.. \\\
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FTERREAEXQ ARG R IEEE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES AND RO HEZRE XA

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors or chief executive of the Company are aware, as at
December 31, 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) had interests and/or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which are required to be notified to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or had interests or short positions in 5% or

HREEREARBALIETBRAERT RZF
“HE+ZA=+—8 " TIHAL(XRRAE
ENRTEBITHRABRIN R R HEERO S
BERARBCGEFMBERI)EXVHBE2RF
3N IMEAMEARNRNBEE R IKE
HIRBCE 7 LB R F336GARB AT
ENELMALEZ &R BRN5%HIA LM

WA RAR

more of the respective type of Shares which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO: 5% or more of the
respective type of Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Number and class

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the relevant

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

of Shares class of the total Shares

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest interested in shares** in issue***
BEREEN 1L E BRI HEBRTRG

KROBEHE BR 17 B B 49 BEHED

REMSE EEMEE REH BRE D BRE D **

Leren Technology™®

Beneficial owner

474,029,899 Shares
A Shares(L)*

38.01%(L)* 32.31%(L)*

L RFRO@ EmEAA 474,029,899f% 38.01%(L)* 32.31%(L)*
ARR(L)*

Jintiantu®™ Beneficial owner 408,041,280 Shares 32.72%(L)* 27.81%(L)*
A Shares(L)*

EHLO EmEEA 408,041,280% 32.72%(L)* 27.81%(L)*

AVICT Global Holdings Limited®

AVICT Global Holdings Limited®

Morgan Stanley Investments (UK)®

Morgan Stanley Investments (UK)®

Beneficial owner

BHEBEAA

Interest in controlled

corporation
REEE RS

AR(L)*

12,629,500 Shares
H Shares(L)*

12,629,5000%
HAZ(L)*

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,400%
HA(L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,000%
HRA%(S)*
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5.74%(L)* 0.86%(L)*

5.74%(L)* 0.86%(L)*

17.36%(L)* 2.60%(L)*

17.36%(L)* 2.60%(L)*
0.04%(S)* 0.01%(S)*

0.04%(S)* 0.01%(S)*



Name of Shareholder

BRI S

Nature of Interest

ERME

Number and class
of Shares
interested in
EEREEN
g ¢=|

&Yl
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the relevant
class of
shares**
hAEEE R

R 43 #9 BE 40
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the total Shares
in issue***
HEBTRS
BN
BRE DL

Morgan Stanley International Limited®

Morgan Stanley International Limited®

Morgan Stanley International

Holdings Inc.®

Morgan Stanley International

Holdings Inc.®

Morgan Stanley & Co.
International plc®
Morgan Stanley & Co.
International plc®

Interest in controlled
corporation
ZEEEER

Interest in controlled
corporation
AR ER

Underwriter

BIHA

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,4000%
HAR(L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,000%
HA(S)*

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,400%
HA(L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,000f%
HAR(S)*

38,215,400 Shares
H Shares(L)*
38,215,400/%
HA(L)*
100,000 Shares
H Shares(S)*
100,000f%
HA(S)*

17.36%(L)*

17.36%(L)*

0.04%(S)*

0.04%(S)*

17.36%(L)*

17.36%(L)*

0.04%(S)*

0.04%(S)*

17.36%(L)*

17.36%(L)*

0.04%(S)*

0.04%(S)*

2.60%(L)*

2.60%(L)*

0.01%(S)*

0.01%(S)*

2.60%(L)*

2.60%(L)*

0.01%(S)*

0.01%(S)*

2.60%(L)*

2.60%(L)*

0.01%(S)*

0.01%(S)*
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“L" means holding a long position in Shares; “S” means holding a short position in Shares.

Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant class of Shares involved divided by the
number of Shares in issue of the relevant class of Shares of the Company as at the December
31, 2024.

Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant class of Shares involved divided by the
number of all Shares in issue of the Company as at the December 31, 2024.

The above-mentioned interests of Leren Technology and Jintiantu have been disclosed as the
respective interests of Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan in the section “Interests and short positions of
Directors, Supervisors and chief executives in Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations” above.

Pursuant to a stock pledge repurchase agreement, Leren Technology has pledged 43,600,000
A Shares held in the Company to Guotai Junan Securities Co. Ltd. on December 19, 2019.
Such stock pledge has all been released.

AVICT Global Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Hangyuan Holdings Limited. Hangyuan
Holdings Limited is held as to 99.01% by Qingdao Zhongjian Xincheng Investment
Construction Co., Ltd., which is in turn held as to 96.77% by AVIC Trust Co., Ltd. Therefore,
each of Hangyuan Holdings Limited, Qingdao Zhongjian Xincheng Investment Construction
Co., Ltd. and AVIC Trust Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the H Shares held by AVICT
Global Holdings Limited.

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc. (“MS & Co. Intl PLC"), as an underwriter, holds a
long position in 38,215,400 H Shares (physical-settled unlisted derivative instruments) and a
short position in 100,000 H Shares issued by the Company (cash-settled unlisted derivative
instruments).

MS & Co. Intl PLC is a wholly controlled corporation of Morgan Stanley Investments (UK) (“MS
UK"), while MS UK is wholly controlled by Morgan Stanley International Limited (“MS Intl”),
and MS Intl is wholly controlled by Morgan Stanley International Holdings Inc. (“MS Intl HId").

Therefore, MS UK, MS Intl and MS Intl Hld are deemed to be interested in the H Shares held by
MS & Co. Intl PLC.

Morgan Stanley is a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: MS). It is the
parent company of MS UK, MS Intl, MS Intl HId, and MS & Co. Intl PLC, and it is deemed to be
interested in the long position in 38,215,400 H Shares and short position in 100,000 H Shares
held by MS & Co. Intl PLC.

In addition, Morgan Stanley is also a parent company of Morgan Stanley Capital Management,
LLC. (“MS CM"), Morgan Stanley Domestic Holdings, Inc. (“MS DH") and Morgan Stanley &
Co. LLC ("MS & Co. LLC"), of which MS & Co. LLC beneficially holds a long position in
750,000 H Shares of the Company. MS & Co. LLC is a wholly controlled corporation of MS DH,
and MS DH is a wholly controlled corporation of MS CM. Therefore, Morgan Stanley, MS DH
and MS CM are deemed to be interested in the H Shares held by MS & Co. LLC.

Except as disclosed in this section, as far as the Directors are aware, as at December

31, 2024, no person owned interests and short positions in the Shares and

underlying Shares which shall be disclosed in accordance with Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or interests or short positions in 5% or above of relevant class
of Shares that the Company must record in the register according to section 336 of
the SFO.
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ARRANGEMENTS FOR PURCHASE OF SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

None of the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries has entered
into any arrangement at any time from the Listing Date to the date of this report,
so that the Directors would benefit from the purchase of Shares or debt securities
(including debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the Reporting Period, the Group’s largest customer accounted for 10.63% of the
Group's total revenue. The Group's five largest customers accounted for 33.46% of
the Group's total revenue.

In the Reporting Period, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 16.33% of the
Group's total purchase. The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 34.85% of
the Group's total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest in the Group's five
largest suppliers or the Group's five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

As at the date of this annual report, the Company is not aware of any tax relief or
exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.

In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China
(P AR LB P EFTSHE) and its implementation regulations which came into
effect on January 1, 2008, the Company is required to withhold and pay enterprise
income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the non-resident enterprise
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members for H Shares when
distributing the cash dividends. Any H Shares not registered under the name of an
individual Shareholder, including HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, agents
or trustees, or other organizations or groups, shall be deemed as Shares held by
non-resident enterprise Shareholders. Therefore, on this basis, enterprise income
tax shall be withheld from dividends payable to such Shareholders. If holders of H
Shares intend to change its Shareholder status, please enquire about the relevant
procedures with your agents or trustees. The Company will strictly comply with the
law or the requirements of the relevant government authority and withhold and
pay enterprise income tax on behalf of the relevant Shareholders based on the
register of members for H Shares as of the Record Date.
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If the individual holders of H Shares are Hong Kong or Macau residents or residents
of the countries which had an agreed tax rate of 10% for the cash dividends to
them with the PRC under the relevant tax agreement, the Company should
withhold and pay individual income tax on behalf of the relevant Shareholders at a
rate of 10%. Should the individual holders of H Shares be residents of the countries
which had an agreed tax rate of less than 10% with the PRC under the relevant tax
agreement, the Company shall withhold and pay individual income tax on behalf of
the relevant Shareholders at a rate of 10%. In that case, if the relevant individual
holders of H Shares wish to reclaim the extra amount withheld due to the
application of 10% tax rate, the Company can apply for the relevant agreed
preferential tax treatment provided that the relevant Shareholders submit the
evidence required by the notice of the tax agreement to Tricor Investor Services
Limited. The Company will assist with the tax refund after the approval of the
competent tax authority. Should the individual holders of H Shares be residents of
the countries which had an agreed tax rate of over 10% but less than 20% with
the PRC under the tax agreement, the Company shall withhold and pay the
individual income tax at the agreed actual rate in accordance with the relevant tax
agreement. In the case that the individual holders of H Shares are residents of the
countries which had an agreed tax rate of 20% with the PRC, or which has not
entered into any tax agreement with the PRC, or otherwise, the Company shall
withhold and pay the individual income tax at a rate of 20%.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 1,926 employees as at December 31, 2024. During the Reporting
Period, the total staff costs (including director’s emoluments) were approximately
RMB640.9 million (2023: approximately RMB744.4 million). The Group enters into
employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such as wages, benefits,
and grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes salary, bonus and allowance
elements. The compensation programs are designed to remunerate the employees
based on their performance, measured against specified objective criteria. We also
provide our employees with welfare benefits in accordance with applicable
regulations and our internal policies. We provide periodic training to our employees
in order to improve their quality, skills and knowledge, including introductory
training for new employees, technical training, professional and management
training and health and safety training, as well as extensive training to our sales
and marketing team. The Group also has in place incentive schemes for its
employees, the details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Incentive
Schemes”.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits
schemes is to make the specified contributions.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has not entered into any
non-exempt connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which
should be disclosed pursuant to Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting Period are
set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements contained herein.

The related party transactions disclosed in note 40 were not regarded as connected
transactions or were exempt from reporting, announcement and shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained the public float as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s liability insurance is currently in

force and was in force during the Reporting Period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
and has adopted the code provisions set out in the Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (the “Corporate
Governance Code”). During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied
with all the applicable code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code.

In order to maintain high standards of corporate governance, the Board will
continuously review and monitor the Company’s corporate governance code.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 53 to 74 of this annual report.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not make donations.

AUDITOR

The H Shares were listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on July 8, 2020, and
there has been no change in auditors of the Company since the Listing Date. The
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period have been
audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For the Reporting Period, the Company is in compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are certain key risks and uncertainties involved in our operations, some of
which are beyond our control:

o We are largely dependent on sales of our two products, enoxaparin sodium
injection and heparin sodium API;

o Failure to attain market acceptance among the medical community would
have a material adverse impact on our operations and profitability;

. The retail prices of certain of our products are subject to price control or
downward adjustment by the government authorities or other pricing
pressure;

o Sales of our enoxaparin sodium injection products depend on the
reimbursement policies of the governmental authorities and health insurers.
Failure to obtain or maintain adequate medical insurance coverage and
reimbursement for our pharmaceutical products could limit our ability to
market those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue;

o If our products are not manufactured to the necessary quality standards, it
could harm our business and reputation, and our revenue and profitability
could be adversely affected;

3 If we suffer substantial disruption to any of our production sites or encounter
problems in manufacturing our products, our business and results of
operations could be adversely affected;

3 Fluctuations in prices of our raw materials may have a material adverse effect

on us if we are not able to transfer the cost increase to our customers;
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If we are unable to successfully complete clinical development, obtain
regulatory approval and commercialize our product candidates, or experience
significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed;

Our CDMO business is dependent on our customers’ spending on and
demand for outsourced biologics discovery, development and manufacturing.
A reduction in spending or demand could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and
prospects;

If we or parties on whom we rely fail to comply with the laws and regulations
related to, or maintain the necessary licenses for, the development,
production, sales and distribution of our products, our ability to conduct our
business could be materially impaired; and

Goodwill comprises a substantial portion of our total assets; if we determine
our goodwill to be impaired, it would adversely affect our financial position.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company has no events after the Reporting Period that need to be brought to
the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Li Li
Chairman

Shenzhen, PRC, March 28, 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report for the Reporting
Period in this annual report (the “Corporate Governance Report”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving good corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are essential in
providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules.

The Board is of the view that throughout the whole Reporting Period, the Company
has complied with all the applicable code provisions as set out in the code
provisions set out in the Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules (the “Corporate Governance Code”).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has devised its own code of conduct for the trading of securities by
its directors, supervisors and members of senior management of the Group (who
are likely to possess inside information about the securities of the Company due to
their offices or employments in the Company or its subsidiaries) on terms that no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code. Having made
specific enquiry by the Company, all directors, supervisors and members of senior
management of the Group have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code from the Listing Date to the date of

this report. The Company continues and will continue to ensure the compliance
with the corresponding provisions set out in the Model Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a Director to
perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is spending
sufficient time and attention performing them.

Board Composition

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Board comprised
7 Directors, consisting of 4 executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive
Directors as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Li (Chairman)

Ms. Li Tan (Deputy General Manager)
Mr. Shan Yu (General Manager)

Mr. Zhang Ping

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Lu Chuan

Mr. Huang Peng

Mr. Yi Ming

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this annual report and the
relationships between the Directors are disclosed in the respective Director’s
biography.

Except for the relationships between the Directors set forth in the respective
Director’s biography under the section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management”, the Directors do not have financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive

should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The Chairman and General Manager (equivalent to Chief Executive Officer) of the
Company are held by Mr. Li Li and Mr. Shan Yu respectively, thus we have complied
with code provision C.2.1. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and the General Manager has been clearly established.
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Corporate Governance Report

Independent Non-executive Directors
During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times fulfilled the requirements of the

Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors representing one-third of the board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) of the

Company are appointed for a specific term of three years and are eligible for re-
election upon expiry of their term of office in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.

According to the Articles of Association of the Company, Directors shall be elected
or replaced at general meetings and their term of office shall be three years.
Directors are eligible for re-election upon expiry of their term of office. Without
violating the relevant laws, regulations and regulatory rules of the locality where
the Company’s shares are listed, a person newly appointed as director by the Board
to fill a temporary vacancy or to add to the quote of directors of the Board shall
serve until the next annual general meeting of the Company, at which time the said
person is eligible for re-election. All directors appointed to fill temporary vacancies
shall be elected by shareholders at the first shareholders’ general meeting following
their acceptance of appointment.

Responsibilities of the Directors
The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company

and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group's operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the
Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company and
may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses, for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and
coordinating the daily operation and management of the Company are delegated
to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors
should participate in appropriate continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to
effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for
Directors would be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, all Directors attended training sessions
on the respective obligations of the Directors and senior management. In addition,
relevant reading materials including legal and regulatory update have been
provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.
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The record of continuous professional development relating to director’s duties and
regulatory and business development that have been received by the Directors for
the year ended December 31, 2024 is summarized as follows:
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Type of Training Not
EHI g R

Directors =

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Li Li TEEE

Ms. Li Tan R 7+

Mr. Shan Yu BFEEYE

Mr. Zhang Ping w®TEEE

Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHBITEE

Dr. Lu Chuan sEL

Mr. Huang Peng =gk E

Mr. Yi Ming ik

Note:

Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars, conferences and
workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant publications

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with C.1.4 of the Corporate
Governance Code on the Directors’ training.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) in
order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain high standard of
corporate governance. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the criteria in selecting
candidates to our Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to our
Board.

Our Directors have a balanced mixed of knowledge and skills, including but not
limited to overall management and strategic development, finance and accounting
and risk management, as well as professional experiences in the pharmaceutical
industry. The Board is of the view that our Board satisfies the Board Diversity Policy.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six male Directors and one female
Director. The Company considers that there is gender diversity on the current Board
and in considering Director candidates in the future, it will continue to consider
female individuals for promoting gender diversity of the Board. To ensure gender
diversity of the Board in a long run, the Group will seek to identify and select
several female individuals with a diverse range of skills, experience and knowledge
in the field of the Group’s business from time to time, and maintain a list of such
female individuals who possess qualities to become the Board members in order to
develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to promote gender diversity
of the Board.

The workforce of the Group (including its senior management) comprised
approximately 59% male employees and 41% female employees as at December
31, 2024. Due to the nature of work in the pharmaceutical industry, the Group
mainly considers factors such as the candidates’ ability and experience, rather than
their gender, in recruiting employees. The Company regularly reviews the gender
diversity of its workforce and will continue to enhance diversity in different levels
of its workforce.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the diversity of the Board.
The Nomination Committee will monitor and evaluate the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Director Nomination Policy
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendation to

the Board regarding the appointment of Directors and senior management.

The Company has adopted the Director Nomination Policy which sets out the
objectives, selection criteria and nomination procedures for identifying and
recommending candidates for appointment or reappointment of Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 4 committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration and Evaluation Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Strategy Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.

All Board committees of the Company are established with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,

namely Mr. Huang Peng, Dr. Lu Chuan and Mr. Yi Ming. Mr. Huang Peng is the
chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than

those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:

o handling relationship with the external auditor of the Company;
. reviewing the financial information of the Company;
o reviewing the independence of the external auditor and recommending to

the Board on the re-appointment of the external auditor;

o monitoring the financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control procedures of the Company;

o reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function and the communication with the external auditor;

o reviewing and monitoring corporate governance functions; and
o other matters as authorized by the Board.

During the year of 2024, the Audit Committee held two meetings with the external
auditor of the Company to discuss issues they considered necessary.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings in 2024. The following is a summary of the
work performed by the Audit Committee in 2024

3 reviewing the external auditor’s statutory audit plan and the nature and
scope of audit before commencement of audit work;

o reviewing and recommending for the Board's approval for the annual results
announcement and annual financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2023, the interim results announcement and interim financial statements
for the six months ended June 30, 2024, and the 2024 first quarterly and
third quarterly reports with particular focus on changes in accounting policies
and practices, compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
other requirements in relation to financial reporting;

3 discussing with the external auditor and the management on possible
accounting risks and major findings in the course of audit/review;

o reviewing the independence of the external auditor and recommending to
the Board the re-appointment of the external auditor;
o approving the audit fees and terms of engagement of the external auditor;

3 reviewing 2024 internal audit findings and recommendations, and approving
2025 internal audit plan; and
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. reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management functions

and internal control system, including the financial reporting and compliance
functions.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors 1 time without the presence of
the executive Directors.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under “Attendance
Record of Directors and Committee Members”.

Remuneration and Evaluation Committee
The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee consists of two Independent Non-

executive Directors, namely Mr. Huang Peng and Mr. Yi Ming, and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Li Li. Mr. Yi Ming is the chairperson of the Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The main duties of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee include but are
not limited to:

o formulating remuneration plans or schemes based on the main
responsibilities, scope and importance of the management positions of the
directors and senior management, and the remuneration levels of similar
positions in other enterprises; and making recommendations to the Board as
to the overall performance appraisal and remuneration management system
and structure for the directors and senior management, and the
establishment of proper and transparent formulation procedures of the
remuneration policy;

o reviewing and approving the management’s proposal on remuneration based
on the corporate goals and objectives set by the Board;

3 the appraisal and remuneration management system includes but is not
limited to performance appraisal criteria and procedures, the main appraisal
system, and the principal plan and system regarding incentive and penalty;

3 determining, with delegated responsibility of the Board, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management or making
recommendations to the Board for the remuneration package of individual
executive directors and senior management. This should include benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

. making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;
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o considering the remuneration package, time commitment, scope of
responsibility of similar companies and other employment terms of other
positions within the Group;

o reviewing and approving the compensation due to executive directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment, so
as to ensure that such compensation is consistent with the contractual terms;
if such compensation is not consistent with the contractual terms, ensuring
that it is fair, reasonable and not excessive;

. reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to the
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct or the like, so as to ensure
that such arrangements are consistent with the contractual terms; if such
compensation is not consistent with the contractual terms, ensuring that it is
reasonable and appropriate;

3 ensuring that no director or any of his associates is involved in the
determination of his remuneration;

o evaluating the performance of duties by the directors and senior
management of the Company and conducting the annual performance
evaluation on them;

o supervising the implementation of the Company’s remuneration system; and
3 other matters as authorized by the Board.

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee held 1 meeting in 2024. The
following is a summary of the major tasks carried out by the Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee in 2024:

3 To review the results of evaluation for members of senior management of
the Company for 2023

o To review the remuneration for directors and members of senior management
of the Company for 2023

3 To review the remuneration policy and structure of all Directors and senior
management of the Company

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee believes that the remuneration
scheme for directors and members of senior management complies with the
Company’'s relevant system and requirements of current operation and
management of the Company, and remunerations disclosed are in line with the
actual situation.

The attendance records of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee are set out
under “Attendance Records of Directors and Committee Members”.
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Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band for the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out below:

ERBZE-_Z-_NFT-_RA=+—HILFER
BAEAHBREREBFMF SO TAH

Number of person(s)

Remuneration band (RMB) HFHER(ARY) A
1,000,001 to 3,000,000 1,000,001%/3,000,000 39
3,000,001 to 5,000,000 3,000,001%(5,000,000 6
5,000,001 to 8,000,000 5,000,001%8,000,000 1

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of two Independent Non-executive Directors,

namely Dr. Lu Chuan and Mr. Yi Ming, and one Executive Director, namely Mr. Li
Li. Dr. Lu Chuan is the chairperson of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited to:

o formulating and reviewing the Board diversity policy; evaluating the structure,
size and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least once a year and making recommendations to the Board on the
size and composition of the Board based on the Company’s operating
activities, asset size and equity structure; and when considering the
combination of the members of the Board, ensuring the balance between
executive and nonexecutive directors (including independent directors) and
considering from multiple aspects of the diversity of the members of the
Board, including but not limited to their gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience;

3 studying the selection criteria and procedures for directors and senior
management and putting forward proposals to the Board;

3 searching extensively for qualified candidates for the roles of directors and
senior management;

o examining and putting forward proposals in relation to the candidates for
the roles of directors (including independent directors) and senior
management;

. making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-

appointment of directors and succession planning for directors (in particular,
the chairman and the general manager);

3 evaluating the independence of the independent directors; and

o other matters as authorized by the Board.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take into
account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in
the Company’s Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board,
where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination
Committee would assess the candidates’ suitability through personal interviews,
background checks, presentations or written submissions by the candidates and
third party references, and consider the candidate’s character, qualifications,
experience, independence, time commitment and other relevant criteria necessary
to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting in 2024. The following is a summary of
the major tasks carried out by the Nomination Committee in 2024:

1. the resolution on the assessment of the independence of the
non-independent directors

2. the resolution on the review of the structure, number and composition of the
Board of Directors

3, the resolution on the board diversity policy

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee are set out under
“Attendance Record of Directors and Committee Members”.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Board reviewed and considered that the following key features or mechanisms
under Company’s governance structure are effective in ensuring that independent
views and input are provided to the Board.
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Board and committees’ structure *® The Company has been steered by a Board. The Board comprises four executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors.
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e Members of all board committees are independent non-executive Directors (save for Mr. Li Li
in the Strategy Committee, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and the Nomination
Committee and Ms. Li Tan in the Strategy Committee)
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Independent non-executive
Directors’ tenure

BYFHTESNES

Independent non-executive
Directors’ remuneration

BYFHTESHNEHH

Appointment of independent
non-executive Directors

BYFHTESNEL

Annual review of independent
non-executive Directors’
independence

BYFHTESBIMNFEEHN

Conflict management

Professional advice

Board evaluation

The directors’ nomination policy of the Company sets a maximum tenure of six consecutive
years for independent non-executive Directors to be eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election by Shareholders unless the Board considers that the Director is still
independent with reference to requirements under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
ARAMNESFRERKERT  fEREESEREBNRREENBYIFNTEERRA
EEEEARF BHFEFSRK2ZLTRAUEIBENRER  BRZEFNABEL -

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for their role as members of the
Board and Board committee(s) as appropriate, and have not participated in the share
schemes of the Company.
BUFPATESHRARTETSREFTSZE N ENNEECHES (WER) - YETESR
HARNBORMDETE -

Independent search firm(s) will be engaged to help identify potential candidates for
appointment of independent non-executives Directors.

HEBELEBERARGYEBIFATEENEEREA

In assessing suitability of the candidates, the Nomination Committee will review their
profiles, including their qualification and time commitment, having regard to the Board's
composition, the Directors’ skill matrix, the list of selection criteria approved by the Board,
its nomination policy and the board diversity policy.

FHIEREANSELR REZEGREESHERNER  BEHEEERERHAR  LTEE
BN EAR BEFNRGEER BFSRANTESESE  HREARXLEFS
Z ALK -

The Board assessed the annual independence confirmation received from each independent
non-executives Director, having regard to the criteria under Rule 3.13 of the Main Board

Listing Rules.
EZeRBCERLETRADFEINGENFRE  FEESBLIFATESRRNFRE LM
FERE

The Articles of Association of the Company and internal guidelines of the Company provide
guidance to the Directors on avoiding conflicts of interest and on the circumstances under
which appropriate action(s) shall be taken by the director in conflict.
ARAHEBERABLARBOAIES REFREB RN RTRAOES - ARELEF
REERARIVEETHOER -

To facilitate proper discharge of their duties, all Directors are entitled to seek advice from
the company secretary or the in-house legal team as well as from independent professional
advisers at the Company’s expense.

RABEZRABTHRE  2BEFHEHARAMERANBEZEZEHBURBILIEEBMEZR
BE - WHARTRIEEZER-

The quality and efficiency of discussions at Board meetings are assessed during the annual
evaluation of the Board'’s performance.

REFREUNEETEFHEEFTRRTHOERRNE -
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Strategy Committee
The Strategy Committee consists of 3 members including two Executive Directors,

namely Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan, and one independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. Lu Chuan. Mr. Li Li is the chairperson of the Strategy Committee.

The terms of reference of the Strategy Committee are in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The main duties of the Strategy Committee include but are not limited to:

o evaluating and advising on long term strategic development plans of the
Company;
o evaluating and advising on major investment financing proposals that are

subject to the approval of the Board and the shareholders’ meeting in
accordance with the requirements of the Articles of Association;

o evaluating and advising on major capital operations and asset management
projects that are subject to the approval of the Board and the shareholders’
meeting in accordance with the requirements of the Articles of Association;

3 evaluating and advising on any other significant events that affect the
development of the Company;

o overseeing the implementation of the above matters; and
o carrying out other matters as authorized by the Board.

The Strategy Committee did not hold any meetings in 2024.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions set out in the

code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the Company's
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of
the Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance

Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director during their tenure of office at the Board
and Board Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held
during the Reporting Period is set out in the table below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

EERZEEEHEHFETH

TRV EEENRETHANLFEARRRE
HABRTHEFERESE
REH)H B RC 8

g eFURKRR

HERE EERH
Remuneration

and Annual

Audit Evaluation Nomination Strategy General

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting

B 52

=y EEg EEEY EREEE REZEEE BMEEE FERRAS

Mr. Li Li 6/6 N/A 11 11 0/0 11

FEEL 6/6 i A 11 1/1 0/0 11

Ms. Li Tan 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 0/0 11

TR+ 6/6 i A A iE A @A 0/0 11

Mr. Shan Yu 6/6 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11

BFE4E 6/6 TEA TEA N iE A i A iVAl

Mr. Zhang Ping 6/6 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11

KA 6/6 TEA TiE A Ti#E A T#E M 11

Dr. Lu Chuan 6/6 4/4 N/A 11 0/0 71

2)IEL 6/6 4/4 i@ A 11 0/0 11

Mr. Huang Peng 6/6 4/4 1/1 N/A N/A 11

=R A 6/6 4/4 11 i F i A 1/1

Mr. Yi Ming 6/6 4/4 11 11 N/A 171

S5 E 6/6 4/4 11 11 i A 1/1
Apart from six regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held seven meetings with BRARTHEETEEHEIN  TFEITMNFERNESF
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors NVIFRMTEERITEAEE MEHMESLE

during the year.
All independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors have attended

general meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the view of
shareholders.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company is dedicated to establishing and maintaining a robust internal control
system. We have adopted and implemented risk management policies in various
aspects of our business operations to address various potential risks in relation to
our strategic plan, research and development, infrastructure, procurement,
manufacturing, marketing and distribution. Our risk management system also
covers general finance management, human resources, information technology,
projects, logistics, subsidiaries and policy matters. The Audit Committee reviews
and supervises our risk management and internal control system.

Our Directors recognize the importance of good corporate governance to protect
the interests of our Shareholders. We have adopted the following corporate
governance measures to manage potential conflict of interests between our Group
and our Controlling Shareholders:

3 the Company has established internal control mechanisms to identify
connected transactions. If the Company enters into connected transactions
with our Controlling Shareholders or its associates, the Company will comply
with the applicable Hong Kong Listing Rules;

o where a Shareholders’ meeting is to be held for considering proposed
transactions in which our Controlling Shareholders or their associates have
any material interest, our Controlling Shareholders shall not vote on the
resolutions and shall not be counted in the quorum for the voting;

3 our Board consisted of a balanced composition of executive and nonexecutive
Directors, including not less than one-third of independent non-executive
Directors to ensure that our Board is able to effectively exercise independent
judgment in its decision making process and provide independent advice to
our Shareholders. Our independent non-executive Directors, individually and
together possess the requisite knowledge and experience to perform their
roles. They will review whether there is any conflict of interests between our
Group and our Controlling Shareholders and provide impartial and
professional advice to protect the interest of our minority Shareholders;

o where the advice from an independent professional, such as that from a
financial adviser, is reasonably requested by our Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors), the appointment of such an
independent professional will be made at the Company’s expenses; and

3 we have appointed Somerley Capital Limited as our compliance adviser,
which will provide advice and guidance to us in respect of compliance with

the applicable laws and the Listing Rules including various requirements
relating to corporate governance.
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All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to identify risks
that potentially impact the business of the Group and various aspects, including key
operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each department.

The Board had reviewed the risk management and internal control systems,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the Reporting
Period, and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff in the aforementioned systems and of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting function, and the adequacy of their training programs
and budget.

The Board confirms its responsibility for supervising the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually
through the Audit Committee. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failing to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Group internal audit and the Audit Committee assist the Board in the review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on the
basis of continuity. The directors through these committees are kept regularly
appraised of significant risks that may impact on the Group's performance.

With respect to the internal control and other measures taken by the Group during
the course of 2024 in response to the incident involving Techdow Pharma Italy
S.R.L. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated January 15, 2024, please refer to the Company’s 2023 annual
report published on April 30, 2024 for details. As disclosed in the aforesaid annual
report, the Company reinforced and implemented the multiple measures, including
but not limited to (i) examining the business processes within the Group to identify
major risks, and updating and enhancing the internal control matrix of the Group;
(i) recruiting internal control experts to strengthen training programs on internal
control, and raise awareness of risk and risk compliance; (iii) intensifying the
Company'’s audits and flight inspections of internal control of overseas subsidiaries;
and (iv) strengthening the centralized management of funds and improving the
efficiency of utilization of funds.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in performing its supervision and corporate
governance roles in the Group's financial, operational, compliance, risk
management, internal controls, the resourcing of the finance and internal audit
functions by reviewing the working report from internal audit and external audit.
During the Reporting Period, the Group internal audit conducted selective reviews
of the effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal controls of the
Group in respect of financial, operational and compliance controls with emphasis
on information technology and security, information privacy and protection,
business continuity management and procurement. Such results were assessed by
the Group internal audit and reported to the Audit Committee, which then
reviewed and reported the same to the Board. The Audit Committee and the Board
were not aware of any areas of concern that would have a significant impact on
the Group’s financial position or results of operations and considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be generally effective and adequate
including the sufficiency of resources, staff qualifications and experience, adequate
training programs for the staff and budget of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a general guide to
the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

Regarding the procedure and internal control over handling and propagation of the
inside information, the Group has adopted an inside information management
policy which has been disseminated to all the staff. Based on the policy and in
order to ensure that the inside information would be processed and propagated in
compliance, the Group has established monitoring measures to ensure that the
potential inside information could be recognized, assessed and then provided to
the Board for their decision that whether a disclosure is required.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company is committed to the highest possible standards of openness, probity
and accountability. In line with that commitment the Company expects and
encourages its employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders who have
concerns about any suspected misconduct or malpractice within the Company to
come forward and voice those concerns.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy which aims to enable the
Company’s employees and those who deal with the Company to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about possible improprieties
in matters related to the Company, in order to help detect and deter misconduct or
malpractice or unethical acts in the Company.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company takes a zero-tolerance approach towards bribery and corruption and
are committed to upholding high standards of business integrity, honesty and
transparency in all its business dealings. The Company strictly prohibits any form of
fraud or bribery, and is committed to the prevention, deterrence, detection and
investigation of all forms of fraud and bribery.

The Company has established an anti-corruption policy which sets out the basic
standard of conduct which applies to all Directors, officers and employees of the
Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. It also provides guidance to all
employees on acceptance of advantage and handling of conflict of interest when
dealing with the Company’s business. The Company also encourages and expects
its business partners including suppliers, contractors and clients to abide by the
principles of the policy.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not find any material
violations of laws and regulations relating to the prevention of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering, nor did it have any corruption cases concluded.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors, Supervisors and senior management receive their remuneration in
the form of salary and allowances, employer’s contribution to pension schemes,
annual bonuses and independent directors’ fee.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their reporting

responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors of the Group in
respect of audit services for the year ended December 31, 2024 amounted to
RMB6,410,000.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditors of the
Group, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended
December 31, 2024 is set out below:
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Fees Paid/Payable

B ENER

RMB’000

Service Category PR 7 % 51 AR®T T
Audit Services — annual audit for the year Bt —EHE_ZS_IUF

ended December 31, 2024 T A=+ BLEFEZFESRF 6,410

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

During the Reporting Period Mr. Qian Fenggi and Ms. Chan Sze Ting of Tricor
Services Limited (an external service provider) were the joint company secretaries of
the Company. The main contact of Ms. Chan Sze Ting at the Company is Mr. Qian
Fengqi, the Board Secretary of the Company.

The joint company secretaries of the Company have complied with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training
during the year.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company secretaries
on corporate governance and board practices related matters.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution should be
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including the
election of individual Director All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.

Convening Shareholders’ General Meetings
A shareholders’ annual general meeting is required to be held once every year

within six months following the end of the previous financial year. An extraordinary
general meeting is required to be held within two months subsequent to the
occurrence of any of the following:

o when the number of directors is less than the minimum number required by

the Company Law, or is less than two thirds of the number stipulated in the
Articles of Association;
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o when the uncovered loss is more than one-third of the Company’s total share
capital;

o when any of the shareholders individually or jointly holding no less than 10%
of total number of the Company’s voting shares make any written request to
convene the meeting;

o when the Board deems it necessary to convene the meeting;

o when the Supervisory Committee proposes to convene the meeting; and

o any other circumstances as stipulated by laws, administrative regulations,

departmental rules, regulatory documents and the listing rules for stock
exchanges where the Company’s shares are listed or the Articles of
Association.

A shareholders’ general meeting shall be convened by the Board, and chaired by
the Chairman of the Board. In the event that the Chairman is incapable of
performing or is not performing his/her duties, the meeting shall be presided over
by the Vice Chairman. In the event that the Vice Chairman is incapable of
performing or is not performing his/her duties, a Director jointly nominated by half
or more of the Directors shall preside over the meeting.

A shareholders’ general meeting convened by the Supervisory Committee shall be
chaired by the chairman of the Supervisory Committee. Where the chairman of the
Supervisory Committee is incapable of performing or is not performing his/her
duties, a supervisor jointly recommended by more than one half of the supervisors
shall chair the meeting.

A Shareholders’ general meeting convened by the shareholders themselves shall be
chaired by a representative elected by the convener. If for any reason the convener
fails to elect a chairperson, the shareholder (including proxy thereof) holding the
most voting shares thereat shall chair the meeting (other than HKSCC Nominees).

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
Shareholders individually or jointly holding 3% or more of the Shares of the

Company can propose extraordinary proposals and submit them to the convener in
writing 10 working days before the general meeting is held. The convener shall
serve a supplemental notice of general meeting within two days upon receipt of
the proposal and announce the contents of the extraordinary proposal.

The contents of such proposals shall fall with the functions and powers of the
general meeting, shall feature definite topics and specific issues for resolution, and
shall be in compliance with relevant requirements of laws, administrative
regulations, listing rules for stock exchanges where the Company’s shares are listed
and the Articles of Association.

For procedures of nomination of candidates for directorship by shareholders, please
refer to the website of the Company.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, Shareholders may

supervise the operations of the Company, and to make suggestions and enquiries
accordingly.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the

following:

Mailing No. 21 Langshan Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Address: People’s Republic of China

Fax: 0086-0755-86142889

Email: stock@hepalink.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly
signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the Group's business
performance and strategies. The Board has also established a written shareholders’
communication policy. The Board has conducted a review of the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy during the year ended
December 31, 2024. To promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website at www.hepalink.com/en/, where up-to-date information and updates on
the Company’s business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for public
access. Investors may write directly to the Company or via email to stock@hepalink.com
for any inquiries. Having considered the multiple channels of communication in
place, it is satisfied that the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly
implemented during the year ended December 31, 2024 and is effective.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the
annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available
to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.
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Changes to the Articles of Association
The Company has adopted the new Articles of Association which has been

approved by the 2024 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
January 10, 2024 in order to (i) comply with the requirements of the Listing Rules
and the applicable laws and regulations of the PRC; and (ii) make slight adjustments
to certain articles in accordance with the operation and management needs of the
Company.

Details of these amendments are set out in Appendix | to the circular of the
Company dated December 18, 2023 in relation to, among other things, the
adoption of the new Articles of Association.

An up-to-date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on
the Company’s website and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website.

Policies relating to Shareholders
The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy to ensure that
Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The policy is
regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

Shareholders’ communication policy
The Board has reviewed the shareholders’ communication policy for the Reporting

Period and consider the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy to be sufficient and adequate.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends pursuant to code
provision F.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. The articles of the Company
contain the profit distribution policy, setting out, among others, the principles and
forms of profit distribution, the conditions and proportion of cash distribution, the
period of profit distribution, the conditions of dividend distribution of shares, the
decision- making process and mechanism of profit distribution, and the principles
for adjusting the profit distribution policy. At the end of each financial year, profit
distribution proposal will be formulated by the Board, and will be subject to
shareholders’ approval. The Board should complete the dividend distribution within
2 months after the holding of the shareholders’ meeting.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

LXK B ETETE B R
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To the shareholders of Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.

A dh— 2718

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen Hepalink
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 85 to 236, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
The results of our audit 2

misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.

procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.

Key Audit Matter
BREEEE
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EEEAME A RITNERTHERERE
TEREERERMEEAM BRI ERNBRRL
B2 ERF BRERF(BEAERET
51 %38 1 5 R B9 A2 7 ) 69 45 R R 3 P9 BE BE P 4R
EMBHmRZERERIRHMER -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB N AEERRETSE

Revenue recognition

AR

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of Shenzhen
Hepalink Pharmaceutical Group Co. Ltd. reported in the consolidated
financial statements was RMB5,258,919,000 which was mainly
contributed from the production and sale of heparin-based active
pharmaceutical ingredient (“AP1"), finished dose pharmaceutical
products and contract development and manufacturing organisation
services (“CDMO services”).
MEBEE_ZT_NFT_A=T—BLFEMS REEUHRE
PHRENFRITEEREXEEARNARIA ZBWAR/ARE
5,258,919,0007T * =T 2R BN RAFEEYW KM ([API]) - )
BB E RIHE AR A RIFZEMEEESRS ([CDMOR ) -

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of finished dose
pharmaceutical products was RMB 2,986,129,000. The distribution
model has been adopted for these sales and mainly includes two
types: buyout and non-buyout. Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical
Group Co. Ltd. determined the point in time when the control of
the goods is transferred according to the distribution agreement and
recognised the revenue of goods accordingly.
REE_T-_NMFF+-_A=+—BLEFEMS  EVRBHKA
HAR2,986,129,0007C » ZFHERN DR - T2 EHEM
BAEE : BEAEEE - RYITEEREXEERNARARR
B0 HIHEEE S mEG EEE TR REE - I F R
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Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:
BHMOBAEFRIETINBES

(1)  We evaluated and tested the design and the operating
effectiveness of the controls in relation to revenue;

B PIRF AR AR 5 B YR A Z R IR HE MO RRAT SR BT T RO AR

(2)  We obtained major sales contracts and CDMO service
contracts, read then identified contractual terms in relation to
transfer of control, and evaluated whether the accounting
policy for revenue recognition was in accordance with IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers;
BMEEREZHES LA RCOMORKE S 4 + BIE I 4 5
BRAEGIEEENSHGRT WA B AR SR
EARFE(ERMBRELEIDFISKEELSHNZHA
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNES NAEERRES SR

Revenue recognition (Continued)

AR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of CDMO
services was RMB1,033,790,000, among which, the revenue
recognised over time and at a point in time amounted to RMB
459,051,000 and RMB574,739,000 respectively. For CDMO services,
Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical Group Co. Ltd. identified the
goods or services stated in the CDMO services contracts as
performance obligations, and revenue is recognised upon analysing
the present right to payment for the CDMO services and the point
when a customer obtains control of the goods or services. For
performance obligation to be delivered over time, revenue is
recognised according to the progress of performing the respective
obligation.

REBE_T-_NMF+_A=+—BILFEMS - COMORSHIIK
AR AR¥E1,033,790,0007T © HfE » F£ — BB ] P9 B 2 — B ] B
HBRMZ WA D B 7 A R¥459,051,0007T & A R #574,739,000
T o BECOMORRB M T - AYI T B EHEXEEROBER AR
COMORRB AN P HIN N B M RBERBELOEL LRSI
CDMOSR 5 ) 8 Al 52 {5 4 ) LA B2 50 /= 28 BN 781 eim o AR 765 2 458 1 R Y
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As revenue recognition criteria of the Group involved judgement as

explained above, we considered this as a key audit matter.
B ERESRARRRES RN AR AE - RMRBRE
IR EER -

(3)  For revenue from sales of goods, we performed tests of details
to check supporting documents including sales contracts on a
sample basis and evaluated whether the relevant revenue
recognition is in compliance with the accounting policy for
revenue recognition of Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical
Group Co., Ltd;
iTﬁAﬁuuﬁﬁ%u&]\ BMRBREEETAG AR - AxE

EFRAXH (BEHESL) UIAEBRAERESHTA
/xﬂ\lm/iiﬁ“ﬁ?éﬁﬁilﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ A ATER EETEUR

(4) For revenue from CDMO services, we performed tests of
details on supporting documents by selecting samples from
sales transactions and inspected whether the performance
obligations had been met at the point of recognising
corresponding revenue:

HNCOMORIEIA - RFVETHESAR - BBRHEERS
HH 8 T B R JE ER B B S - I A B A E AR AR R LA Y
BHERBELRFINET

(i) For performance obligations satisfied over time, we
evaluated whether the “over time” criteria had been
met and evaluated the accuracy of the progress of
the performance obligation;
HRE-—BREBABTHRAOES  BHAFGEESS
mE [ —REFEIRN | RIRE - WRT R AEBEFENE
HEME

(i) For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time,
we checked the supporting evidence of the services
transferred/delivery of goods;
HREX—REBBTHNEBAEY  BMREEEE
Ri%,/ RN E RO TR IEBRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNES NAEERRES SR

Revenue recognition (Continued)

AR (F)

Refer to note 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, note 3
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES and note
5 REVENUE to the consolidated financial statements for accounting
policies and disclosures related to revenue recognition.
B2HGEMBEBRRNMT24E NG BER - WHA3EREEH
B Bk 5t LA R B RESURA - T BRI A TE TR AR BB BT IR R KRR o

(©)

We selected samples of transactions of sales of goods before
and after the end of the reporting period and checked to
supporting documents including goods delivery note and
logistics documents, etc., to evaluate whether the relevant
revenue was recorded accurately in the proper accounting
period;

HMEREDRANENEREERGERN  UREXFE
X (REEMEXEERNYRXGS) LR EEE S5 8
i MR RS EEEDH

We compared the revenue from sales of goods from CDMO

services and other operating income, as well as gross profit

margins for the current year with those of the previous year,

and analysed the variance; and

HAEE G E - COMOARS A K HoAth & @ I as BV M - A

REAMFENENERR F—FRHBEEERLL o1
T#ZEL R

We reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of the
disclosures of revenue in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
HMEEFEAMBRRMETFRAREEHN T EF T
B
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FRFSTSEEGA)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNES NAEERRES SR

Impairment provision for inventories

FERERRE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of inventories was
RMB5,393,947,000 comprising gross amount of RMB5,995,255,000,
and impairment provision of RMB601,308,000.
R-ZE-WFE+-A=+—R  FEREERARHES,393,947,000
T FEEHERARKES995255000T  REBEAARE
601,308,0007T °

The impairment provision of inventories was made based on their
respective estimated net realizable value. The assessment of the
estimated net realizable value was calculated based on the
management'’s estimated selling prices, estimated costs to be incurred
upon completion of production, costs to be incurred to make the sale
and the relevant tax. The estimated selling price is determined with
reference to the contract price if the inventories are held for particular
contracts. For those which are not earmarked to particular contracts,
the management will estimate their respective realizable value based
on judgments on the method by which they subsequently realized.

FEREREDREES BN AT ZERFEEL - ArFUER
FEMFEDREEEBNMGFEE  EEZTKRNMGEFKA

HEXRARERBEA TS - WEEDAFEARTE AL
2EQREREEHAEE HRAREEAREESRANGTE
EREFREHEBRERITENHEAGEE R B ERE -

The amount of inventory impairment loss has a significant impact on
the financial statements and is subject to significant management
judgements and estimates. Therefore, impairment provision for
inventories was identified as a key audit matter.
FEREEESHEUMBRIEEATE FTEEEEMEERXN
HEFAfEE - Bt FERERBRATRBREFE -

Refer to note 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, note 3
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES, note 23
INVENTORIES to the consolidated financial statements for accounting
policies and disclosures related to provision for inventories.

B2HEE M BRNMT24E NS TBER © 3E A& #
B R (AT DA K I TE2377 5 - T AR AT SR (E B A A B R IOR S

5= o

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

BB EFEETIEES

(1)  We evaluated and tested the design and the operating
effectiveness of the controls in relation to the processes of
impairment provision for inventories;
HA R IR A B BT B E R
RAITHARIE

BIR 2 R YRR R

(2) We conducted confirmation procedures and perform
stocktaking for inventories;

BOEFEETT HERF LB

(3) We obtained the inventory impairment provision calculation
workings, reviewed the key estimations used in determining
the net realisable value, such as the percentage of future
usage, the expected selling price, estimated costs to be
incurred upon completion of production, costs to be incurred
to make the sale and the relevant tax. We compared the net
realisable value with the cost of the inventories and
re-calculated the amount of the inventory impairment
provision. We compared and analyzed the inventory
impairment provision with those of comparable companies
within the same industry;
HMEEREFERERBENAELR EEMAREEA
SR FENBEMLS  WARAREBEOL  HFAEE - £E
TRENMERA  BRHEGELNKNARBBRE - &
PSR FERFERNRNET TR  YEHFERFE
MEEEBSRE HMABFEREEBRRTEALRAA
7 SR ER FHETE R AT |

(4)  For inventories held for particular contracts, we checked the
respective contract price and to subsequent sale, if any. For
those without earmarked prices, we inspected key estimations
used by management in estimating the recoverable amount on
a sampling basis.

HRAREARBAENTE HMERESHENS RER
Rig@EHE (WA) HRUEREEERNFE  RMAS#H
EERENME T RESBERAERNEEMTHE R

(5) We reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of the
disclosure of impairment provision for inventory in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.
BMBEGSUBHRRMETRFEREEEAREEH

FE D TR o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETTEE

FRFSTSEEGA)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNES NAEERRES SR

Impairment of goodwill

AERE

At 31 December 2024, the carrying value of goodwill in the
consolidated financial statements amounted to RMB2,357,034,000,
comprising the gross amount of RMB2,426,539,000, and the
impairment provision of RMB69,505,000.
RZZEZMF+ZA=+—H HGEHBERRTEENEEER
AR #2,357,034,0007T - B3 4258 A R %2,426,539,0007T K & (B #
1# AR #569,505,0007C 4 X ©

In accordance with IFRSs, the Group is required to perform the
impairment test for goodwill at least on an annual basis. The
goodwill impairment test is based on the recoverable amount of
each cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which the goodwill is
allocated. The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on the higher of the value in use (“VIU") and fair value less
costs of disposal (“FVLCD"). In determining the recoverable amount,
the Group engaged independent valuers to perform the impairment
test for goodwill.

BREBE(ERBBRELER)  SEREFEZLEFETHERE
AR - BEREAIRNDERBEEIENSREEEEMN AT
O -HeELEMNAROSEDRBEEAEEREQA L EBE
BEERKAMEFNRSEEE ERETAKODSER BX
EEEE L AEMETEERENR -

In performing the impairment test for goodwill, key assumptions
and judgements were used by the Group, for example, when the
recoverable amount of the CGU was determined based on VIU, key
assumptions including the CGU’s cash flow forecast, revenue
growth rates and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA") rate of forecast periods, and the pre-tax
discount rates; and when the recoverable amount of the CGU was
determined based on FVLCD, key assumptions including the
selection of comparable companies, etc.

EETHEBEREIRAK  EEEERTZERIRAE - filw
EERCHAEERERSEAEMNAIKEERE FERRIBHE
TEARERECEESEMMNRS TR - WABRRE - RIOKAF
B B EREHEHNZA ([EBITDA ) RMERFIATALIR % ¢ A
REZNARBEMNERAREER € EE B YO &5 -
FTEBRXBERBARNEES -
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Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

HHNBEAEFRIETINEES

(1) We evaluated and tested the design and the operating
effectiveness of the controls in relation to goodwill impairment

testing;
FOAM R Al OB B B R R B 2 4 A e B AR AT R
TR

(2)  We evaluated the base data used in cash flow forecast by
comparing those to the historical data;

HIBBYLLELEE  SHERSREBTRPTANEREE

(3) We ascertained and assessed the revenue growth rates
adopted for the forecast periods by comparing those to the
historical revenue growth rates;
BMBAYHLEL WAL RE - EE &G TENHRER
CLON-ES

(4)  We evaluated the EBITDA rates of forecast periods by
comparing those to the historical corresponding rates;
HAPVBB I L E LEBITDAR - ¥ (TR BRI eV AR B L ¢

(5)  We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist in
evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used by the
Group, such as the pre-tax discount rate, etc;
HMBABEEER BB E EXEMANRRZET X -
AR YA BAER K&

(6)  We evaluated the comparable companies, and the data of
comparable companies selected by the Group/ its independent

valuers;
HEHE BEE EBVHEMERENREA R REEUE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREENEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
Y& Ntz BLRD ¥R &

81

BAREIEE(E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN E N AEERRETSE

Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

AEREE)

The judgements and estimates involved will be significantly
influenced by management’s assessment of future market and
economic changes, which in turn will pose significant impacts on
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill is allocated.
In light of this, we considered this as a key audit matter.

B R B 5% E P A ET G R BB IR I8 R R T 5 M AC B # LAY
WEATE MRARSHBERSENRSEEEMLHAT YD
THEABAFE - ER0 - RMRAEBHERETFE -

Refer to note 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, note 3
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES and
note 17 GOODWILL to the consolidated financial statements for
accounting policies and disclosures related to goodwill impairment.
BLHGREMBRENMNF2A4ERNESFTBOR - WA3EAREETH
MRS AR 7E 8 TREER  AREHERERENE
BER -

(7)  We reviewed mathematically the calculations of VIU;

BOHEREBENOTTETHEMNES

(8)  We ascertained the profile of independent valuers engaged by
the Group and evaluated their competence, capabilities and
objectivity; and
BT SSEFEFNBELGERMOBN W EEER -
BENMZEIE R

(9)  We reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of the
disclosures of goodwill in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
BMEBEEAMBEREMTPIEAEREERNN TS M LT

Bk
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7

ERERETHELER

ERREF(EED)FHEMENARE - A
AMBRETENFERESANER  BTEE
RAMBMRREZ BENZEEIRS

BMEEAMBRERNERL NREREME
£ BT AEZEEMENBEREMEAN
EEER -
REMAEEAVBHRERNETTE - HAINE
ERMEEMER  LHEULBRET  ZEEM
ENMERRGEMBHMAIBMEEFBERESD
P T RIS FEEANEERE LRI E L
FHREERERBANER - EREMS AT
BT RBEMIBR/EMERFEERMER
Bt - BHPBEREZFE - shlbm 5 - B
BREERRE -

EERGAUMBEHRRAREN
=

51T
EEARERERARe I ENBER EHA(E
B B R 2 ) R B (R A ) B e B 4
TREREMTAOGAMEHRE  wHER
BB A BT 3R M5 8 R 7E R REE K
SR T B B A SRR BT SRR B

=

ERBRAMBRRE  EFARME &KX
ERELENEE N YHEERBR TRE SRR
BREEHENER URERAFKELE ST
A BRIEFAER BEEEBFBEAFULR
B RBIEREMERNERTE -

BIZEEHHESRTEE BESENUHT
HEBENEME -

BB BT HE T RS B I AR AR
EHEME

RN E BRHE AN RRERRTIGE
B BRRE S R T B B A B ERE &
BRE - A HABERMNE R ORBERE -
RPEAEBREEREE - BULSN  RAH
e A AIER AR o BT AR S i
ME - HEARMALAERRREE -




Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

3 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

3 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the Directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

l.lll.rﬁik

BT BERE

BB BB S RS M R
BHNEE (F)

oo
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report
is Law Kwok Kee.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
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Year ended 31 December 2024

HE T - Ff - A=+—HIFE
2024 2023
—TEZNF —E=-=
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B AR TR AR F T
REVENUE 'ON 5 5,258,919 5,430,974
Cost of sales SHE R (3,519,605) (4,490,078)
Gross profit EX 1,739,314 940,896
Other income and gains, net H A R Wz 55 6 531,444 222,317
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (389,441) (517,416)
Administrative expenses THHAX (638,465) (674,546)
Impairment losses on financial and contract assets £ §t & & 4 & & R {E 18 7 (58,542) (22,548)
Impairment losses on goodwill [SENCAIEEEES - (68,155)
Impairment losses on associates B2 R A 2R EE 18 (85,517) (9.801)
Impairment losses on property, plant and ME - BERKEREMER
equipment and other intangible assets BEENRMERER (55,365) (44,515)
Other expenses HihFHx (30,174) (78,528)
Finance costs b & Bk AN 9 (145,205) (228,087)
Share of losses of associates FE(R & A A B 1R (141,820) (447,951)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BLATFIE,(BE) 726,229 (928,334)
Income tax (expense)/credit s (X)) e 12 (101,311) 126,175
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FrRF (FR) 624,918 (802,159)
Attributable to: R ALEA:
Owners of the parent BRRER A 646,742 (783,258)
Non-controlling interests 3E? S e A (21,824) (18,901)
624,918 (802,159)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO B A RIZERERISH AERL
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT BREFN(FHE) 14
Basic and diluted EARREE
For profit/(loss) for the year FRE M, (EE) RMBO.44 RMB(0.53)
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Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_—F_-_mMFEF+_H=+—HIFE

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

2024 2023
—E_NE —T =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT ARBF T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FREA,(BE) 624,918 (802,159)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hih2mEk =
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to REBRIRI A GEEF HEE B
profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax): HE M 2 E W s (FIBRFIE) -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations /B 4N ¥ E[E ¥ = 58 93,016 51,000
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates E{REE AR HEMEE
Wz, (E18) 14,905 (6,192)
Net other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to W& B MBI A e EFH N B EEH
profit or loss in subsequent periods HE b2 E M FEE 107,921 44,808
Other comprehensive loss that will not be reclassified to REEHEHTSEN P BEEEm
profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax): HEMEEER (HFBHE) -
Change in fair value of equity investments designated at fair ¥ A AR BET 2 B H &85t
value through other comprehensive income AEMEEKSAORERED
NREEE (34,452) (9,234)
Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension ATNBmBARESITENEST =
schemes Wz, (E518) 6,284 (2,592)
Net other comprehensive loss that will not be REBRETEET EZER
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods B H Ath 2 T 5 1B F KR (28,168) (11,826)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax FRAHEM2E K& (HBRFE) 79,753 32,982
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, FEREEKE(FHE) 45E
net of tax (HIBRBL 1) 704,671 (769,177)
Attributable to: LR ALEAS:
Owners of the parent INGIEZ Z=N 726,452 (750,324)
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR 4 2 (21,781) (18,853)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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BRERRE

31 December 2024

—E oW EF—A=+—H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
“E-ME —F=F
+=A=+-H +=ZR=+—H
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®T R ARB T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME¥ - BB K& E 15 2,668,337 2,628,121
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 185,585 220,883
Goodwill mE 17 2,357,034 2,322,375
Other intangible assets Hhmy EE 18 306,676 389,423
Investments in associates REE AR 2R E 19 350,320 1,004,046
Equity investments designated at fair value through other  $#8F AL EBETE B L& &t
comprehensive income AR EERREMRERE 20 580,134 503,565
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss KAnBEAEAEEHFTAE
HEENSRMEE 21 893,040 1,006,367
Deferred tax assets BIEFGEREE 33 282,510 320,503
Other non-current assets HtEREEE 22 98,614 203,865
Total non-current assets FRBEELR 7,722,250 8,599,148
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories "E 23 5,393,947 6,654,111
Trade and bills receivables B 5 FE WK R E IR E & 24 1,182,797 1,263,584
Contract assets ANEE 25 4,018 10,947
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets FARTFRIE - H o IR IR R E A
BE 26 431,252 364,429
Due from related parties JE U BB 5 3hIE 40 51,802 45,371
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss KAnBEFEAEEHTAE
HEaE
SREE 21 867,895 414,184
Derivative financial instruments TESmIE 521 -
Pledged deposits BEEAFR 27 80 80
Time deposits TEHER 27 267,135 85,918
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 27 1,421,827 1,765,645
Total current assets RBEELE 9,621,274 10,604,269
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables 2 5N RIE 28 299,692 302,223
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIA - 388
Other payables and accruals HoAth & 15 5RIE K FEETIE B 29 519,076 497,560
Contract liabilities ANER 30 264,283 362,052
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings sHERITRE M0 31 2,367,161 3,624,575
Tax payable FEfT FioE 120,264 157,178
Due to related parties JE15F BB 5 5k 0R 40 89,939 4,403
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 38,822 37,803
Total current liabilities hEERAR 3,699,237 4,986,182
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AR A B S IR 2R
31 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
“E-ME “B-=HF
+=-A=+-H +=ZA=+—AH
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
(i AR® TR ARBTF T
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 5,922,037 5,618,087
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEHABERRBERE 13,644,287 14,217,235
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFERITREAMAER 31 1,081,048 1,810,021
Deferred income EIEMA 32 27,285 30,426
Deferred tax liabilities ELEMEHREE 33 242,494 252,568
Long-term employee benefits REEBRER 34 23,215 35,273
Other non-current liabilities HiERBaE 10,354 10,153
Lease liabilities HEAR 16 57,770 90,417
Total non-current liabilities *RBEELEE 1,442,166 2,228,858
Net assets BEFE 12,202,121 11,988,377
EQUITY S
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BAREREARGER
Share capital [N 35 1,467,296 1,467,296
Reserves B 36 10,681,377 10,445,852
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent B AT EFABEESAE 12,148,673 11,913,148
Non-controlling interests R ER 53,448 75,229
Total equity ERAE 12,202,121 11,988,377
Li Li Shan Yu
Z= 48 BF
Director Director
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

N 91
A & 0 e //ZlLTJ = i‘%
Year ended 31 December 2024
HE T - Ff - A=+—HIFE
2024 2023
—E-mE —T =4
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
F 5 AR T AREF T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHEENRERE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI A, (&) 726,229 (928,334)
Adjustments for: KA EIEFE
Bank interest income ]|ITH B WA (8,667) (28,144)
Finance costs B & Ak 2K 9 145,205 228,087
Share of losses of associates FE(LEE & R BB B 141,820 447,951
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value AR A (B Eﬁ%ﬂ,ﬁ\
through profit or loss BRI AZHER
ﬁmﬂééa’aﬂx%u&)\ 6 (56,440) (36,433)
Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value HEUAREBEE
through profit or loss BEZFHT AEHER
BEREEN RS 6 (2,209) (1,014)
Fair value (gains)/losses on derivative instruments METIAENRAREE
(W), BREE 6 (8,486) 86
Fair value (gains) on financial assets at fair value NAREBEFEEEZS
through profit or loss AFAEBIERENS R
BEMNAREE
W %5 6 (131,138) (17,724)
Impairment losses on associates B8N AR E B 1B 7 85,517 9,801
Interest income from debt investment BB ENF E WA 6 (3,384) -
Losses on disposal of items of property, plant and HEWE  BERZE
equipment IH B W E1E 479 1,678
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - - BENREITE 7 240,864 283,414
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEERE 7 38,547 38,341
Amortisation of other intangible assets EfhEmR B EE 7 55,498 56,093
Impairment losses on financial assets CRIEERBEEIS 7 58,542 22,548
Impairment losses on goodwill EEREEE 7 - 68,155
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment — #1% « &= K& & E A
and other intangible assets ERAEREBEEIE 7 55,365 44,515
Gains on disposal of investment in associates HERBERR ZIREH
Wz 6 (267,236) (7,265)
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net &5 58, () 58 7 12,840 (85,867)
1,083,346 95,888
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Year ended 31 December 2024

BE_—F_-_mMFEF+_H=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E_E —T =4
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Fff 5 AR TR AR®ET T
Decrease in inventories FER D 1,260,164 189,795
Decrease in trade and bills receivables B 5 WA R ERE IR 105,662 316,891
Decrease in contract assets EREERD 6,929 8,587
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and FERNRIA - e REMER
other receivables I (g m) R (146,713) 60,108
Increase in amounts due from related parties JE Ui 8 Bt 75 SR TR 3 N (6,431) (538)
Decrease in trade payables E 5 RN RIS (2,531) (125,210)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals Hihpe B R ESTIER
#m,/ i) 22,391 (10,942)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to related parties f& 1<t B8 5z IBE i, OF 2 ) 85,536 (1,499)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEERD (97.769) (66,166)
Decrease in deferred income iR N (3.141) (2,121)
Decrease in long-term employee benefits REEE RIS (1,941) (7,465)
Cash generated from operations KEMFSHRSE 2,305,502 457,328
Bank interest income RITH B A 21,198 3,032
Income tax paid Bt TSR (132,568) (62,143)
Net cash flows generated from operating activities K& EBRER S REFTE 2,194,132 398,217
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZHELENRERE
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value A A 4 (EEEH2 B H & &)
through profit or loss SFAEHERNEREE
B AR B HA 250,777 53,492
Investment income received from financial assets at A AR EE 2 B HE 5 A
fair value through profit or loss EHBEENSREEN
BREWA 29,011 17,720
Proceeds from disposal of investment in associates HEREE N A ZIRENE
RIE 89,483 =
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair HENARBHEFEEES
value through profit or loss FAEHERNCREEDN
Fr18 sk 18 1,738,476 1,576,137
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment BEE ¥ - KE MR EE B (199,620) (437,433)
Purchases of other intangible assets B M EE&E (3,149) (7,445)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BEUAREEAZAHEES
profit or loss AR HEENemEE (2,157,658) (677,256)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant  H&E W% « BE R HEEH
and equipment Fr8 1A 3,014 2,337
(Increase)/decrease in time deposits TEHIFER (), 5 (174,049) 665,872
Interest received from time deposits B W E B 3R 2 8,667 28,144
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing BEEH (A FRBHRESR
activities =558 (415,048) 1,221,568

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

N 93
A = 0 e //ZlLTJ = ?E
Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_F-_mMFEF_H=4+—HIFEF
2024 2023
—E_E —T =4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
F 5 AR®ET T ARBFT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHELENRERE
New bank loans and other borrowings FILRITE R R HAER 2,686,769 5,109,367
Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings 1"5‘%&%%&1?%M&ﬁﬁﬂ1ﬁﬁ (4,652,985) (5,994,672)
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings paid ~ BR{TE R R H b (&% 5 8 (159,901) (249,828)
Dividends paid BEIRE - (176,205)
Principal and interest elements of lease payments HENE E’leiéééﬁifl (38,427) (37,983)
Purchase of a shareholding in a joint venture E%AA§¢%W$E_@_ = (7,200)
Refund of counter guarantee deposit and other REBEHNRES
expenses related to corporate bond BANRERRES R
H At B 2 25,000 83,006
(Payment for)/refund of security deposit related to (1) EEHBITEE
bank draft BENRES (186) 63,343
Net cash flows (used in) financing activities BREEHAARSRE R (2,139,730) (1,210,172)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%f’%ﬂﬁ
EQUIVALENTS W), EinEEE (360,646) 409,613
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year i%}]ﬁ’giﬁ@&iﬁ(ﬁ%{%% 1,765,645 1,319,707
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEBTEFEE 16,828 36,325
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRELSZEEY
AT END OF YEAR 1,421,827 1,765,645
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH HRERBRLEEUNERD T
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances IBE NMBITHES 27 1,363,095 1,765,645
Non-pledged time deposits with original [RIGEARR DR =18 A &Y
maturity of less than three months JEIRE FE B FER 27 58,732 =
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS STATED IN B2 REXRBIINEER
THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS REEEY 27 1,421,827 1,765,645
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% o3k Y AT
31 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a joint stock company with limited liability established in the
People’s Republic of China (hereafter, the “PRC") on 21 April 1998. With the
approval of the China Securities Regulatory Commission, the Company
completed its initial public offering and was listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002399.5Z) on 6 May 2010. On 8 July 2020, the
Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “HKSE") (stock code: 9989. HK). The registered address of the
office of the Company is No.21 Langshan Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen.
The Company is ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan who are
acting in concert.

The Group is principally engaged in biopharmaceutical production,
biopharmaceutical services, biopharmaceutical trading and biopharmaceutical
research and development in Asia, Europe, North America and Australia, and
investment business in Asia and North America.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7
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Notes to Financial Statements

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)
As of the date of this report, the Company had direct and indirect interests
in its subsidiaries, all of which are private limited liability companies or
limited partnerships, the particulars of which are set out below:

Date and place

NN 95
B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H

1. 2AREEER (HF)

BEARSHS  ARAEEFLEF
BEERERERD REFLANHE
TIAEREERFAREREEAED
Al EFAEHSINNT

of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ A8 BRAZER/ ERRES
£ MLEAREE LR dMEE BEASL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi &
Chengdu Sunrace Animal Products PRC/ RMB200,000,000 100% - Production and sale
Co., Ltd.*** Chinese Mainland AR#200,000,0007 of heparin sodium
KBAREERERAR HE/ AN EERBERZR
19 November 2009
“ETEAST-ATAR
Shandong Ruisheng Biotechnology PRC/ RMB30,000,000 100% - Production and sale
€@, il = = Chinese Mainland AR 30,000,000 of heparin sodium
IR B E DRI AR A A HE/HEN EERBERZR
15 July 2010
“T-TFtAtHA
Shenzhen Penghe Property Management PRC/ RMB132,000,000 55% - Property management operation
Co., Ltd. *** Chinese Mainland AR #132,000,0007 MEERLE
RABRNEERFRAR R/ E R
13 June 2011
—Z——%5At=H
Shenzhen Pingshan New District Hepalink PRC/ RMB120,000,000 100% - Biopharmaceutical production;
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* ** Chinese Mainland AR 120,000,000 biopharmaceutical services; and
IR R EEAR AR dE /B i biopharmaceutical research and
29 July 2013 development (“R&D")
ZE-=Ft+A-ThH BB RSB RT
REMRERTRFAE ((HE])
Shenzhen Dekang Investment PRC/ RMB10,000,000 100% = Equity investment; investment
Development Co., Ltd.*,** Chinese Mainland AR #10,000,0007C management and consulting
RTREREEXRBBRRA e/ E A, RERE  REEBERN
23 March 2015
“E-R%=A=t=H
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Notes to Financial Statements

96 A
B 15 ¥ 2R M 5E
31 December 2024
—E_mES+_A=+—H
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER (&)
(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ 2 8 BROLER/ RDEEE
£ MEUREE R HMEE BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi EE:3
Shenzhen Fanpu Biotechnology PRC/ RMB1,000,000 66% - Biopharmaceutical technology
Co., Ltd.* ** Chinese Mainland AR1,000,0007 development and consulting
AT REEDEHERAA e/ RE R EYRBERR T R
25 February 2015
—E-Af-A=+HA
Hepalink (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$330,221,445 100% - Investment holding and trading of
LR (BE) BRAR 55 330,221,445/ 7T biopharmaceutical products
23 November 2010 REBRRAENBREERES
=
+—A=+=A
Hepalink Europe AB Sweden SEK100,000 - 100% Investment holding
i 100,000% £ 72 24 RERR
1 February 2010
=Z-TE=HH
Hepalink USA INC. USA 10,000 shares 100% - Investment holding
*H 10,0008 B {7 RERR
25 October 2013
—Z-=#tA-ThAH
SPL Acquisition Corp. (“SPL") USA 500,000 shares - 100% Production of active
E35 500,000/ & {7 pharmaceutical ingredients and
13 July 2006 manufacture of pancreatin
“EEAELAT=R FERMEREERE
Scientific Protein Laboratories LLC USA 1,000 shares = 100% Biopharmaceutical
E35 1,000 7 production and sales
22 January 2004 BB EEEE
“ZEME-A-T_H

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7




Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024

—E oW EF—A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2AREEER (&)
(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ 2 8 BROLER/ RDEEE
£ MEUREE R HMEE BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi EE:3
Mobren Logistics L.L.C. USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical
E35 1RG5 production and sales
22 December 2003 B EE e
—FE=
+TZA=t=H
Mobren Transport Inc. USA 1,000 shares - 100% Biopharmaceutical
E35 1,0008 8 {7 production and sales
23 December 1997 ENRELrEAHE
—“hht®E
+-A=t=H
Novahealth Biosystems, LLC USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical R&D
£ 1RR D YRR
24 March 2016
TR F=A-ftEA
Pharma Bridge International LLC USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical sales
E3E 1RR ENRERE
28 November 2012
—T——F
+-—A=t/NHB
SPL Distribution Holdings LLC USA 1 share = 100% Biopharmaceutical sales
e 1B 1D EWSAEHE
26 December 2017
—E—F
TZAZ+RAH
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ) % B oE

31 December 2024

—E oW EF+ = A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1. 2AREEER (#F)

(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ 2 8 BROLER/ RDEEE
£ MEUREE R HMEE BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi EE:3
SPL Distribution LLC USA 1 share - 100% Biopharmaceutical sales
E35 1RB& 2 EYREEE
26 December 2017
“E—+F
TZRA=tRA
Cytovance Biologics, Inc. USA 5,000 shares - 100% Biopharmaceutical contract
E35 5,000 A {7 manufacturing and development
19 September 2005 EYBIEA R E R
ZZTRENAATAR
Shenzhen Beidi Aoke Technology PRC/ RMB 10,000,000 100% - Biopharmaceutical
Development Co., Ltd.* ** Chinese Mainland AR#10,000,0007¢ technology development
AT RRBEEEBRAA RE/ B B 3
19 July 2002
ZEZ-F+ATNR
Shenzhen Maple Sea Capital Equity PRC/ RMB250,000,000 99% = Equity investment;
Investment Fund Partnership Chinese Mainland AR#250,000,0007T venture investment; investment
(Limited Partnership) *,*** RE /R E R consulting and management
RIEEEARERERE Y 10 April 2015 RERE : AlRRE
X (ERAH) “Z-0fNA+H REGHAER
Shenzhen OncoVent Biomedical PRC/ UsD9,259,300 54% = Biopharmaceutical R&D
Technology Co., Ltd. *,** Chinese Mainland 9,259,300% 7T He Bl R B
R B ENBERMERD A HEL/RE R
26 July 2016
ZE2—~FtA=tA
OncoVent USA Inc. USA 20,000 shares - 54% Biopharmaceutical R&D
%6 20,0008 B (7 G2 g

11 August 2016
—2-"E/\At-H

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
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31 December 2024

—E oW EF—A=+—H

1. 2AREEER (#F)

(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ 2 8 BROLER/ RDEEE
£ MEUREE R EMER BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi EE:3
Shenzhen Ruidi Biomedical Co., Ltd.*,** PRC/ USD14,117,647 51% - Biopharmaceutical production,
R TREENEEER A Chinese Mainland 14,117 647% T sales and R&D
RE/HE R EMHBNEE  HERWE
2 July 2018
—Z-\¥$tAZH
Arimab USA Inc. USA 100 shares = 51% Biopharmaceutical R&D
e 1008 Bz 3 Y REERE
10 December 2018
“Z-\f+ZA+H
Hepalink Pharmaceutical Hong Kong 1 share = 100% Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited B 18R B& REER
BERBE(FE)ERAH 8 December 2019
“Z-NE+TZANE
Hepalink Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 share = 100% Investment holding
BERREBRAF BE 1R AR 4 RERR
8 December 2019
ZZ-NE+ZANE
Cytovance Cayman, Inc. Cayman Islands 1 share = 100% Investment holding
REHE 1R RERR
12 August 2019
ZZ2-nENATZH
Techdow USA INC. USA 1,000 shares - 100% Investment holding and trading of
e 1,0008% & 17 biopharmaceutical products
25 June 2021 RERBRRENEEERES
ZZ-—-fXAZThA
Hepalink Capital | Inc. Cayman Islands UsD50,000 - 100% Investment holding
HEES 50,000 7T RERR
2 September 2021
“Z--FAAZH
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31 December 2024
—FE-AFEf+—HA=+—H
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER (&)
(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ 2 8 BROLER/ RDEEE
£ MBHARLE EMER BRES N TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi EE:3
Hepalink Healthcare Partners | L.P. Cayman Islands - - 100% Investment holding
HEHs REER
8 September 2021
ZTZ-%¥NANA
Hepalink Biotechnology | Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
BE 1RR D REER
24 September 2021
“E--F#nA-TMA
Hepalink Biotechnology Il Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
BE 1RR D REER
24 September 2021
B -#nA-TMA
Hepalink Capital Il Inc. Cayman Islands USD50,000 - 100% Investment holding
HEHS 50,000% 7T REER
September 2 2021
“Z--FhNA-H
Hepalink Healthcare Partners II L.P. Cayman Islands - - 100% Investment holding
HEHE RERR
September 8 2021
=E==4EN SN
Hepalink Biotechnology IIf Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding
Bk 1R AR {7 RERR
September 24 2021
“E_—fhA-TMmA
Shenzhen Topknow Industrial PRC/ RMB902,000,000 100% = Biopharmaceutical R&D
Development Co., Ltd.* ** Chinese Mainland AE#902,000,0007T BB
AT ELEXERBRAA RE /AR
June 7 2000
ZZRREALH
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REIREEER (&)

(Continued)

Date and place
of incorporation/

registration and place

Issued
ordinary share/

Percentage of equity

Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ A8 BRAZER/ RDEEE
£ MEUREE R HMEE BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi EE:3
Shenzhen Techdow Pharmaceutical Co., PRC/ RMB768,000,000 - 100% Biopharmaceutical R&D
2,0 Chinese Mainland AEH#768,000,0007 EMREH %
RITREBEBEBR AR HE/ B R
29 June 2004
ZZTWERAZTAA
Techdow (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK 233,960,000 - 100% Investment holding and trading
B 233,960,000/ 7t of medical products
22 May 2013 BREEREREERES
—Z-=fRA-1+=A
Techdow Europe AB Sweden SEK100,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
T 100,0003 42 52 BEERES
12 June 2014
ZZ-mESATZH
Hepalink (Shanghai) Co,. Ltd.*,** PRC/ RMB1,000,000 - 100% Provision of services on
BER(EB)ELER DA Chinese Mainland AE#1,000,0007T pharmaceutical related activities
e/ E R, REEMABED RS
5 March 2012
—T-—_%=-R7HA
Techdow Pharma Poland Sp.zo.0. Poland PLN7,359,000 = 100% Trading of medical products
il 7,359,000% 12 BREME S
12 October 2016
“E-RETATZH
Techdow Pharma Netherlands B.V. Netherlands EUR480 - 100% Trading of medical products
HH 4808 T BRERES
6 June 2017
“Z—t4,AKRAE
TD Pharma B.V. Netherlands EUR480 = 100% Investment holding
G 480BA T RERR
22 November 2016
ZT-RE
T=H=T=R
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAREEEH (&
(Continued)
Date and place
of incorporation/ Issued
registration and place ordinary share/ Percentage of equity
Name of operations registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
B/ A8 BRAZER/ KA R
£ MEUREE R HMEE BEAAL TEER
Direct Indirect
Hi M
Techdow Pharma England Limited England EUR1,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
Lt 1,0008 7T REERES
6 December 2016
ZT-RE+tZARAH
Techdow Pharma Spain, S.L. Spain EUR3,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
ERF 3,0008(7T BEERES
23 January 2017
“E—tF-A-1+=H
Techdow Pharma Germany GmbH Germany EUR25,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
g 25,00080 7T BREERES
13 December 2016
ZE-RETZAT=H
Techdow Pharma ltaly S.R.L. Italy EUR10,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
BEAM 10,0081 7t BREMES
4 April 2017
“Z—+5MAMA
Techdow Pharma Switzerland GmbH Switzerland CHF20,000 - 100% Trading of medical products
It 20,0008 T)EED BEEMRS
23 March 2017
=G=tE=H=T=E
o The English names of these subsidiaries registered in the PRC represent the translated * RABRZMANZEF e EXRTEAHE
names of these companies as no English names have been registered. # o AR AR T R AE -
& The company is registered as a limited liability company in the PRC. * % ZATIETEGAMAEREEAR
***  The company is registered as a limited partnership in the PRC. kN RERBEEMAEBREE QA -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion FRIIWEEEZ AU AREEEBERE
of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a HEYERANEEBEEZEEANL D
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other HWARATFAG - EERA " IBREHEM
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of FATNEFEBEENEREE

excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), (which include all
International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB") and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income, derivative financial instruments and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in
control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

B 75 2 M 5
31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H

& HE

P

FRAMBHRRDBEEE S ENEE
2 ((ERETENEES ) M EE
MR EEAN((ERTBHREER)])
(BEMECERMBRE L) - (EE
SRR (KEBREFHER) ) FEgE)

ARBEBCRBHEHD BB TR ERREH -
BB TS8R Ty IR IR S Bk A B B 4R
SOEEEALCABEFEAREE §JJ*+

AEMzmEENRERE 142
TARNUNAARBEAEAHEE @J.ﬁr)\”“
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets
(including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognizes the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of
components previously recognized in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first time for the

current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16
CEIRR BT 5 3R 52 R D B 1657 BB ET
Amendments to IAS 1

(&

9 L =
RE A

Amendments to IAS 1
(BB s ERI)E 15 AEE]
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

EROEFHHERE

Amendments”)
EBYE1RNERT

(BB g st QD) B 79 KBBR8 5 i 22 A1) REB AL
SET7REMER]
(@) Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee

uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount
of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the
Group has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the
date of initial application of IFRS 16, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity
instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a convertible
liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms
of a liability not impact its classification.

The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H

2. S5EE(HE)
22 SRR RBBESHET

RE BN AEE B IHE B BRI A
TRIETCKEBR B RELER) -

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020

HWEESERTBIFRE ([—FE=FFEFT))
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
WERZENIETEEE ([ ZF=ZFEFT))

Supplier Finance Arrangements

(BB RS ER)F1658 2 &
FIAIRE T —ABEAREEERR
HRZHELNHEE | BRARA
MRTE - ATEIRE 5 — AT HE
REERE L BEARENEMAE
@ o HRAKE B B XERBCER
I mEER)F165% 2 BRI &
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FEETEAREENF RN E KRR
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities as
at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the classification of its
liabilities as current or non-current remained unchanged upon initial
application of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of supplier
finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have
supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did not have any
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. SITHE(E)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 BRATEERERVCEER
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING B8R 5 A
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that have been issued REBRKREMBEREPHEAUTEE
but are not yet effective, in the financial statements. The Group intends to M5B (8 R A AT R T RIS BT B9 B BR B
apply these revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective. BREERD) - REBBBERZELIBE]

(BB B A5 3R 5 2E R ) (038 R ) A B g
Rz SR -

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements®
(BB B 75 3R 5 22 BI ) 52 1855% B #7692 5 K 1% 553
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures?
CEIBR B 75 3R 5 22 R D 22195 HRRZRELFLA]  FE
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments?
CER B B 75 ¥R & 22 A1) 2895 e AT AZ R EEET
CEUBR B 75 #2522 I ) BB 7 5% S T
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity?
CEIBR B 5 3R 2 22 A1) 85957 BRIKIEEREEIREEE T2 &
CEIBR B #5325 2 A BB 7R S T
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture?

(B BHREERDF100 RKBER G ER) REFHABLENFXE EPFZ B EREXTE

SE285R IS AT
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’
(BB S5 ER)E 215 H1EET Al
Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 72
Standards — Volume 11
(EIBR BT 75 3 & 2 Rl ) & 51 2 AY 4F J2 20 (BIBR B s s 2RI 157 - KBIBRBA S S5 2 RI) 75, - KBRS &
—FE11H AR FEI5E « (BB R E 2RI E 105 R(RBR 5T 2R E 758 A5 5]2
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 v RZTF_HAF—A— B ZERBNEE
HYRR £ K
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 2 RZF_AF—A— B ZERBNEE
HARE A R
3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 3 RZF_+F—A—HAZERBNEE
/R HAR A
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption 9 i) 7K 75 T 54 il 1% A 2% B BR (B AT R ER 4R
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable to
the Group is described below.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While a number
of sections have been brought forward from IAS 1 with limited changes, IFRS
18 introduces new requirements for presentation within the statement of
profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and
discontinued operations and to present two new defined subtotals. It also
requires disclosures about management-defined performance measures in a
single note and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping
(aggregation and disaggregation) and the location of information in both the
primary financial statements and the notes. Some requirements previously
included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as |IAS 8 Basis of
Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of
IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made to IAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows, |AS 33 Earnings per Share and IAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments
to other IFRSs. IFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other IFRSs are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The Group is
currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the impact of IFRS 18
on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other IFRSs. To be eligible, at the end of the
reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public accountability and
must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply with IFRSs. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible
to elect to apply IFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of IFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date on which a financial asset
or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy
option to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through an electronic
payment system before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The
amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of
financial assets with environmental, social and governance and other similar
contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually
linked instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures for
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent features.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to
opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated and can only
be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments related to the
classification of financial assets is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity clarify the application - scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for
in-scope contracts. The amendments also include additional disclosures that
enable performance and future cash flows. The amendments relating to the
own-use exception shall be applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. The amendments relating to the hedge accounting shall be applied

prospectively to new hedging relationships designated on or after the date of
initial application. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7 shall be applied at the same time. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact Or add the expected impact upon
initial application.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between the
requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor's
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a currency
is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate a spot
exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of
translation differences accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 set out
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance on
implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the amendments
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

J IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of IFRS 7 and paragraphs
IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 for the
purpose of simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and terminology
used in other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the
requirements in the referenced paragraphs of IFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

o IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that when a
lessee has determined that a lease liability has been extinguished in
accordance with IFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3
of IFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In
addition, the amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A of IFRS 9 to remove potential
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

° IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments clarify
that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of IFRS 10 is just one
example of various relationships that might exist between the investor
and other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph B73 of
IFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

o IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the term “cost
method” with "at cost”
deletion of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

in paragraph 37 of IAS 7 following the prior

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not necessary not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and
over which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates is included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in the
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other case,
Upon loss of significant influence over the associates, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investments at their fair values. Any difference
between the carrying amounts of the associate upon loss of significant
influence and the fair values of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method,
except for business combination under common control. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of
the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set
of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and
liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation
of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an
asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

An acquisition of a business which is a business combination under common
control is accounted for in a manner similar to a uniting of interests whereby
the assets and liabilities acquired are accounted for at carryover predecessor
values to the other party in the business combination within all periods
presented as if the operations of the Group and the business acquired had
always been combined. The difference between the consideration paid by the
Group and the net assets or liabilities of the business acquired is adjusted
against equity. Contingent consideration from the business combination
under common control is recognised in equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to
those units or groups of units.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. The recoverable amount of the CGUs has been determined based on
the higher of the value in use (“VIU") and fair value less costs of disposal
("FVLCD"). In measuring VIU, the Group bases cash flow projections on the
most recent financial budgets/forecasts covering a period of five years, or a
period longer than five years if it is justifiable, which takes into account the
length of the post projection period for the cash flow into perpetuity, and
this shall be achieved by identifying a “steady state” set of assumptions for
the cash flows and applying a terminal value multiple to those cash flows.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on
the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income, derivative financial instruments and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a
recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each of reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required (other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD"), and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of
an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of the key management personnel of the Group or
of a parent of the Group;

or
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity
is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personal services to the Group or to
the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as

follows:
Land Not depreciated
Buildings 2.38%-4.75%

9.50%-19.00%
9.50%-19.00%
9.50%-19.00%
2.33%-33.33%

Machine equipment
Motor vehicles

Other equipment
Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

least at each financial year end.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of other intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
other intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Other
intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the other intangible assets may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for other intangible assets with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such other
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of other intangible assets
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
of 10 to 20 years.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(Continued)

Computer software

Acquired computer software is stated at historical cost less amortisation.
Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred
to acquire and bring to use the specific software, and is amortised on a
straight-line basis over the useful life of 3 to 10 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks are initially recognised and measured at costs incurred to
register. The costs are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Proprietary technologies

Proprietary technologies invested by minority shareholders are recognised at
fair vales assessed on the investment day or at cost of getting the medicine
licences from the related authorities. Proprietary technologies are amortised
on the straight-line basis over the respective estimated useful lives of 10 to
30 years, and the useful lives of the proprietary technologies are assessed by
the Group after considering the useful lives of similar technologies and the
market condition.

Brands

Brands acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The brands have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the expected life of 15 years for the brands.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relationships have
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected
life of 15 years for the customer relationships.

The estimated useful life of other intangible assets is determined by
considering the period of the economic benefits to the Group or the periods
of validity of intangible assets protected by the relevant laws, as well as by
referring to the industry practice.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(Continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and
deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to
complete the project and the Group's ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a
right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Properties 2 to 17 years
Equipment 2 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 2 to 4 years

Leasehold land 30 to 50 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of
the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease
at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term.
The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to
be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to
reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease or
a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases.
When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention in the market place
(regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity
investments as equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the statement
of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value through

other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which
the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or
non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a
separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the
embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset
host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host together with
the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its entirety as a
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from

the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

J The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in
full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset
or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could

be required to repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 S 2= B 5T
31 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs") for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has
not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information.
The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments
are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by
the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but

that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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37 December 2024
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts due to related parties
and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

(i) Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7

2.
2.4

SRTBR (&)
EXEBE(E

THMEE

WG ER R 2
SREBRVBERBSERIAR LB

EFfEAEEHFATHERNTSRA
B EREEH BN RAREARY

SRR E AP TAMSTET A (INRE
) .

MESRMEBENTIEAABEER M
HERRERREN AT S - AR
BEERELHRFIEAR -

AEENERAEERFEESENNEA -
HAib ERFRIA - 5 RRT REMER
EfEARE D RIEREEAE -

RETE

CREENRENEIVRNATSE

() HEHHA BT HR
& (E5REMENATE
AR AE )
MR - B SR AN KRB
DA BT B B 14 DA RS U8R
BHERAHE  EHURTEBE
BRBIRA A TR - B B (AR L TR
A RIRE IR ROKE T T
B - Moak RATIEAMB SR AR -

BHR AT AT RSB RO (T RE 3R X

i B N A BRR M R AER B H) B A
KA E - BERAEEHFTA
BaERPREKA °



Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out in
“Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an

intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 S 2= B 5T
37 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as warrants. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken
directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as
defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of each of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

purposes.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item,
it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the

statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods
or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount
of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled in exchange
for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Sale of products

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the products.

Some contracts for the sale of industrial products provide customers
with rights of return and volume rebates, giving rise to variable
consideration.

CDMO services

The Group earns revenues by providing research services to its
customers through fee-for-service (“FFS") contracts. Contract duration
ranges from a few months to years. Under the FFS model, the contracts
usually have multiple task units, which are generally in the form of
technical laboratory reports and/or samples, each of which is with an
individual selling price specified within the contract. The Group
identifies each task unit as a separate performance obligation. The
revenue is recognised over time, as the Group’s performance has
created an asset with no alternative use and the Group has an
enforceable right to payments for performance completed to date. The
selection of the method to measure progress towards completion
requires judgement and is based on the nature of the products or
services to be provided. Depending on which better depicts the
transfer of value to the customer, the Group generally measures its
progress using cost-to-cost (input method).

Under the input method, the Group uses the known cost measure of
progress when it best depicts the transfer of value to the customer
which occurs as the Group incurs costs on its contract; and under the
cost-to-cost measure of progress, the extent of progress towards
completion is measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to
the total estimated costs at completion of the performance obligation.
Revenue is recorded proportionally as costs are incurred.

The Group also enters into commercial manufacturing contracts, and
engages in the manufacturing and sale of products under customers’
specific order. The Group recognised revenue at the point in time upon
acceptance of the deliverable products under customers’ specific order.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(c) Other services
The other service between the Group and its customers usually include
drug marketing service and consultation service, etc. The Group
recognised revenue during the service period in the amount to which it
is entitled.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the contract terms,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. They
are reclassified to trade receivables when the right to the consideration
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is
due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme. Employees (including the
Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of equity-settled
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date on which they are granted. The fair value is computed based on their
most recent post-money valuations.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Cash-settled scheme

A liability is recognised for the fair value of cash-settled transactions. The fair
value is measured initially at the grant date and at each reporting date up to
and including the settlement date using the Black-Scholes formula (note 34).
The fair value is expensed over the period until the vesting date with
recognition of a corresponding liability. The cumulative expense recognised
for cash-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of awards that will ultimately vest.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group'’s subsidiaries which operates in Hong Kong operate a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees'
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operates in Chinese
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined contribution
plans organised by the relevant governmental authorities in various areas
other than Chinese Mainland. The Group’s liability in respect of these plans is
limited to the contributions payable at the end of each reporting period.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.

Housing fund — Chinese Mainland

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to a defined contribution housing
fund plan operated by the local municipal government. Contributions to this
plan by the Group are expensed as incurred.

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit retirement plans is
calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of the future
benefit that employees have earned in return for their services in the current
and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine the present value,
and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The calculation is performed
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the
calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited
to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations (Continued)
Service cost and net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit
liability/(asset) are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by function as
part of “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution expenses” or “administrative
expenses”. Current service cost is measured as the increase in the present
value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from the employee service in
the current period. When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan
is curtailed, the portion of the changed benefit related to the past service
provided by employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as
an expense in profit or loss at the earlier of when the plan amendment or
curtailment occurs and when related restructuring costs or termination
benefits are recognised. Net interest expense/(income) for the period is
determined by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined
benefit obligation at the beginning of the reporting period on high quality
corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the
Group's obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement plans are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains
and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net
interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset) and any change in the
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the
net defined benefit liability/asset).

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
note 13 to the financial statements. Interim dividends are simultaneously
proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of initial
transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the
extent that the differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has
made the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the
determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with
customers:

(@) Determining the timing of satisfaction of performance
obligations
The Group has different contractual arrangements with different
customers. In determining the timing of satisfaction of performance
obligations, management reviews the contract terms of each individual
contract.

For certain types of revenue under CDMO services, the Directors have
recognised revenue upon the present right to payment for the CDMO
services and the point in time when a customer obtains control of the
goods or services. For revenue under the FFS model, the Directors have
determined that performance obligations are satisfied over time.
Significant judgement is required in determining whether the terms of
the Group's contracts with customers in relation to certain types of
revenue under the FFS model create an enforceable right to payment
for the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b) Determining the method for measuring progress towards
complete satisfaction of performance obligations
Depending on which better depicts the transfer of value to the
customer, the Directors make judgement to measure the progress of
the projects using the input method. Input methods recognise revenue
based on an entity’s efforts or inputs towards satisfying a performance
obligation relative to the total expected efforts or inputs to satisfy the
performance obligation. If an entity does not have a reasonable basis
to measure its progress, the Group recognises revenue up to the
amount of the costs incurred, until progress can be reasonably
measured.

Business model

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
Group's business model for managing the financial assets. In determining the
business model, the Group considers how the performance of the business
model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated
and reported to the Group’s key management personnel, the risks that affect
the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within)
and, in particular, the way those risks are managed and how managers of
the business are compensated. In determining whether cash flows are going
to be realised by collecting the financial assets’ contractual cash flows, it is
necessary for the Group to consider the reason, timing, frequency, and value
of sales prior to maturity date.

Characteristics of contract cash flow

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics, and judgement is
required to determine whether they are “solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding”. The Group needs to
determine whether the resulting cash flows from those of an instrument with
modified time value of money element are significantly different from an
instrument that has an unmodified time value of money element when
assessing modification to time value of money element, and the Group needs
to determine whether the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant
when assessing a financial asset with a prepayment feature.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7

EXgsHHE R MG (&

H i (&)

EFERRA (&)

(b) BEGEZETKETTIE
HIE TR %
BT EES R A B b HBRES
WREE  EEEREAELH
B RIEREE - BAKRER
AETBOEELFN NS R
NEHRBETBOEENESRS N
R ABEMERUA - MREE
REAREERGRER  FEH
DA EE MO AR S HE A LR AR
RN - EEEFENARIES
ke

REL

RNBERE  SREENBIOARA
SEEEZSTEREENEBRA - &£
MEXBEAR  AEEZE N[
EBEAREZEBEAATANSH
BENKRAITAAEENTEZEREASR
wmE FEREBER (REZEBERX
AFENEREE) WRAZEAR - (L
HR)NAEEZERRE - AKEBEER
AWAESHE EHRERSREES
RBBRBREREENARARSRENR
BRR AKEALEREEHA ZA
HEWRE - KE - EXREE-

BEBEERERY
RAETERE  SREESFEIVRRE
MEENARBRSREBSY B
HREMRAZNASRAEERASH
FlE ] o Tl SIS E SN - A28
RTINS EN T ARELY
ReRBRRHABREEHENTA
BEEAZR  EFHAGAENKES
MMSREER AEETEREAM
RERUNARBERTLTEAX -



Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Determining significant influence over entities in which
the Group holds less than 20% equity interest

Despite the fact that the Group’s direct or indirect equity interest in Quest
PharmaTech Inc. (hereafter, the “Quest”) was 14.78% which was lower
than 20%, the Group had significant influence with a board representative
assigned and had the right to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the Quest PharmaTech Inc.

Determining no significant influence over entities in
which the Group holds more than 20% equity interest
Despite the fact that the Group’s direct or indirect equity interests in TPG
Biotechnology Partners V, L.P, TPG Biotechnology Partners IV, L.P, ORI
Healthcare Fund, L.P., Beijing Maple Sea Capital Equity Investment Fund
Partnership (Limited Partnership) and ORI Healthcare Fund I, L.P. were
68.52%, 20%, 2
than 20%, the Group, as the limited partner, is entitled to investment return,

0%, 24.69% and 30.65%, respectively, which were more

but has no right or power to participate in the management or control of
these entities. Therefore, the Group has no significant influence over these
entities.

Determining no significant influence over entities in
which the Group has a board seat

Despite the fact that the Group has a board seat in Shenzhen Top Dental
Medical Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Heart Network Technology Co., Ltd., the
Group determined to have no significant influence over these entities after
taking into account all the facts and circumstances, such as the percentage
of equity interest, the composition of the boards and decision-making
mechanism and the way of the Group’s nominated Director participating in
board meeting.

Determining indicators of impairment for investments in
associates

The Group determined whether there are indicators of impairment for
investments in associates at the end of each reporting period. Indicators of
impairment included, but not limited to serious deterioration of financial
condition of the associates, significant drop in share prices, adverse changes
in the industry market environment and other circumstances indicated that
the associates are unable to generate economic benefits for the Group.
When such an indicator exists, the Group tested its investments in associates
for impairment by comparing the estimated recoverable amounts with the
carrying amounts. An impairment exists when the carrying value of
investments in associates exceeds its recoverable amount.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual
basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of
goodwill at 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB2,357,034,000 (2023:
approximately RMB2,322,375,000). Further details are given in note 17 to
the financial statements.

Post-employment benefit obligations

The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors
that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions.
The discount rate is one of the assumptions used in determining the net cost
(income) for pensions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the
carrying amount of pension obligations.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year.
This is the interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of
estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group
considers using market yields at the end of each reporting period on high
quality United States corporate bonds of SPL Acquisition Corp., which is also
the currency that benefits will be paid, and make sure terms of corporate
bonds will match the estimated term of defined benefit plan.

Other key assumptions for pension obligations are partially based on current
market conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms
of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates,
forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables and other receivables is disclosed in notes 24, 26 and 43 to the
financial statements, respectively.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning

strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax
losses at 31 December 2024 was RMB567,087,000(2023: RMB318,139,000).
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2024 was
RMB299,400,000 (2023: RMB260,444, 000). Further details are given in note
33 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on a market-based
valuation technique as detailed in note 43 to the financial statements. The
valuation requires the Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group makes estimates
about the discount for illiquidity and size differences. The Group classifies
the fair value of these investments as Level 2 and 3. The fair value of the
unlisted equity investments at 31 December 2024 was approximately
RMB1,381,511,000 (2023: approximately RMB1,509,367,000). Further
details are given in notes 20, 21, and 43 to the financial statements.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy
for research and development costs as detailed in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. Determining the amounts to be capitalised requires management
to make assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the
assets, the discount rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits.
The carrying amount of capitalised development costs at 31 December 2024
was RMB5,104,000 (2023: RMB18,643,000).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all
non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other
non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of inventories

Inventories of the Group are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable
value. Management estimates the net realisable value for raw materials,
work-in progress and finished goods based primarily on the current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review by category on each
balance sheet date and will write down obsolete and slow-moving items in
inventories to net realisable value.
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Notes to Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based
on their products and services and has four reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@)  The finished dose pharmaceutical products segment mainly includes
enoxaparin sodium injection.

(b)  The active pharmaceutical ingredients segment includes standard
heparin sodium active pharmaceutical ingredients, and enoxaparin
sodium active pharmaceutical ingredients.

() The CDMO segment includes R&D, manufacturing, quality
management, program management and commercial manufacture
under customers’ specific orders.

(d)  The "others” segment.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss
before tax from continuing operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax
from continuing operations is measured consistently with the Group’s profit
before tax except that other income and gains, selling and distribution
expenses, administrative expenses, impairment losses on financial assets,
other expenses, finance costs and share of profits and losses of associates are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits,
deferred tax assets, equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income, derivative financial instruments, financial and
contract assets at fair value through profit or loss and other unallocated head
office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, tax
payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling
prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing market
prices.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4., BESHER (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-_MF+-A=+—HLFE
Finished dose Active
pharmaceutical  pharmaceutical
Segﬁments products ingredients Others Total
ENEA R# CDMO H CEl
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETR ARBTR ARBT R AR®TR

Segment revenue: FHRA :
Sales to external customers ETIEER 2,986,129 1,065,692 1,033,790 173,308 5,258,919
Intersegment sales N EREE 4,158,483 2,320,102 128 241,719 6,720,432
Total segment revenue BABRA 7,144,612 3,385,794 1,033,918 415,027 11,979,351
Reconciliation: Uik
Elimination of intersegment sales BEN e (6,720,432)
Revenue from contracts with customers B ARMA 5,258,919
Segment results PHEE 1,007,545 551,056 370,455 118,971 2,048,027
Reconciliation: Uik
Elimination of intersegment results %Hﬁ/‘* MEE (308,713)
Other income and gains, net HE A\ R F 8 531,444
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERY (389,441)
Administrative expenses lGE (638,465)
Impairment losses on financial assets SREENESE (58,542)
Impairment losses on associates BENRHERS (85,517)
Impairment losses on property, plantand 9% « BE K& B\ &

equipment and other intangible assets EhEREEN

RERE (55,365)

Other expenses AtFIX (30,174)
Finance costs BERA (145,205)
Share of losses of associates FE(RESE 1\ BB 1R (141,820)
Group's profit before tax SEBADER 726,229
Segment assets AHEE 5,080,997 10,525,204 2,975,840 3,958,088 22,540,129
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment receivables m%%ﬁ R st IE (12,216,851)
Corporate and other unallocated assets AR REMADEEE 7,020,246
Total assets BEAE 17,343,524
Segment liabilities AHEE 2,913,351 3,650,387 363,242 2,684,770 9,611,750
Reconciliation: H
Elimination of intersegment payables ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁgﬂ B (6,636,193)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilites R REMASEEE 2,165,846
Total liabilities SELE 5,141,403
Other segment information 8p)
Impairment losses recognised in the TE miﬁ& MEBE

statement of profit or loss, net 4 51,178 76,342 71,900 199,424
Depreciation and amortisation Tﬁ%éﬁﬁfﬁ 51,402 93,261 171,041 19,205 334,909
Investments in associates REE AT 2 RE 350,320
Capital expenditure* BARRZ 12,051 213,356 78,338 1,691 305,436
i As at 31 December 2024, capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * R-ZTE-_ME+-A=+—8 EAHAXE

and other intangible assets.
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REDIER (HF)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-=F+-A=+—-HLFE
Finished dose Active
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
Segments products ingredients Others Total
pal: | ZYR R CDMO Hth GHI
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue: AHEA :
Sales to external customers ETIHNBE 2,979,030 1,307,343 966,952 177,649 5,430,974
Intersegment sales DEEHE 3,469,110 2,137,584 1,309 270,601 5,878,604
Total segment revenue BABRA 6,448,140 3,444,927 968,261 448,250 11,309,578
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment sales BiHDBEHE (5,878,604)
Revenue from contracts with customers B ARYMA 5,430,974
Segment results FREE 1,224,118 (405,677) 213,038 59,932 1,091,411
Reconciliation: iR
Elimination of intersegment results BHABEEE (150,515)
Other income and losses LN 6 222,317
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERY (517,416)
Administrative expenses G (674,546)
Impairment losses on financial assets SREEREFR (22,548)
Impairment losses on goodwill HEREFR (68,155)
Impairment losses on associates BERAHERE (9,801)
Impairment losses on property, plantand ~ #1% « liE RREALE
equipment and other intangible assets {0 & EEFERE (44,515)
Other expenses HtR% (78,528)
Finance costs BERAK (228,087)
Share of profits and losses of associates ~ FE/LHEE A B & FI R BB (447,951)
Group's loss before tax SERABE (928,334)
Segment assets AHEE 4,888,040 11,710,207 2,392,778 1,152,181 20,143,206
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment receivables ¥ 3% 2 el fE Ll 208 (6,149,428)
Corporate and other unallocated assets AR REMAD I EE 5,209,639
Total assets EEAE 19,203,417
Segment liabilities SBEE 2,846,630 3,822,929 421,666 2,684,939 9,776,164
Reconciliation: HEE:
Elimination of intersegment payables B0 S BN SR (7,390,598)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities AR R EMAS i AE 4,829,474
Total liabilities BEAE 7,215,040
Other segment information Hit A HER
Impairment losses recognised in the REERERZ
statement of profit or loss, net HEERFE 3,859 28,520 68,490 44,150 145,019
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 50,921 104,098 84,492 138,337 377,848
Investments in associates RBENRIZRE 1,004,046
Capital expenditure* ERMX* 381,103 31,561 41,399 15,783 469,846
@ As at 31 December 2023, capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * R-EBE-_=F+_"A=+—H BEXHEX

and other intangible assets.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION ResER (F)

(Continued)
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

EHER

(a) KEINEEFHRA

2024 2023

—E-mE —E=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® T ARBF T

Hong Kong BE 7.204 18,098
United States of America ESJEd 1,430,427 1,277,604
Europe B 2,372,846 2,615,709
Chinese Mainland B A At 339,157 397,837
Other countries/regions HtER, & 1,109,285 1,121,726
Total revenue FEU N 5,258,919 5,430,974

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

customers.

PR AER T ERET P FEL

F o

(b) Non-current assets (b) ¥ REEE
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% T ARBFIT
Chinese Mainland ailnp: i) 2,570,952 2,878,234
United States of America EH 3,291,361 3,356,795
Europe BOM 100,856 126,362
Hong Kong BB 3,397 407,322
Total non-current assets IERMBEEMRE 5,966,566 6,768,713

BB LIRS EEERTY
%Fﬁ?ﬁﬁ%‘tuﬁ TEESHET
EEMBREE °

The non-current asset information of continuing operations above is
based on the locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments
and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue of approximately

RMB561,367,000 derived from sales to a single external customer, including B REEAA10%BA F#)E—INER

sales to a group of entities which are known to be under common control 2R (BERE MEZE P S F 2

with that customer, accounted for more than 10% of the total revenue. M—HEENHEE) HNIKANAE AR
561,367,0007T °

FEEEEFWEHR
RBE-F-_WF+-A=+—ALF

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no revenue derived REBEZE-ZE_=F+-A=+—HIEF
ﬂ-lﬂxaﬁﬂ%Am%utmﬁ—
INBEP (BERBEHEZEST KR

il B — A E R HE) WA o

from sales to a single external customer, including sales to a group of entities
which are known to be under common control with that customer,
accounted for more than 10% of the total revenue.
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5. REVENUE 5. WA
Revenue from contracts with customers ZESREWA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) ZEHKAEZH
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z_NE+-HA=+—-HL
FE
Finished dose Active
pharmaceutical ~ pharmaceutical
Segments products ingredients Others Total
2% L2k S RR& CDMO Hite At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBFR

Types of goods or services ELEL Y]

Sale of products Em#HE 2,986,129 1,065,692 - 105,716 4,157,537
CDMO services CDMOR7% - - 1,033,790 - 1,033,790
Others Hith = = - 67,592 67,592
Total B 2,986,129 1,065,692 1,033,790 173,308 5,258,919

Timing of revenue recognition W ARERE &

Products transferred at ERERAREY
a point in time BRER 2,986,129 1,065,692 - 105,716 4,157,537
Services transferred at TR AR
a point in time BB R - - 574,739 21,761 596,500
Services transferred over time BERREB R - - 459,051 45,831 504,882
Total ok 2,986,129 1,065,692 1,033,790 173,308 5,258,919
o With respect to the geographical information regarding to revenue from & B 2R B SN 5 B A Y [ 15 &
external customers, please refer to the Note 4 OPERATING SEGMENT B B2 EARE S HER
INFORMATION
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31 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) ZESREWA (&)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) ZEKAEZH (F)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_T-_=F+=-A=+—H1t
FE
Finished dose Active

pharmaceutical pharmaceutical

Segments products ingredients Others Total
paxi @y ¥ CDMO i &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARETFT ARETR ARETT ARETFT

Types of goods or services ELELE Y]

Sale of products Em#EE 2,979,030 1,307,343 - 128,685 4,415,058
CDMO services CDMORR# = - 966,952 - 966,952
Others Hit - - - 43,964 48,964
Total ok 2,979,030 1,307,343 966,952 177,649 5,430,974
Timing of revenue recognition W ARERE &
Products transferred at TR AR
a point in time BBEM 2,979,030 1,307,343 - 128,685 4,415,058
Services transferred at TR AR
a point in time BB R = - 456,111 13,818 469,929
Services transferred over time RER e R - - 510,841 35,146 545,987
Total B3 2,979,030 1,307,343 966,952 177,649 5,430,974
* With respect to the geographical information regarding to revenue from @ BN K BN E P AW R 5 &
external customers, please refer to the Note 4 OPERATING SEGMENT B B2 MK R S BER
INFORMATION
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised during
the current reporting period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H

5. WA (&)
BEFERWA (&)

(i)

ZERAEZH (&)
TRETESEREHNCHAS
WEELAE LM BITNAL
AT BT E AT IR S HR R R
WA HE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥®T AREF T
Revenue recognised that was included in the 5+ AFHE #) B &L
contract liabilities balance at the beginning B R U A :
of the year:
Sale of products Emigs 22,859 17,724
CDMO services CDMOAR T 344,743 423,216
Total B 367,602 440,940
Performance obligations (i) BHEMF

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised
below:

Sale of products

The performance obligation is satisfied at the point when control of
asset is transferred to the customer.

CDMO services
For services under the FFS model, revenue is recognised over time, and
the performance obligation is a part of the contract that has an

original expected duration of one year or less. Therefore, under
practical expedients allowed by IFRS 15, the Group does not disclose
the value of unsatisfied performance obligations under the FFS model.

AEBENEENEMBRIT :

Em i &
BOREREREEEHESRE

PR -

CDMOMR 7%

BFFSER TORBM S - KABE
ZRMRBTER  ABOELAE
MBRFERRR T BB —FHAR
HER S - Bt RECHEBH
M IME R B 1SH A ITRE S
% ANE MR g WIFSIE R T 8 %
BHETHBEETRE -
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31 December 2024
—E_mES+_A=+—H
5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA (#)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFERIWA (&)
(ii) Performance obligations (Continued) (i) BHAEF (&)
CDMO services (Continued) COMOSR % (#&
For certain CDMO services, the Directors have determined that ETFCOMORRME » EFEHE
performance obligations are satisfied upon acceptance of the E o REXRFAEBITETHAR
deliverable products under customers’ specific orders, and therefore, NERE  BHETRIEEK -
the performance obligation is recognised as revenue at a point in time. It BHEEREEREEER A
KA o
The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance R+—A=+—BoBREFHELD
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are EE (KRBT ARET) IR
as follows: SEBHEAT :
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR T T
Within one year —FR 364,935 493,767
All the performance obligations are expected to be recognised within FBRAEMETEN—FAR T AR
one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include variable R FPMFIHBENSBETIRESR
consideration which is constrained. il #y P B E o
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B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2024
—EDmFES = A=+—H
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. HttW ARz FE
2024 2023
“EME —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARMET T
Other income H g A
Bank interest income RITHFE WA 44,375 39,521
Interest income from debt investment BREZENF B KA 3,384 -
Government grants related to ER AT A8 B ) BT #6 B)
— Assets* - EE* 2,195 2,672
— Income** N 7,537 19,343
Dividend income from financial assets at fair LA AR BEIEAEZFH:TAZH
value through profit or loss B emEENRSKRA 56,440 36,433
Total other income RNk 113,931 97,969
Other gains Hp gz
Foreign exchange gains, net B 5 s 5 B - 85,867
Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair HENUAABEIEEHLEFH AL
value through profit or loss B & & E K W 2,209 1,014
Fair value gains/(losses), net: DA EEKE(BE)  F58 -
Financial assets at fair value through NAREBEAEEEZHTA
profit or loss EHBERNeREE 131,138 17,724
Derivative instruments PTETA 8,486 (86)
Gains on disposal of investment in associates & R EE & A 7R A 8 W= 267,236 7,265
Others EAh 8,444 12,564
Total gains Wt #ER 417,513 124,348
Total other income and gains H A KWz 5 531,444 222,317

* %

The Group has received certain government grants related to assets to invest in
laboratory equipment and plant. The grants related to assets were recognised in profit
or loss over the useful lives of the relevant assets.

The government grants and subsidies related to income have been received to
compensate for the Group’s research and development costs. Certain of the grants
related to income have future related costs expected to be incurred and require the
Group to comply with conditions attached to the grants and the government to
acknowledge the compliance of these conditions. These grants related to income are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which they are intended to compensate, are expensed.

Other government grants related to income that are receivables as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivables.

* %

AEBEEGEAERBOETHRAR
B ARRARRETRBMIE - BEE
BN R ERRAESERFHNRE
R -

L Y ER B2 A AR A B B AT AR B AN A B - BA
FEAEENT RN o ERAEENE
THOEAEELERRAMOER @ A
2 S 5% (B8 ST 47 B MY A 40 1 - AR R
R AFVE T2 E M - ZFERAR
98 O 47 B 7E 5 178 1B 60 2 P A% STt A A PR
N - A RGBSR T ER o BUAREUE
B AEE BT B ((ERE AR
ERRAROHE  ARERAAEEE
BT 3285 1 3 4 R SR AR B AR AR ) FE EL X
RER AR N A SRR -

R M R L e B A AR A O R T 8 B (FE A
EREMNBEARBRNEE  ARERR
7 55 B BR AR B 75 S5 0 S R SRARRA AR AR )
EERBERFRPRENIARRER
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B 755 3 3= P 5
31 December 2024
—E_mES+_A=+—H
7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7. BATRE (&i8)
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBBOFATFE, (BEB) gk,
GITA) R TEEESEL :
2024 2023
—E-ME T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B AR® T AREFTT
Cost of inventories sold HEFERK A 2,800,180 3,721,533
Cost of services provided HEfH AR 75 89 B AR 719,425 768,545
Depreciation of property, M- REREETE
plant and equipment 15 240,864 283,414
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEEITE 16(a) 38,547 38,341
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hh B B 18 55,498 56,093
Research and development costs* it 3% Bk AN~ 212,036 182,433
Impairment losses on goodwill B EEE = 68,155
Impairment losses on property, plant and  #% - lE MR E &
equipment and other intangible assets HthmpEERERE 55,365 44,515
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR 5 B 6,410 8,640
Employee benefit expenses (including the EERAAX(BREER
Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration) : B F )
Salaries and other benefits TE&EREMEF 566,562 648,760
Pension scheme contributions, social R EMER - BT
welfare and other welfare** o E b 48 A+ 74,331 95,615
640,893 744,375
Rental expenses not included in the Rt AHEABHENHES
measurement of lease liabilities 3 2,734 3,749
Finance costs A& Ak R 9 145,205 228,087
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net fE N & 18, (e ) JF 78 6 12,840 (85,867)
Write-down of inventories to net realizable g7 & & 7] #15 )F &
value 7,607 855,380
Impairment losses on associates B N RREEE 85,517 9,801
Impairment (reversed)/losses on financial TREEREBE(EE),/
assets: &g
Impairment (reversed)/losses on trade B 5N ERE (ER),
receivables 518 24 (7,745) 712
Impairment losses on financial assets T AFER IR - H b FEYRIE
included in prepayments, other B Eth & 2 DA K FE AR BEBSE 75
receivables and other assets and due RENSEEREEIE
from related parties 66,287 21,836
58,542 22,548

@ WRKABBEGABRROTHRAX]
o

* Research and development costs are included in “Administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

*x B AE T BOL IR R AT AR B (F R
‘) BIERDRENHRFOKFE -

*x There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to
reduce the existing level of contributions.
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31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H
8. OTHER EXPENSES 8. HttBixx
An analysis of other expenses is as follows: HiRAZ DT :
2024 2023
—E-ME s S =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETF T
Special loss* Rl B 1R 15,560 74,524
Foreign exchange loss ME 5 &5 18 12,840 -
Others Hib 1,774 4,004
Total MBEt 30,174 78,528
@ Techdow Pharma Italy S.R.L. (“Techdow Italy”), a subsidiary of the Group, * A% B ¥ A FlTechdow Pharma Italy

SRLI(IREBEAMNDR=FZ_=F1+=
REBEREFHR  BRREEANAKE
BB A EREHIRRE - ERBBIEERE
FEBER TN ZEFA - 44491,1708
BUTREAE TN ZERITES - o

encountered telecommunication fraud in December 2023, during which the general
manager of Techdow lItaly overrode the internal control process and made various
payments without going through designated approval procedures. An aggregate
amount of approximately EUR11.7 million had been remitted to several counter-party
bank accounts. From which, approximately EUR1.99 million (equivalent to

o = T
RMB15,560,000) was included in other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024 @199?’ & E;*ﬁiﬁj AR ’%1_5,5(3),000
(2023: approximately EUR9.74 million (equivalent to RMB74,524,000)). BRI ABE=—F_WEF+-A=+—

BIEFENEMAZ(ZT =4 4974
BT (HE N ARYK74,524,0007T)) ©

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MEMAX

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEXKARITAOT
2024 2023
—E-NF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBF T

Interest expenses on: A TEEOF ST

Bank borrowings RITIER 129,878 185,053
Corporate bonds RAESH 6,612 33,342
Lease liabilities HEEE 4,695 4,824
Subtotal N 141,185 223,219
Other finance costs H B & KA 4,020 4,868
Total ast 145,205 228,087
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162

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
REMUNERATION

The remuneration of each Director and supervisor as recorded during the
year is set out below:

10. EEREEZH M

RNERNSENESREEHFHEINNT

2024 2023

—E-MF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETFT

Fees we 300 300

Other emoluments: Hi4 :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REMER 7,284 7,762

Performance related bonuses* A R AT* 6,175 4,628

Pension scheme contributions BRIREFTEIHK 194 199

Subtotal /INEF 13,653 12,589

Total st 13,953 12,889
* Certain executive Directors and supervisors of the Company are entitled to bonus * AARETHITEEREESHRES

payments which are determined as a percentage of the profit after tax of the Group.

(a) Independent non-executive Directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors during the year

A BAKERBRENE D LREE

() BYFHITESE
FRINTHIENTEFNES

were as follows: M
2024 2023
—EB-MEF —TE=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBF T
Mr. Chen Junfa (note (i) PR f& 5% 5 A (B EE(I)) = 42
Mr. Wang Zhaohui (note (i) T 50 A (M REG)) = 42
Mr. Huang Peng =i k& 100 58
Mr. Yi Ming Sk E 100 58
Mr. Lv Chuan =& A 100 100
Total & &t 300 300

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive Directors during the year (2023: nil).

Note:

(i) Resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 22 May 2023.
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31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H
10. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ 10. ESRESHM (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive Directors and supervisors (b) HITEERESE
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Year ended 31 December 2024 in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
BE-Z-ME+-A=+-H = 121 Bikg
LEE RENER BRBBREA STEIMR FMan
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AR®T R AR®T R AR¥T R
Executive Directors: ITES
Mr. Li Li FERE 2,277 1,437 25 3,739
Ms. Li Tan FRLL 1,223 1,221 17 2,461
Mr. Shan Yu BFEL 1,313 1,330 17 2,660
Mr. Zhang Ping REEE 1,750 1,972 47 3,769
Subtotal Nt 6,563 5,960 106 12,629
Supervisors: BEx
Mr. Zheng Zehui BEEELE 100 - - 100
Mr. Tang Haijun B EE 339 17 48 504
Ms. Su Jilan BLemzt 282 98 40 420
Subtotal et 721 215 88 1,024
Total X 7,284 6,175 194 13,653
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—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H
10. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ 10. ESREEHFM (&
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive Directors and supervisors (Continued) (b) HITEERES (&)
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits Related Scheme Total
Year ended 31 December 2023 in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
BE-T-_=F+-A=1—H e 2R RRE
HEE REMER Epies Al SRR Hoias
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETT
Executive Directors: BITES
Mr. Li Li TEEE 1,482 1,437 56 2,975
Ms. Li Tan ES G 1,223 1,222 9 2,454
Mr. Shan Yu BREE 1,309 1,330 8 2,647
Mr. Zhang Ping REEAE 3,026 425 43 3,494
Subtotal INEE 7,040 4,414 116 11,570
Supervisors: Ex
Mr. Zheng Zehui 2L 100 - - 100
Mr. Tang Haijun B EE 339 116 45 500
Ms. Su Jilan BBzt 283 98 38 419
Subtotal INEE 722 214 83 1,019
Total @t 7,762 4,628 199 12,589
There was no arrangement under which a Director or a supervisor FAMESENEZTHESR BN
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. XA HAZHE -
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—EomFEf—H=+—H
11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES M. EEBEEFMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2023: one) ME(ZEZ=F: —R)EZRAEHE
Directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 10 above. Details RERNK AL &= AT - EFHEF
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2023: four) highest BHEHREXHFI0 EH=ZF (ZE ==
paid employees who are not Directors of the Company are as follows: F OB WIARREENRSFHHIE
ERFAMFIFBLOT
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T AREFT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EREWMEF 8,907 12,038
Performance related bonuses BB TEAT 2,920 8,305
Pension scheme contributions BIRE IR 1,316 887
Total FES 13,143 21,230
The number of non-Director and non-chief executive highest paid employees FTNTEUATHEANEEERIEEENT
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: BAEGZ=FHMES ASBAT
Number of employees
EE®A
2024 2023
—E-MEF —EF-=
Nil to HKD3,500,000 £ %3,500,000% T = =
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 7T %4,000,0007% 7T = 1
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 4,000,001 7T 24,500,000/ 7T 2 =
HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 4,500,001 7T 25,000,000/ 7T = -
HKD5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000 5,000,001/% 7t £5,500,000/%8 7T = 1
HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000 5,500,001/% 7¢ £6,000,000/%8 7T 1 =
HKD6,000,001 to HKD6,500,000 6,000,001 7T 26,500,000 7T = -
HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000 6,500,001 7T 27,000,000/ 7T = 1
HKD7,000,001 to HKD7,500,000 7,000,001 7T 27,500,000 7T = 1
Total 5t 3 4
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B 7% o3k Y AT
31 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profit arising in or
derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group are domiciled
and operate.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the EIT rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% unless they are subject to tax exemption set out below.

The Company was accredited as a “High and New Technology Enterprise”
in 2018, the qualification of which was renewed in 2021 and 2024, and
therefore, the Company was entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15% for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. This qualification is subject to
review by the relevant tax authority in the PRC for every three years.

Shenzhen Techdow Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was accredited as a “High and
New Technology Enterprise” in 2020, the qualification of which was renewed
in 2023, and therefore, Shenzhen Techdow Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15% for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023. This qualification is subject to review by the relevant tax
authority in the PRC for every three years.

The Group's entities incorporated in USA are subject to the federal corporate
tax rate of 21% for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. The state
income tax rate remains within the range from 1% to 10% for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group's entities incorporated in Europe, other than Netherland, Italy and
Switzerland, are subject to the corporate income tax at a rate ranging from
19% to 30.2% for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group's entities incorporated in Netherland are subject to the corporate
income tax at a rate of 19% for taxable income that does not exceed the
amount of EUR200,000, and if the taxable income exceeds the amount of
EUR200,000, the tax rate of 25.8% should apply to the portion that exceeds
the amount of EUR200,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group’s entity incorporated in Italy is subject to the corporate income
tax at a rate of 24% and Imposta regionale sulle attivita produttive (“IRAP")
tax at a rate of 3.9% for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group entities incorporated in Switzerland were subject to a corporate
income tax rate of 8.5% for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
The comprehensive effective tax rate, inclusive of federal and state taxes,
remained within the range of 11% to 21% for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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12. INCOME TAX (Continued) 12. FRiS% (&)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the Inland BELEER_T—N\F=ZA=+—H
Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the BE(CCE—EFBE UBR]) (B75) &
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March PIEZRY ([KHRBIER)]) - 5| ARIRHIF]
2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits BRESHE -URPIERIR =T —NF
tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group AT N\BEBRAEE WK KB
entity are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million are taxed at EERETE - EMARHFERHREGE
16.5%. The profits of the Group’s entities not qualifying for the two-tiered T AEAREEERNE2EEBTHT
profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% for the SHEA8.25%  MiBE2H & B THF|
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. EMER165%  HE_ZT_MNFER_-F

—=Ft+-A=t—RHLFE ~FE
BHMNEHEHEERNANEEERE
FHEER16 5% MR — TR EHAREH -

The major components of the income tax expense/(credit) for the year are as FRABHAY (ER)HEZHEMKI
follows: SHF :
2024 2023
—E-lmE —E_=%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR T
Current tax expense: BUERF B F 5 ¢
PRC ey 6,200 60,356
USA =3 44,444 35,960
Elsewhere H b = 4,134 10,780
Under provision in prior years BEFEBETE (927) 4,357
53,851 111,453
Deferred tax credit: RIERIEE R
PRC [ 61,197 (148,044)
USA EH 3,942 (46,882)
Elsewhere H b 3h = (17,679) (42,702)
47,460 (237,628)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FAHBEH,(EHR)B5HE 101,311 (126,175)
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—E_mES+_A=+—H
12. INCOME TAX (Continued) 12. FRiS% (&)
A reconciliation of the tax (credit)/expense applicable to profit before tax at MB AR EEARRRREKRBS FAA
the statutory tax rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the FEREEERAEEN R EFIBER
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective SERERBESFERE (ER) X
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the statutory tax rates to the effective tax EER  UEAEMETEERT R
rates, are as follows: R :
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TR % AR®FIT %
Profit/(loss) before tax MATHE(BE) 726,229 (928,334)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMEFHE 2 RIA 181,558 25 (232,083) 25
Lower tax rate for specific provinces 57 & 17k /7 #% 78
or enacted by local authority 845 B BR R R (55,325) (8) 74,283 (8)
Effect on opening deferred tax of FET R BAYIELT
decrease in rates MER TR 850 - 4,607 =
Adjustments in respect of current tax 3t i® 7 B8 A1 #5515
of previous periods EL M A 8,080 1 4,357 =
Income not subject to tax RHWA (36,458) (5) (20,669) 2
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 2,568 - 36,508 (4)
Utilisation of previously B A BERERE
unrecognised tax losses T IE B 18 (16,939) (2) (54,922) 6
Tax losses and temporary difference 7k # 52 51 T8 /&5 18 A0
not recognised EREER 45,919 6 88,402 (10)
Super deduction for research and 2 A AN B AR
development expenses (28,942) (4) (26,658) 8

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s ~ EANEEKEEREHR X
effective rate FTEMBESH
(%) 101,311 14 (126,175) 14
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12. INCOME TAX (Continued)

Pillar Two income taxes
The Group is within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules. The Group has

applied the mandatory exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from Pillar Two income
taxes, and will account for the Pillar Two income taxes as current tax when
incurred. Pillar Two legislation has been enacted or substantively enacted but
not yet in effect as at 31 December 2024 in certain jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.

The Group has assessed its potential exposure based on the information
available regarding the financial performance of the Group in the current
year and prior years 2023 and 2022. As such, it may not be entirely
representative of future circumstances. Based on the assessment, the Group
could pass the relevant tests and thus qualify for the Transitional CbCR Safe
Harbour leading to no Top-up Tax arising in all involved jurisdictions in which
it operates and the Directors are not currently aware of any circumstances
under which they might change. Therefore, the Group does not expect
potential exposure to Pillar Two taxes Top-up Taxes in the year 2024.

13. DIVIDENDS

NN 169
B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H

12. FREH (&)
XHEZFREHR
AEEBRE A EARAEEZ R -
A B W R BB A S B A
BOYE AL 0B 2 T 8 5 B0 36465 2 IR D
WIS - R S TS B A
B 5 2L {E A BN IR AR » XA = S00%
RAEMBERENE T ALRERED
BHREE LR R =T omE
toASt—BMRER -

REBERBEERAEENRETEFEAR
T =FRZITZFEMEFE
ZHMBREMNAGSEMTHEEETR
o AL - HAlEEEA T2 RRAKRL
B e ERZATM  AEEAAEBEA
A MG REERREZSHE
MER BREMELRALENRE
ERRHTSEAMMTIIE BEER
RN R ANZE B E A A e EBMIER - B
b AEBBBHPR - _MEFSHE
SIREZRIEHEH A EERR -

13. RE

2024 2023
—E-NEF SE==%
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR T T

Proposed final — RMB0.25 (2023: nil) BR R E - BRI ERARK0.257T
per ordinary share ZE=F: E) 366,824 -
366,824 =

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

R R BB BB i 45 AN A A B R0 B g &8
TEEBRAS LHAE -
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14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are
based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
and the weighted average number of 1,467,296,204 ordinary shares (2023:
1,467,296,204) in issue during the year as adjusted to reflect rights issue
during the year. The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

14.

i i*ﬁk
BE)

&
FE

i ol

SRR
Eﬁﬁﬁi

f% 1 5o
IJ/

BREARBEFRFMNOFEDERIQ
AT BREZR hﬁAWEmiﬁJ LA I 5
N2 3 171,467,296,2040% 3@ A% (— 2
— =4 :1,467,296,204R%) K hN#E F 15
BEAE  URBRFAHR) - HE=
ToNFERZTE=FF+=-A=+—H
LtFE AEEMECHTHNELEEE
TR -

oy D>

BE_Z_MFER-_T-_=F+=-A
=+ HLEFE AEBTEDEHTE
B FEL @A -

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on: BRERNRBERFOFEER
2024 2023
—ECoNEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR T
Earnings/(loss) BF,(&8)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity BRAEBERESRAA
holders of the parent FEAESm F, (B 18) 646,742 (783,258)
Number of shares RBEHE

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in R E 17 &R
MEFHE - BREE

issue during the year, used in the basic and
diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation

FREAREERT(FHE)

1,467,296,204

1,467,296,204

1,467,296,204

1,467,296,204
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - MERGE
Machine Motor Other Leasehold ~ Construction
Buildings  equipment vehicles  equipment Land improvements in progress Total
L E BERE Bz %% i RENEEE ERIR a3

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBIT  ARETR  ARETR

31 December 2024 R-Z-BE+=A=t-A
At 1 January 2024 RZFZBE-A-A
Cost BA& 1,914,792 1,788,491 40,344 132,435 34,000 15,426 468,721 4,394,209
Accumulated depreciation and 2 RERAE
impaiment (64581)  (1068,641) (31563 (89,891) - (1) - (1766088)
Net carrying amount BEFE 1,350,211 719,850 8,781 42,544 34,000 4,014 468,721 2,628,121
At 1 January 2024, net of WZE-ME-F-H"
accumulated depreciation NBREHAERAE
and impairment 1,350,211 719,850 8,781 42,544 34,000 4,014 468,721 2,628,121
Additions g 3,581 11,490 724 1,942 - 303 280,887 298,927
Disposals i - (3,526) (241) (t9) - - (2403) (6,219)
Depreciation provided EnREGEONE
during the year (84,654) (131,777) (2.2%3) (21.212) - (968) - (240,864)
Impairment HE (18,863) (1,728) - - - = = (20,591)
Transfers a% 8,653 36,058 577 5,301 - - (50,589) -
Exchange realignment BN AR 2,259 4447 119 497 507 (24) 1,158 8,963
At 31 December 2024, net of RZZZME+ZA
accumulated depreciation and =t-B fIRZHHER
impairment W 1,261,187 634,814 1,107 29,023 34,507 3,325 697,774 2,668,337
At 31 December 2024 RZE-MET-A=+-A
Cost A 1,930,775 1,830,353 36,926 140,016 34,507 15,729 697,774 4,686,080
Accumulated depreciation and ZHTEREE
impairment (669588)  (1195539) (29219  (110,993) - (124m) Y ALE)
Net carrying amount KHFE 1,261,187 634,814 1,707 29,023 34,507 3,325 697,774 2,668,337
As at 31 December 2024, the Group engaged independent valuers to RZE_MFEF+_A=+—H Kx&H
perform the impairment test on certain property, plant and equipment. As ZEBGEMEE TWE  BE &R
a result of the impairment assessment, impairment losses of approximately HETRENR - REBERET(EER -
RMB1,728,000 for the owned machine equipment and approximately M E AR REHERLOARK,728,000
RMB 18,863,000 for buildings were recognized. As at 31 December 2024, THREEBEEBRAEZEFEROAREK
the aggregate recoverable amount of these assets was approximately 18,863,000 T KR EE 1R - R =ZF Y
RMB81,722,000 which was determined based on the fair value less costs of F+-—A=+—H8 ZSEEMNTRE
disposal under cost approach and market approach. AR/ ARES1,722,0007T - 1R
BRAEZNTISEN AR EBERERE
RAERE -
Below is the key input to the valuation of property, plant and equipment. LTRYE BERSEGENEES
AEIE ©
Valuation technique Significant input Recoverable amount
& (B £ 1l BEARHE A I B € 28
Buildings and Machine equipment Discounted cash flow Estimated rent RMB81,722,000
method
BT R R BBBE LA st S AR #81,722,0007T
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W% - BMERKRE (&
(Continued)
Machine Motor Other Leasehold  Construction
Buildings  equipment vehicles  equipment Land improvements in progress Total
£ BERE Kas bR i HENERE HBIR At
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTT ARETr ARBTR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AR¥TR
31 December 2023 “E-CE+-A=1-H
At 1 January 2023 RZBZ=%-f-A:
Cost A 1,604,542 1,725,484 42,849 124,053 33433 13,458 394,534 3,938,353
Accumulated depreciation and ZARERAE
impairment (459,638) (904,824) (31,968) (77,009) - (10,069) - (1,483,508)
Net carrying amount BEE 1,144,904 820,660 10,881 47,044 33433 3,389 394,534 2,454 845
At 1 January 2023, net of R-B-=%-f-H"
accumulated depreciation EMBEMERAE
and impairment 1,144,904 820,660 10,881 47,044 33433 3,389 394,534 2,454 845
Additions RE 3,176 8,150 284 2,404 - 1,969 443,725 459,708
Disposals e = (4301) (100) 223) - - (227) (4.851)
Depreciation provided ERitRBENTE
during the year (103,287) (160,607) (2,445) (15,715) - (1,360) - (283,414)
Impairment HfE = (9672) - - - - - (9672)
Transfers Hi 302,172 60,288 - 8,378 - - (370,838) -
Exchange realignment i A% 3,46 5332 161 656 567 16 1527 11,505

At 31 December 2023, net of WZZ-=%+-A=1-R"

accumulated depreciation BB ZGERAE

and impairment 1,350,211 719,850 8,781 42,544 34,000 4,014 468,721 2,628,121
At 31 December 2023 R-F-=%+-A=1-H
Cost A 1,914,792 1,788,491 40,344 132,435 34,000 15,426 468,721 4,394,209
Accumulated depreciation and ZARERAE

impairment (564,581) (1,068,641) (31,563) (89,891) - (11,412) - (1,766,088)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,350,211 719,850 8,781 42,544 34,000 4,014 468,721 2,628,121
The information about the pledged assets is disclosed in note 39 to the EHEEBEENERNY KRR
financial statements. 39K ER ©
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16. LEASES 16. &
The Group as a lessee rEBEREAMEA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of properties, equipment, REBBELEPFROSEDE &
motor vehicles and leasehold land in its operations. Lump sum payments B oREBELEETHWEEREHEES
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease #) o BARATVEH — RS FRBA ) 2 = R
periods of 30 to 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the FETEE 3 - FHEIA30E504F - MIRIK
terms of these land leases. Leases of properties generally have lease terms ZETHHENGR  BTre#ES N
between 1 and 17 years; equipment generally has lease terms between 1 FRIFIE - MEREZHPBERI1ZET
and 5 years; and motor vehicles generally have lease terms between 1 and 4 FRB2HEHBABERIESF R
years. Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less (e.g. BHABBERIEAF  HpRErE
oxygen tanks and trucks) or is individually of low value (e.g. computers and HEEANRAMAXRERE (MARE &
printers). &) KERNBENS (NERREDEX
#) o
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) BAREE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the AEBFANEAREENTREER
movements during the year are as follows: BT
Motor Leasehold
Properties Equipment vehicles land Total
L/ES =B BEgs HEL #ast
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE ARETR AR®TRT AR®TRT AR®T:R

As at 1 January 2023 R-—ZE-_=%—H8—H 134,865 424 406 108,748 244,443
Additions iz 11,986 = 1,358 = 13,344
Depreciation charge WEEH (32,608) (134) (644) (4,955) (38,341)
Early termination RATRIE (727) - - - (727)
Exchange realignment 0 5 F 2,050 6 108 - 2,164

As at 31 December 2023 RZBE-=F

and 1 January 2024 F=EEF=EK
—Z-NE—HA—H 115,566 296 1,228 103,793 220,883
Additions it 11,418 - - = 11,418
Depreciation charge wEER (32,977) (13) (603) (4,954) (38,547)
Early termination AT L (9,341) - - = (9,341)
Exchange realignment [ 5 & 1,194 3 (25) = 1,172

As at 31 December 2024 il 1 S
+=-—A=+—H 85,860 286 600 98,839 185,585

Annual Report 2024 4 [& i &




174

16.

Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% o3k Y AT
31 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

LEASES (Continued)

16. HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) rEBERAMEAN ()
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the

FAEEAENHREAELRESN

year are as follows: N
2024 2023
—EZMEF —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BMEARE 128,220 146,439
New leases WHE 11,418 13,344
Accretion of interest recognised FRNEREF SN
during the year 4,695 4,824
Payments A (38,427) (37,983)
Early termination A& IE (10,537) (806)
Exchange realignment bE i A% 1,223 2,402
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt+ZA=+—HHNEEE 96,592 128,220
Analysed into: R
Current portion BV EA &6 5> 38,822 37,803
Non-current portion FEBNEREB 7 57,770 90,417

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 43 to the
financial statements.

HERBNIHRASTET B R
R4 IR

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) BHABEEERmTERZYE
to leases are as follows: BEmh
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBF T
Interest on lease liabilities HEA GO E 4,695 4,824
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {fFREEEINES 38,547 38,341
Expense relating to short-term leases RAEHERERAS 526 748
Expense relating to leases of HEEEEEHERA@A I H
low-value assets 2,208 3,000
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R 1825 A FER A R IB A ZE 45,976 46,913
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 37 to the financial (d) MEMRERHEEENTBIHRKRM

statements.
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16. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE (&)
The Group as a lessor rEBEREEA
The Group leases its certain properties (note 15) consisting of certain REBRBEEHERHEEETEHRE
buildings in Chinese Mainland under operating lease arrangements. The M E T (M15) - BEETE
terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits £y  HEBKR —REKBPL ZMRE
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing  WHRESVREBEERTREHAEM
market conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year o AEBRFRAERANESWALR
was approximately RMB18,036,000 (2023: approximately RMB13,627,000), AR #18,036,000T (ZZE =4 : HHA
details of which are included in note 6 to the financial statements. R#13,627,0007T) * FHIGE R B ®ME
B 5E6
At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the RZEZNF+=A=+—H Fx&EH
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its BREFEEBPIZ 2 TAHHELEHER
tenants are as follows: RREAR 2 EYCRBE IR EN AT
2024 2023
—E-ME == SlE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBFT
Within one year —F R 9,317 12,744
After one year but within two years —FHRERRER 8,465 9,781
After two years but within three years MFERER=FN 8,399 8,160
After three years but within four years = FHRERTOFR 6,596 7,292
After four years but within five years MEREBEREFA 5,915 5,320
Total et 38,692 43,297
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—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

GOODWILL 17. B8
RMB’'000
ARBTT
At 1 January 2023: RZTEZ=F—HA—H:
Cost BN 2,350,992
Accumulated impairment 25RE =
Net carrying amount BREFE 2,350,992
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated impairment R-ZT-=F—F—HBHKXK -
Bk RFHRE 2,350,992
Impairment during the year FNRE (68,483)
Exchange realignment bE X TR 39,866
At 31 December 2023 R-ZZE_=%+-HA=+—H 2,322,375
At 31 December 2023: R-BE_=F+-H=+—8:
Cost [Pz 2,390,858
Accumulated impairment 2EFHRE (68,483)
Net carrying amount BREFE 2,322,375
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of accumulated impairment  RZ=Z & — A — HHIK A -
Bk RFHRE 2,322,375
Impairment during the year FRRE =
Exchange realignment XA 34,659
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2024 R-E-_NFE+-_A=+—HAOKAR
AR EDFE 2,357,034
At 31 December 2024: R-B-NE+=ZRA=+—8:
Cost (D% 2,426,539
Accumulated impairment ZRE (69,505)
Net carrying amount BRTE S E 2,357,034
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill
On 9 April 2014, goodwill arising from the acquisition of SPL Acquisition
Corp. amounted to RMB1,297,621,000.

On 5 October 2015, goodwill arising from the acquisition of Cytovance
Biologics Inc. amounted to RMB814,940,000.

Goodwill is allocated to Heparin SPL cash-generating unit (*SPL CGU") and
CDMO cash-generating unit (“CDMO CGU") (collectively of the two above,
the “CGUs") for impairment testing. The recoverable amounts of the Heparin
SPL CGU and CDMO CGU have been determined based on the higher of VIU
and FVLCD. VIU is determined using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management. In
measuring FVLCD, multiple valuation techniques are used to measure fair
value.

The respective recoverable amounts and the carrying values of the CGUs as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H

17. & (4F)

EENRENR
RZZT—MFMEANRB - KHESPL
Acquisition Corp. E4AMEEAARE
1,297,621,0007T °

R—ZZT—AF+ARAB ' KEECytovance
Biologics INCEXAHWEAERARE
814,940,0007T °

BEBADRGEFESPUR S E L BEMNM
CDMOBRGELBEMN (N L-FEHRBIR
SEEEN ) EITRERR - FFESPLI
SE4SBMMCODMOR G EL B 2 A
WEl SR HIEERBEREA N BERLD
ERANBSEET FREEKRBE
REREBRENEN A FHRPEES
MRS TREEANESE - EFEQAR
BERLEXAR IRBZEMGER
MEtE2 QAR EE-

RZZE—_NMNFEFR=-_FTE=-_=%F+=A
=+ HNBLELEMNMAIKROSEE
MEREELMLT :

Heparin SPL CGU FFESPLE 2 E+LEW
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®ET T ARETT
Recoverable amount AJ U Bl & 58 3,627,985 3,624,926
Carrying value including allocated goodwill REE(BEEIREE) 3,290,902 3,351,954
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31 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

17.

e (&)
EE KR ER (&)

CDMO CGU CDMOE £ E4 EY
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-o=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AR T
Recoverable amount ATk Bl £ 58 1,981,788 1,723,373
Carrying value including allocated goodwill REE(BEEI REEE) 1,760,591 1,791,856

The recoverable amount was determined based on VIU.

For income approach, the pre-tax discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections, the forecasted growth rates and earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA") margin used to extrapolate cash
flow projections and terminal growth rates are as follows:

A e e BRE R EEREE -

MRBACEM S - FRAREAREIR R HETT
REREEA  AREERSRERN
M TEANE R EACRHBRAE - BRI
E R EHe 24 ([EBITDA ) FUEEIAK
RZIZRERMOT

Heparin SPL CGU FFESPLE £ E4 BV
2024 2023
ZE-F —F==
Revenue growth average rates WA F5 R =R 2% 1%
EBITDA average margin EBITDA- 39 Fi ) =& 27% 28%
After-tax discount rate TR S 11% 11.5%
Terminal revenue growth rate BRI ALE R FE 2.5% 2.5%
CDMO CGU CDMOE £ E4 EY
2024 2023
—E-mEF —F=
Revenue growth average rates WA F 1538 & &R 10% 17%
EBITDA average margin EBITDA 35 F) B & 28.8% 25%
After-tax discount rate HMEFEEK 11.5% 14.8%
Terminal revenue growth rate AW AL R R 2.5% 2.5%
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Assumptions were used in the VIU calculation of the CGUs for 31 December

2024 and 2023. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment
testing of goodwill:

Revenue growth rate — The revenue growth rate is based on the average
growth achieved in the past years and the expected revenue from sales of
heparin, pancreatin and CDMO services.

Budgeted EBITDA margins — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margins is the EBITDA margins achieved in the
year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected market
development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is after tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development and the
discount rate are consistent with external information sources.

For market approach, fair value was determined based on ratios of enterprise
value ("EV") divided by revenue and EBITDA of several comparable public
companies for specific historical and/or forecasted years. Multiples were
selected for the respective time periods and multiplied by the revenue
and EBITDA of the related CGU, resulting in an implied EV of the CGU,
on a minority, marketable basis. Weightings were applied to the implied
indications of value and a control premium was added to arrive at an EV
on a controlling, marketable basis. The guideline companies were selected
based on a comprehensive search of publicly-listed companies in the CGU's
industry, such that the guideline companies had similar or comparable
operations and were likely exposed to similar risks as the CGU. The selected

multiples and control premium are as follows:

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H

17. BE (/&)

B MR E R R ()

FRE_ENER-ZZ=F1+ZA
=+ BRSEABENNEABEERR
FAfRE - TXHMEIRE BETEER
BEARMBEFREREMKBENSEE

BER

WAREER — IRABREERTERBESF
EHERNFEHEERULITE  FEE
M CDMORRFE B T8 HR S & UL A o

TEZEBITDAFE ¥ — BEDE THEEE
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GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

17. & (4F)

B AR E R ()

Heparin SPL CGU FFESPLE 2 ELE N
2024 2023
—E-NEF T =%
EBITDA multiples EBITDARE# 11.0x-12.0x 9.0x
Control premium 2= il AR (B 5.0% 5.0%
CDMO CGU CDMOE £ E4 EfY
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Revenue multiples WA EE n/a ~E A 1.5x
EBITDA multiples EBITDAREZ 10.5x-11.5x 5.9x
Control premium 7= A R (B 5.0% 10.0%

Assumptions were used in the FVLCD of the CGUs for 31 December
2024 and 2023. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Revenue multiples — The revenue multiples are based on the CGU's historical
and forecasted performance compared to those of the guideline companies,
as well as how the business has been performed relative to the plan for that
period.

EBITDA multiples — The basis used to determine the value of EBITDA multiples
is the CGU’s historical and forecasted profitability performance compared
to those of the guideline companies, as well as relative to the plan, and
initiatives driving profitability.

Control Premium - The control premium is based on review of recent
transactions in the industry and the comparability of the transactions to the
respective CGUs.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7
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B 7% o3k Y AT
31 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

19. REEERRAINKRE

2024 2023

TECNF —EC-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFT

Share of net assets EHEEFE 105,870 342,159
Goodwill on acquisition WHEFTEENEmE 562,907 894,826
668,777 1,236,985

Provision for impairment WERE (318,457) (232,939)
Total Foe 350,320 1,004,046

At the end of the reporting period, in view of the loss-making, the Directors
estimated the recoverable amounts which were the higher of VIU and the fair
value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD") of the investments in associates for
the purpose of impairment testing.

In respect of the recoverable amount using VIU, the discounted cash flow
calculations were based on cash flow projections estimated by management
and the key assumptions adopted in these cash flow projections include
revenue growth rate, profit margins and discount rate. In respect of the
recoverable amount based on FVLCD, the FVLCD was calculated using certain
key valuation assumptions including the selection of comparable companies,
recent market transactions and liquidity discount for lack of marketability.

As a result, impairment provision made against the carrying amounts of
the above investments in associates during the year ended 31 December
2024 were approximately RMB318,457,000 (2023: approximately
RMB232,939,000).

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7

RRERR  ENBSEHR EFpT
WmerE (AREE QB ZRENERE
BEEAAEBEREERANEFNRS
E)EHGEEETRERR

BMREAEREEN KRB SE - BB
RenBNFEDEREEE MR
EREEA RFRSREBFABKMH
TERRBBFBRAERE - FHE KA
HFE o FRER AR BER D ERAH
AR EEE AR BERDEKANE
HRATETIZAERR 2EIE
AEALBMRE  SENTSER SRR
Z IS MERREEREIR -

H

At AEERBEE-_S_MNFE+ - A
=+—HIEFE R ELERRBERRZ
RENEEEARBEREBENARKE
318,457,000 (ZEZ=F : HARK
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. REEENTRINKRE (&

As of 31 December 2024, particulars of the Group’s associates are as follows:

BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—0 K&
EHEATNFBET

Particulars of

Place of
registration

Percentage of
ownership interest
attributable to

Name issued shares held and business the Group Principal activities
e BT BRAZEEH

A8 ROHFE AL R MEEEZAD ML TEEH

Resverlogix Corp. Ordinary shares Canada 30.29%  Biopharmaceutical R&D

LRk meEx GyE-3 ik

OncoQuest Inc. Ordinary shares Canada 36.08%  Biopharmaceutical R&D

Rk mER YBT3

Shenzhen Asia Pacific Health Ordinary shares PRC/Chinese Mainland 27.43% Health Management

Management Co., Ltd. TR [ consulting

AYTEAREERARAA REEEEN

Quest Pharma Tech Inc. Ordinary shares Canada 14.78%  Biopharmaceutical R&D

(hereafter, the “Quest”) TR nex A ) ) T R B
Quest Pharma Tech Inc. (JA T &7 [Quest )

Shanghai Taiyi Venture Capital Partnership Limited partnership PRC/Chinese Mainland 49.58% Investment Management

(limited partnership)

BRE%

e

REERE

EEETAERAARLE(BERAR)

The Group's shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity shares held
by the Company, except for Shenzhen Asia Pacific Health Management Co.,
Ltd., Quest and OncoQuest Inc., the shareholdings in which are held or
partially held through a subsidiary of the Company.

The financial years of the above associates are coterminous with that of the
Group, except for Quest Pharma Tech Inc and OncoQuest Inc which have
a financial year ending 31 January. The consolidated financial statements
are adjusted for significant transactions or events, including those among
Quest Pharma Tech Inc, OncoQuest Inc and group companies, between 1
January and 31 January. Quest Pharma Tech Inc and OncoQuest Inc uses 31
January as their financial year end date to conform with that of their holding

company.

BRENMEANEREZEAR AR - Quest
KOncoQuest Inc.oh » A& B B4 A 7
WEFEREBIERAARMFAEORE M
ZEREDBBARRN—RFRAAEF
BRFHFHE °

$:Quest Pharma Tech IncXOncoQuest
IncHBBREEABE—A=+—8% -
a9 RN = 0 B 1 S W N e
HMRERE —H - KM BREREAR
SREHETTRAE BE—HA—H=E
— A =+ — HH[EQuest Pharma Tech
Inc * OncoQuest InckEE 27 2 HH
R 58 EF > Quest Pharma Tech Inck
OncoQuest IncA—A=+—RA{EAHY
BEEMERBE  AFEEEERAF
AR BA B — 2 o
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of
Shenzhen Asia Pacific Health Management Co., Ltd. because the share of
losses of the associate exceeded the Group’s interest in the associate and
the Group has no obligation to take up further losses. The amounts of the
Group's unrecognised share of losses of this associate for the current year
and cumulatively were approximately RMB7,581,000 (2023: RMB7,703,000)
and approximately RMB33,445,000 (2023: approximately RMB25,864,000),
respectively.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the
Group's associates that are not individually material to the Group:

REEE RNTINIRE ()
AEBEERIEBRESERITELR
BEEBEBRARAMERE  HRARSE
ZHERAMEBEEBRET ASEERZ
BENRMER  TEASETEERT
AEEZHNER - AEBRAFERER
éJr HZBMERNRARERNBELE

DAl A ARKT7,581,000C (Z T ==
F: AR®7,703,0007T) R4 AR
33,445,000 (ZEZ=ZF : HARE
25,864,0007T) °

TR M B A SR B3 SF A B AR AR
B2 RRNMIBERBE

2024 2023
—E-WEF —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBF T
Share of the associates’ profit for the year FRNRIGHE R FET (93,658) (79,742)
Share of the associates’ other comprehensive FREEBEARNEMBEERE
income - (51)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBRBE AR ZRER
investments in the associates BRERE 350,320 549,236

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7




Notes to Financial Statements

185
vk 2y
B 75 e 2% B &
31 December 2024
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20. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR 20. EEAU D AEBETE
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HEHT AHME2E RS
INCOME WRERE
2024 2023
—EoQmE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETFT
Equity investments designated at fair value ¥EAUAAEBEFEBELESEHFA
through other comprehensive income HttzEKBBHRERE
Listed equity investments, at fair value IARBEFEND ETRIERE
Aridis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Aridis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. - 436
Rapid Micro Biosystems, Inc. Rapid Micro Biosystems, Inc. 159 129
Hightide Therapeutics, Inc. EXREY 91,504 -
Subtotal NET 91,663 565
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value NARBEFEHR ETRIERE
Curemark, LLC Curemark, LLC 488,471 503,000
Subtotal NET 488,471 503,000
Total #Er 580,134 503,565

B E AR EEARAE
Bt 2 B A BB A M2 H K
RAEERRZERELBHMBEMLE -

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income as the Group considered these
investments to be strategic in nature.
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21.

B%
PROFIT OR LOSS :

2 HH!?
BENEmMEE

i g\va
>
Bk =
3 g

2024 2023
—E-MMEF =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBTT
Current assets mENE E
Wealth management products BB E G 863,083 354,294
Convertible debenture A AR EH - 54,913
Listed equity investments, at fair value LTRERE  UAREBEFE 4,812 4,977
Subtotal NG 867,895 414,184
Non-current assets FERBEE
Unlisted investments, at fair value REWERE  BAREEFE
TPG Biotechnology Partners IV, L.P. TPG Biotechnology Partners IV, L.P. 828 3,612
TPG Biotechnology Partners V, L.P. TPG Biotechnology Partners V, L.P. 173,894 334,862
ORI Healthcare Fund, L.P. ORI Healthcare Fund, L.P. 169,150 191,732
ORI Healthcare Fund II, L.P. ORI Healthcare Fund I, L.P. 405,438 271,834
Shenzhen Top Dental Medical Co., Ltd. YR EE B ER DB RA A 55,000 105,000
Hejia Hongli (Hang Zu) Venture Investment A55AE (M) Bl IR A
Partnership (L.P.) EREE(BRER) 30,077 32,674
Others Hih 58,653 66,653
Subtotal /NEt 893,040 1,006,367
Total st 1,760,935 1,420,551
The above equity investments at 31 December 2024 were classified as RZE_WFF+_A=+—8 " L%
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for BREAFIFEENARAIEEREE
trading, or as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value gain or BREHEMEAKRBERAABEERM
loss through other comprehensive income. PEREANBEFAEEEEIHTAE
The wealth management products were issued by banks in Chinese METEERBPEAHRITET
Mainland. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value X 58 11l 5 @ﬁuﬂftfﬁﬁﬁiﬂ,ﬁ\m
through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments AAEHESNEREE  DHRES
of principal and interest. FIR&RENIERERE R EBHRFK o
The market value of the Group's listed equity investments at the date of A& B FAGT BioPharma, Inc.Hy T Bk
approval of GT BioPharma, Inc. was approximately RMB4,812,000. BRERAMBREMEDHOTEN B

AR #4,812,0007T °
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22. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 22. HithFRBEE
2024 2023
TECNF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARMT T
Prepayment for purchase of property, plantand B EWE  MEMRENFEN KA
equipment 10,436 80,575
Prepayment for marketing authorisation T35 & $H & Al TR 5K I8 71,341 81,078
Long-term rent receivables REEKAES 333 951
Bond security deposits (a) BEHREE() - 25,000
Prepayment for investment (b) & & AT FIA(b) 16,504 16,261
Total #at 98,614 203,865
(@) On 1 April 2022, the Company issued a corporate bond at a par value @ MZEZZFWA—H &R
of RMB500,000,000 in the PRC (the “22 Hepalink”). Bond security ARPRBETEHERARYE
deposits of RMB25,000,000 were pledged to a third-party guarantor 500,000,000 T KA A& ([22i%
to guarantee the realisation of the creditor’s rights. In 2024, the bond T - ARBEENEIR B[
security deposits have been recalled. FFERANERESFREEAR
#25,000,0007T ° A = F P04 -
BREIESFRES °
(b)  The prepayment for investment represents the undelivered equity (b) $&EFEN FRIEIECuremarkfy KR R
consideration of Curemark. SPL Distribution LLC, a subsidiary of the i AR #E ¥ (B - N & B F A 7]SPL
Group, provided active pharmaceutical ingredients and services to its Distribution LLC[H % F Curemark
customer, Curemark, as the prepayment for investment. RERBEFRY - (ERIRETEN
FKIH ©
23. INVENTORIES 23. &
2024 2023
—E-MmME —ET-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
Raw materials and consumables R RE R0 H FE G 2,362,894 2,723,654
Work in progress TR 489,373 645,219
Finished goods 2UPK i 2,541,680 3,285,238
Total FE 5,393,947 6,654,111
The inventories are net of a write-down of approximately RMB601,308,000 RZZTZNME+=_A=+—H F&EH
(2023: approximately RMB896,347,000) as at 31 December 2024. [ OB & 58 49 A R #601,308,0007T (=

T — =& : Y AR¥896,347,0007T) °

The information about the pledged assets is disclosed in note 39 to the BB R & B 5 & R B 7S R M
financial statements. 397 K B% o
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 24, EFSEWREREKREE

2024 2023

TECNF —EC-=F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBT R ARBTT

Trade receivables E 5 fE WK IB 1,204,481 1,300,441
Bills receivable JRE U 32 4,243 3,182
Allowance for expected credit losses TREERERERE (25,927) (40,039)
Net carrying amount AREFE 1,182,797 1,263,584

AEEEEFNBESBRRIBENEER
A - EAH-—KRA—Z=EA K&
) 7 I B 4 R 1) L R (BR B IR - A
BEERREEZEK SREEEEE
HEREANSE AEEYEREES
FEUWRIA SR A M ER R EME
RIERTA - BHRUGREESRR/RE

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The
credit period is generally from one month to three months. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. The balances of trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

EHECEBEENERN R B HRE W T
39FR HEFE o

Information about the pledged assets is disclosed in note 39 to the financial
statements.

ERBERAHINBRAEHERER
& NMSHREZFREFARERERE

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of allowance for expected credit

losses, is as follows: BRRES AT :
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-o=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARBF T
Within 1 year 151N 1,173,191 1,250,716
1 year to 2 years 1FZ24F 18,964 29,080
2 years to 3 years 2FEE3F 5,496 10,992
Over 3 years 3FMNUE 11,073 12,835
1,208,724 1,303,623
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses B AR S AR ER 25,927 40,039
Net carrying amount AR S A 1,182,797 1,263,584
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables
are as follows:

B 75 o3k B 7T
31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H

4. BB BRIAREK R

(4&

€ 5 8 SR I A R B 2 B
mF

2024 2023

—E-MmEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARET T ARETT

At beginning of year F 40,039 114,464
Impairment (reversed)/losses, net WE(EE),EE - F8E (7.745) 712
Amount written off as uncollectible 7] Y [B] 4 84 & 5 (6,164) (76,268)
Exchange realignment e XA (203) 1,131
At end of year FR 25,927 40,039

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit
losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected
credit loss provision for all trade receivables.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision
matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off when
there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings.

AEBRABBECTEZR(BETBRE
R FORMEM AL ERIB R R
8 R ERFEME B 5 R RRRE
REERNERERBRERS -

REHE R HRBBEEREETRES
o AFTEFEBEREL - BEXDE
REFRUBEEANZERF D EA
R E B FAR BUORETE © 3T B RBRAE = 00
BER BERELRR®RSEHHMAIFH
BRBESE 2R ORI
HEANSERAEER - —KME -
ERENRARFEFFEREMHR
U BREHRENEHARE - flAE
RZBFERBERCEARERF
B 5 e W IR I T LA B
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 2. ESEUREREBERERE
(#&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TERERABEBEEBRHIANEEE FHER
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: KIBEERRBRIHNEER -
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_WmWE+=-A=+—H
Expected
Amount loss rate Impairment
ot FEHELE A
RMB’000 % RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Current B AR 904,735 0.52 4,750
Past due less than 1 year BER DR E 266,626 0.74 1,973
Past due 1 to 2 years BHIE2F 16,762 32.30 5,414
Past due over 2 years BER2F LA 16,358 84.30 13,790
Total HEt 1,204,481 25,927
As at 31 December 2023 R-—B-_=f+=-A=+-—H
Expected
Amount loss rate Impairment
Kok TEEiIB R X A
RMB'000 % RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETT
Current BN &R 873,736 0.53 4,650
Past due less than 1 year BEI D F 376,429 0.95 3,576
Past due 1 to 2 years BHEE2F 26,754 37.11 9,929
Past due over 2 years BHE2F A 23,522 93.04 21,884
Total Et 1,300,441 40,039
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25. CONTRACT ASSETS 25. EHNEE
2024 2023
—E-MEF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARMT T
Contract assets arising from services REEEZAEHNEE 4,018 10,947

The contract assets relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work
completed and not billed.

26. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS

BREEBTASERD TRE KR
RZTRRWHREE M -

26. E{ITRIE - HttERFIE
FHMEE

2024 2023
el 11 -3 —E_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETF T
Prepayments TERIB 66,545 56,349
Deposits and other receivables* R & & CE e WK IE > 120,034 120,286
Interest receivables FEWF B 4,529 =
Value-added tax (“VAT”) refund receivables  [& W38 {E 5 BT 25,252 88,715
VAT recoverable A g 1 3E (B 238,598 121,381
Prepaid tax TEHB K 56,588 14,789
Prepaid expenses FERFAX 66,588 96,490
Less: Impairment** R R B * (146,882) (80,581)
Net carrying amount AR FE 431,252 364,429
@ Deposits and other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on @ BeERHMERREASEET  FtEH
demand. FEEREE -
*x As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the impairments of the financial assets included *x R-E-_NWER-_FE-_ZF+-_A=+—

in prepayments, other receivables and other assets were measured based on the
12-month expected credit loss if they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, they were measured based on the lifetime expected credit loss.

B REARMNHR - A EEGRR R E M
AEMESREERME - W6 A EE
AEMRBEZESREE B TR BRIAR
EERBRBEERMN - AER120EA TR
ERBAHE - TR BRBEFEND
BHERBRETHE -
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27. BERBREEEY -EXE
HERUAREHEFRK

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED
DEPOSITS AND TIME DEPOSITS

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Cash and bank balances R & RIRITH R 1,363,095 1,765,645
Pledged deposits [REziwEFEEN 80 80
Time deposits T BRTF 3K 325,867 85,918
Subtotal NEE 1,689,042 1,851,643
Less: W
Pledged deposits [T 80 80
Time deposits with original maturity REHABBE=@EADN
over three months: ERER
— non-current — =
— current 267,135 85,918
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBRESEEY 1,421,827 1,765,645
2024 2023
—E-ME —E_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR T T
Cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits and R& RREZEY  ERFFERIAR
time deposits TEHTF R
Denominated in HEEE
— RMB — AR¥ 809,475 1,161,609
- Usb — %t 598,613 324,990
- EUR — BT 135,643 146,259
— HKD — BT 36,474 358024
— Others — HAb 108,837 182,864
Total #at 1,689,042 1,851,643

ARBIAgtEmAMmRHEMER B2
RIBR (P BSNEE IR IR0 KA E « BEE
RANEERHRTE)  AEBERAFRAEE
BENEZINEXBHRTHEARE LR
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. BEMEE -

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under the
Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7
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27. BERBEEEY - 2K
RERUREHER(A)
RITRESBREBESHRTERMNETIRZ
A RRDFE c EHRTFRNWER A+
RE—F BAEENNKRSFRM
TE - I LA B 8 E B 77 5)OF = B AR
BoRITERTFARBORABRNE LD

carrying amounts of the cash and bank balances approximate to their fair EERUMIERTT B2 RBITEHEBDER

values. HeBEEARBEES -

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED
DEPOSITS AND TIME DEPOSITS (Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between seven days
and one year depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group
and earn interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The

EEATHAE B S REBRENHF X
BRERAE -

Pledged deposits earn interest at interest rates stipulated by the respective
financial institutions.

ERBEREENENRPBRERME

The information about the pledged assets is disclosed in note 39 to the

financial statements. 39 EE o
28. TRADE PAYABLES 28. EZ BT RIE
2024 2023
—E_lmEF =FE==4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETFT
Trade payables B ZEMNRIA 299,692 302,223

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as

at the end of the reporting

REZEZREY NREPRNEFEN

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HERERSTAT :
2024 2023
112 —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFIT
Within 1 year 1A 290,366 299,729
1 year to 2 years 1ER2F 8,592 355
2 years to 3 years 2F E3F 201 445
Over 3 years 3FEU E 533 1,694
Total HEt 299,692 302,223

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on
terms of 30 to 90 days.

0H AAEHE

BoRNFEATTHEAE —RN308E
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HtENRIBEREFTEHE
2024 2023
—E-E —E=-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT R ARBTT
Other payables E b FE SRR 88,102 67,320
Accruals fEFTIE B 225,015 195,722
Payables for purchase of property, BEVE BEMREDN
plant and equipment JE A< FRIE 37,877 42,245
Salary payables ENEHe 134,839 153,715
Other tax payables H 8 49 B 5K 33,243 38,558
Total Bt 519,076 497,560
Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on HMEMNRBEREER T 8 RAR
demand. The fair values of other payables at the end of each of these EXERE NSV BERRARNE
financial statements approximated to their corresponding carrying amounts. o FERT IR A 2 BEO SN HEER
HE -
30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30. eHNEE
The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract liabilities: AEEERATHBABBHELEE:
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBF T
Sale of products SHEEm 53,004 22,859
CDMO services CDMOAR 7% 211,279 339,193
264,283 362,052
The Group receives payments from customers based on billing schedules as REBERBHES AT HEN T BRHE
established in the sales contracts. Payments are usually received in advance REWREENR BEEARBEITZHE
of the performance under the contracts which are mainly from domestic RBEFR  ZEMREERAEBRAE
customers. Fe
The Group also receives payments from customers based on billing schedules NEBE TR ECDMORRIE & £ 48 E K
as established in the CDMO service contracts. Payments are usually received AEREREREEMNR - ARBEES
in advance of the performance under the contracts which are mainly from REITEHMEE  ZENREERE
CDMO services for clients. AR FRHACODMOMR °
All the obligations are expected to be recognised within one year. The FIBEEBES BN —FAER - EulFr
amounts disclosed above do not include variable consideration which is TR 2R 60X R S H) A (E -

constrained.

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7




Notes to Financial Statements

195
vAr | 23
B 75 e 2% B &
31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H
31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31. ST ERITRHEMEBR
BORROWINGS
31 December 2024 —E-NFE+=ZA=+—~H
Effective interest
rate per annum Maturity RMB’000
BERERNE RS AR®TT
Current BN &8
Bank loans — secured (a) RITER — AER@Q) 2.60%-3.45% 2025 446,642
—E-HE
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — BER 2.78%-3.20% 2025 548,302
—EBE_-RE
Current portion of long-term bank loans - R HIR7T & ENEA 2 5 2.70%-3.30% 2025 259,348
secured (a) — AERGQ) —E-REF
Current portion of long term bank loans - R EASRTTE KENEAZE 5 2.55%-3.15% 2025 268,869
unsecured — EER —E-RHE
Other borrowings — unsecured (b) HfER — EERD) 1.35%-2.65% 2025 844,000
—EB-RE
Total — current et — BNE 2,367,161
Non-current E:0E
Bank loans - secured (a) RITER — AER@Q) 2.95%-3.30% 2026-2034 768,823
“BERERE
—EBoME
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — BER 2.55%-3.15% 2026 312,225
ST NG
Total - non-current BEr — JEANER 1,081,048
Total =t 3,448,209
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

31 December 2023

31. s RRITREME R (&)
—B-=f+=-A=+-H

Effective interest

rate per annum Maturity RMB’000
ERFRX BT ARETT
Current BN ER
Bank loans — secured (a) BITER — BERGQ) 2.95%-3.45% 2024 327,108
—E-mEF
Bank loans - unsecured RITER — BER 3.00%-3.60% 2024 997,633
—EomEF
Current portion of long-term bank loans — Eﬁﬂfiﬂg EUHH =i 2.75%-3.80%, 2024 1,231,130
secured (a) — BER SOFR+Applicable margin —TomE
SOFR+i M H =
Other borrowings — unsecured (b) H i — EERD) 2.90%-4.00% 2024 556,000
—EomE
Current portion of corporate REMEFHBIEE 5 () 1.20%-2.08% 2024 512,704
bonds (c) —EopmE
Total - current @t — AE 3,624,575
Non-current FE AN
Bank loans - secured (a) RITER — BERGQ) 2.70%-3.80%, 2025-2029 1,698,292
SOFR+Applicable margin —E_RHFE
SOFR+i M JH & “ToNF
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — EER 2.90%-4.00% 2025-2026 111,729
—hEZRE
:E:ﬁ
Corporate bonds (c) NGIL-E-1(0)} 3.8%-3.9% 2025 -
bkl 1 =
Total - non-current 5 — JFENH 1,810,021
Total st 5,434,596
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the following

B 75

197

& BT &

31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H

31. A RRIT R EMER (&)

BATERAENERREE :

currencies:

2024 2023
—E-mE —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETFT

Denominated in B TEESE
— RMB — AR 3,448,209 4,957,142
—UsD —ZETT - 265,256
- EUR —BEIT - 212,198
- HKD —B T = -
Total F 3,448,209 5,434,596

An analysis of the carrying amounts of borrowings by type of interest rate is

as follows:

BN EBA B D EFREEDMAT

2024 2023
—E_mE =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR T T
Fixed interest rate & & F| & 1.35%-3.45% 1.20%-5.50%
Variable interest rate FENF R SOFR+Applicable margin
2.55%-3.30% SOFR+3 A 7| i =
Total w5 1.20%-5.50%,
SOFR+Applicable margin
1.35%-3.45% SOFR+3E A 7 )& %=

Analysed into: DA
2024 2023
—E-NEF == o=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T

Repayable: AR T EAEER

Within one year —FR 2,367,161 3,624,575
In the second year F_F 567,118 772,003
In the third to fifth years, inclusive H=E=EEE(E) 335,213 642,237
Beyond five years hF 2k 178,717 395,781
Total e 3,448,209 5,434,596
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—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

(a)

The mortgaged and guaranteed bank loans were secured by
the total assets owned by SPL with an amount of approximately
RMB187,160,000 in 2023 have been paid off this year, and there were
no new loans this year. The pledged assets have a net carrying amount
of approximately RMB2,094,692,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately RMB2,416,165,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the mortgaged bank loans were secured by
the buildings and other assets of the Company located in Pingshan
District, Shenzhen with an amount of approximately RMB776,103,000
(2023: approximately RMB792,136,000). The buildings of the
Company located in Pingshan District, Shenzhen have a net carrying
amount of approximately RMB827,236,000 (2023: approximately
RMB702,010,000).

The pledged bank loans were secured by the Company with an amount
of approximately RMB465,660,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately RMB571,648,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the pledged bank loans with an amount of
RMB185,157,000 were secured by Shenzhen Techdow Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd (2023: approximately RMB350,089,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the pledged bank loans with an amount
of RMB47,847,000 were secured by the pledge of 100% of shares
of Shenzhen Topknow Industrial Development Co., Ltd (2023:
approximately RMB320,886,000)..

Other borrowings included discounted notes receivable of
approximately RMB844,000,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately RMB556,000,000).

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7

31.

ATERITREMER (A

(a)

RZBEZ=ZF ¢BHAEARKE
187,160,000 FASPLIEEB M & E
BERHERNIZBRBERR
TERERFRNLEE BAXFE
WEMER - R_T_MF+=
A=+—HB EEBREENED
FEH B ARE2,094,692,000
T(ZE-_=ZF :HARE
2,416,165,0007T) °

RZZE-_MEFE+-_A=+—H0 2
BB ANR%776,103,0007T (=
=% HAKR¥792,136,000
7T) M)A AR R IT B R ORI
FLEOAAREMEREME
EEER - (L RRYIF LR AR
AEHMEMNEEFENAARE
827,236,000 (ZE == : HA
R #702,010,0007T) °

RZZEZWE+=—A=+—H %
EH B AR %465,660,0007T (=
T =4F: HARMS571,648,000
TL) M B E IR IRITERB AR RE
ER-

RZZEZMFE+=—A=+—H &
A AR%185,157,0007T (=&
—=%: H§ AR¥350,089,0007T)
MARKMRTERAFRIIMABEE
BEHRARRMEER -

RZZTE-—_mME+=—_A=+—8"
S H A ANR47,847,000T (= F
—=F: HAK%320,886,0007T)
/R IR 1T B U0 BB IR R
NmZELELEERERGRAAN
100% & D 1EFELR ©

RZTE-_NME+=—_A=+—A8"
HihERBESHOAARE
844,000,000 (T —=4F: HA
R #556,000,0007T) &) 8 2R & IR
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

() On 1 April 2022, the Company issued a corporate bond at par value
of RMB500,000.000 in the PRC (the “22 Hepalink”). The 22 Hepalink
will mature in three years from the issue date. However, investors
have the option to sell back all or part of their current year bonds
to the issuer at par on the second interest payment date (April 1,
2024), or waive the investor’s option to sell back and continue to
hold them. Upon the third anniversary of the issue date, the Company
shall be entitled to adjust the coupon rate and the bond holders shall
be entitled to sell back the whole or partial 22 Hepalink at par. The
22 Hepalink bears interest at the rate of 3.9% per annum, payable
annually in arrears or on the business day nearest to 1 April of each
year, starting from 1 April 2022. In connection with the bond issuance,
Shenzhen Gaoxintou Group Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Gaoxintou”), an
independent third party of financing and guarantee service provider,
guaranteed our repayment obligations under the bond. In return, the
Company provided Shenzhen Gaoxintou with bond margin and the
mortgage of real estate of subsidiaries located in Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, as a counter-guarantee of such obligation. On 28 March
2024, the Company redeemed the bond.

32. DEFERRED INCOME

31.

NN 199
B 75 2 M 5

31 December 2024
—E oW EF—A=+—H

S8R 1T R A A Bk ()

(0 RZTEZZFWMA—H &R
ARPEREETEHEAARE
500,000,0007T K A &% ([223%
Eil) c 2208 EmERETZHE
B=FANIHE - A REEAMN
EERF_MAMER(ZE-_MF
MA—H)AEEREITAERS
%H*B%Ez.‘: i% im@%@

ﬁEix%:}@EZEl ZIK Tﬁ*é
ARE@MFE - BEHFSHEAGE
RHERE IS nﬁgﬁo
228 L6 1R F FI E3.9%5 &

8 A u/,\ﬁ/‘lii‘lﬁﬁﬁ-rjlﬁ/‘ﬂ*&
MMA—BMEERIAF(B=ZE

——FMA—A#R) - piHEEF
BIIME  FITEHEEBRER
AR (TRIESHE]  —KBER
ERREHEBRNBYE=5)A
BARZES THEREBIEL &
R o MEFEME - ARDQ B RIS I
RETEFRES MR RN
MILETRBINEIE  (EA%RS
EBRRER RZT_MFE=A
Zt+N\B ' AREEEZES -

i S WA

2024 2023

—E-ME —Eo=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETT

Government grants BT 6 B 27,285 30,426

Government grants received for compensating for the Group's research
and development costs which have not yet been undertaken are included
in deferred income and recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods when the costs, which the government grants are intended to
compensate, are expensed. Government grants received related to assets
invested in laboratory equipment and plant are credited to deferred income

and recognised as income over the expected useful lives of the relevant
assets.

7% 08 8 7 52 18] 1) K R O AT 35 RIS T U
MBI EIIRASETERA - WR
AR IS 478 B w8 {8 /9 B A 2 Hh BT R AR
’Iiﬁﬁéwf—’j%l)\ AREEU R R EZER
MERBLBENEER BAOBTRE
ﬁ?JTbaJr)\mL%U\ CWREEEENTE
HERFRAERBKA -
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33. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position. The following
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting

33.

EER IR ()

BEREI - BB TREMSHAE
REBERGAMBRARES - AT A
4R B 75 9 2% 0 K O M SE A B

purposes: HEEREE DT
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®B T ARETT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the REE AR R RIERE
consolidated statement of financial position BEMSHEEFE (282,510) (320,503)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the REFE AR RIERE
consolidated statement of financial position BEMSHAGEFAE 242,494 252,568
Net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities BEHIB(BE) BRFE (40,016) (67,935)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following

BRATAE RELEMEHEE M KE

items: 7 ¢
2024 2023
—E-ME —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AREFT
Impairment of assets BERE 114,430 22,131
Tax losses MIEEE 299,400 327,645
413,830 349,776

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to
the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through future
taxable profits is probable. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of losses arising in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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34. LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 3. RIEERA

2024 2023
—E-INF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBFT
Stock appreciation rights A% = 1 (E = 4,156
Defined benefit retirement obligation AT BKREMLE 23,215 31,117
23,215 35,273

(a) Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs)

The board of SPL, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
approved a long-term incentive plan in December 2015. Under
this plan, SPL could issue up to 50,000 Stock Appreciation Rights
("SARs"). As at 31 December 2024, all SARs (2023: outstanding stock
appreciation rights amounted to 12,075 SARs) were completed under
the plan.

Pursuant to the long-term incentive plan, the income obtained by the
beneficiary is the incremental part between the exercise value and the
initial value. The exercise value is the lesser of the common stock value
and the formula value, among which, the formula value is the specified
EBITDA divided by the shares of common stocks.

The initial values of SARs granted in 2015, 2016 and 2017 were
$562.30 per SARs, $562.30 per SARs and $500.62 per SARs,
respectively. The settlement or payment of SARs may be in the form of
cash or equivalent SPL’s or the Company’s common stock, or both. The
vest of SARs lasts for four years and the expiration date is in the tenth
year from the grant date. Vesting of SARs is in accordance with the
terms in the respective grant agreements signed with the participants.

(a) BRREEE

SPL(ARRIMEZEFRARNESS
RZE—RAF+-_ABB—ARH
BBt o BIRZATE] - SPLAT
17 2= %50,00017 Ik R & E# ([
EREE]) RZT_WF+=
A=+—0 Bxikit8BETHRE
BERERE (T =% HKRTT
{F A E e {ERE 412,075 IRE R (E
W) o

BERAHRETSE  XEAEEH
W ATEEEENBRERZRH
B E D o TTEEBENEBRE
BERAXNEBEFNREERE - H
F - RREERIEEREBITDABRIA
TR E -

RZE—HF —T—RER_ZF
—tEBTHNREED B AEH
B2 (A HE562.3055 T « FHKE
H(E#562.30%k T RSN REEE
#500.62% 7T - REWERNEE
iﬁ%Tﬁ%ﬁﬁi%%wuﬂ:
REIMEBRE N  AmERMAE
2 REREENFEHAMNE
AETAHBET-FBE - REHE
EENSERERSEFRENS
IBR T i R IR RREE ©

Annual Report 2024 4 [& $f &

203



204

34.

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 S 2= B 5T
37 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) (Continued)

Any vested SARs granted shall become exercisable in three equal
instalments with the first instalment becoming exercisable on the fifth
anniversary of the grant date and the next two instalments on the sixth
anniversary of the grant date and the seventh anniversary of the grant
date. As at 31 December 2024, the SARs plan has been terminated
and stock appreciation rights have been paid in full to employees.

Defined Benefit Retirement Obligation
The Group makes contributions to a defined benefit retirement plan

for the employees working in SPL Acquisition Corp., which covers
approximately 8% of the Group’s employees during the years ended 31
December 2024 (2023: approximately 10%). The plan is administered
by a trustee, who is independent, with its assets held separately from
those of the Group.

The plan is funded by contributions from the Group in accordance
with an independent actuary’s recommendation based on an annual
actuarial valuation. The independent actuarial valuation of the plan
during the relevant years was prepared by certified insurance actuaries
of AON plc by using the projected unit cost method. The actuarial
valuation indicates that the Group’s obligations under the defined
benefit retirement plan were approximately 80% covered by the plan
assets held by the trustees at 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately
77%). The deficit arises mainly as a result of local funding rules.

The plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk,
currency risk, interest rate risk and market risk.
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SHHITE - FERETERE
FEE - BEEMBRETAA
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FEE -

REMBZRANERE

ANEE BESPL Acquisition Corp
TE® R B 3 — B R E Fl & RIK
SFEMEREN REE-ZT -
F+ZA=+—RLFERER
EEEBEN8% (ZE-_=F 4
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T HETHEERAEENE
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34. LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 3. RHIEE®A (&

(b) Defined Benefit Retirement Obligation (Continued) (b) RERBZEMNKSE (EF)
(i) The amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) REEHERIZEA
statement of financial position are as follows: BEEEELT -

2024 2023
—EZME =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Present value of wholly or partly 2RI ERENEENHRE
funded by obligation 150,098 155,846
Fair value of plan assets EEECZAREE (120,514) (119,474)
29,584 36,372
Expected to be settled in the next EFRARET=ZEARA
twelve months “wE (6,369) (5,255)
23,215 31,117
(ii) Plan assets (i) 1 EEE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s liability under RoBE-—MER-—"T =4
this plan was covered by deposits placed with several banks. +-—A=+—H KEER
There is no plan asset invested in the Company’s own financial BT B IAGERE
instruments or any property occupied or other assets used by the RE4R 1T B0 2018 X o #EdE =t
Group. EEERENRARARHH
SR T A AKERARE

AYEIEANEMEE
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34. LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 3. REIEEER (&

(b) Defined Benefit Retirement Obligation (Continued) (b) RERBZEMNKSE (EF)

(iii) Movements in the present value of the defined

(iii) RE 7z & F 5 EHY

benefit obligation L-J
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
At beginning of year REH) 155,846 144,701
Actuarial gains arising from experience BERELEMNBE Ra (10,282) 5,563
Benefits paid by the plan Zat Bl A Y F 2R (5.722) (4,546)
Liability gains due to curtailment HIRE £ 1) 8 E s - =
Current service cost I B AR %5 K AN = -
Interest cost T Bk 72N 7,931 7,632
Exchange difference & & Z58 2,325 2,496
At end of year MRER 150,098 155,846

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation
was approximately 12.59 years during the year ended 31

REBEE-_ZT-_MOFE+=A
=t+—HLFE  REFE

December 2024 (2023: approximately 13.78 years). EAOMETEHFEHRO A
1259F (2 =% : §
13.78%F) °
(iv) Movements in plan assets (iv) ir 8| EEHEE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARBF T
At beginning of year REH) 119,474 107,598
The Group’s contributions paid AEBMEZTEZTH
to the plan HER 1,941 7,465
Benefits paid by the plan Zrt BT A B A 2= (5.722) (4,546)
Interest income A B WA 5,315 4,838
Return on plan assets, excluding HEEERR  ABE
interest income FEWA (2,277) 2,247
Exchange difference fEH =5 1,783 1,872
At end of year RER 120,514 119,474
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34. LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 3. RMEE®F (&)
(b) Defined benefit retirement obligation (Continued) (b) REANZRAKEE (£F)
(v) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (v) RBEEZREMSE
statement of profit or loss and other F iz NEZY
comprehensive income are as follows: BBl
2024 2023
—E-MmME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR T
Current service cost BV EA AR 75 BX 2N = -
Net interest on the net defined AEM=BEFED
benefit liability FA B 2,616 2,794
Settlement/Curtailment income EEHDR A - -
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R iBa MR 1A %E 2,616 2,794
Actuarial gains e (10,282) 5,563
Return on plan assets, excluding FTEIEEER
interest income TEEMEWKA 2,277 (2,247)
Liability gains due to curtailment HIREE & B B B e - =
Total amounts recognised in other P E i 2 TE W 2 ) T RR A
comprehensive income wem (8,005) 3,316
Total defined benefits costs FLE Az K AN 42 58 (5,389) 6,110

(vi)

The current service cost and the net interest on the net

defined benefit liability are recognised in cost of sales, selling

and distribution expenses and administrative expenses in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as
weighted averages) and a sensitivity analysis

are as follows:

Discount rate
Expected long-term rate of return

#rig =&
T HI R B[]

ENEARTE A R SE A s B
EFRENFN SN E SRR
RAMHERA - HERD
85 B S A R 17 BB 32 0 B

e

(vi) EXBEERRK (5T

BIE-FIGEE) R
HBEZWUT .
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
5.64% 5.04%
5.30% 4.45%
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34. LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 3. REIEEER (&)

(b) Defined benefit retirement obligation (Continued) (b) RERBZEMNKSE (EF)
(vi) Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as (vi) EXBERR (55
weighted averages) and a sensitivity analysis BIMEFITEE) R
are as follows: (Continued) BEBEDWHUT :
(#&)
The analysis below shows how the defined benefit obligation LToTRREAEAEER
would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a 1% change in BB 1%EE  mEe R
the significant actuarial assumptions: EMZEFRNCRD)
Increase 1% 1% 2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®ET T AREFT
Discount rate WX (17,366) (19,356)
Expected long-term rate of return T8 AR HA B 3R =& (1,195) (1,112)
Decrease 1% 1% 2024 2023
—E-MmE —E =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARET T
Discount rate PrIE = 21,370 23,071
Expected long-term rate of return T8 H = H Bl R & 1,195 1,112
35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. BA&
2024 2023
—EZNF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR T
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR :
1,467,296,204 (2023: 1,467,296,204) 1,467,296,204 ( —ZFE — =
ordinary shares 1,467,296,204 ) f% & 38 i% 1,467,296 1,467,296
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36. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 89 to
90 of the financial statements.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Statutory surplus reserve
In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, the companies

in the PRC are required to allocate 10% of the statutory after-tax
profits to the statutory reserve until the cumulative total of the reserve
reaches 50% of the Company’s registered capital. Subject to approval
from the relevant PRC authorities, the statutory reserve may be used
to offset any accumulated losses or increase the registered capital
of the Company. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend
distribution to shareholders of the PRC subsidiaries.

Merger reserve
The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between

the aggregate of the then net assets of the subsidiary acquired and the
consideration paid by the Group for the business combination under
common control.

Exchange fluctuation reserve
The exchange fluctuation reserve represents exchange differences

arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations whose functional currencies are different from the Group's
presentation currency.

Share option reserve
The share option reserve of the Group represents the fair value of

equity-settled share-based payment granted in 2012, which was early
terminated in 2013.

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve of the Group represents the fair value movement

of equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Defined benefit contribution reserve
The defined benefit contribution reserve of the Group represents

actuarial losses arising from a net defined benefit retirement

obligation.

NN 209
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36. f# 1@
AEENRESBELEEHNUBRE
FRIOHEINEMGAEREHRET -

() EZEBRSRHE
BRBE(REAREMEREE) -
BN AR IRETEFE 10% 52 E
EERE BEERREABRRE
FARAFEMEARNS50% ° 157F 48
B BRI E - SEERER A
RIS EA REHBRIE MO AR
AEMER X ERBTERIKE
FHEFRATREOERE -

(i) 56tFEE
KEBRWA GREEAMNKE T AR
EEREEFEAEEAEER %
HITERAHINEEBHERE-

(iii) B XK E R
I X M B R R RSN TS
WETBRRMELNELLZE - &
T B B TR R A S B ) 2 51 %
HE o

(iv) BRERE
AEBOERERBEIR-F—=
ERTHURBEHORG I Z
DAEE  WHR=B—=FRAE
ke

(v) AREERE
REBNA A BEBBREEAR
AEEHRAASDH AL MEE
Was B A AR BEED -

(vi) RER = HEK G
REEHAEFEEREE AR
AR E DR A £ E R

B
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 37. @4 E & REXRKE

CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FEHFREXRS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, Cytovance Biologics Inc, RBEE_Z_MF+=A
a subsidiary of the Group, provides CDMO service of approximately =+—BLEFE AEEFAF
USD3,305,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB23,534,000) to its Cytovance Biologics Incl & F
customer, GT BioPharma, Inc. in exchange for equity interest of the GT BioPharma, Inc. iR EE X
customer. 3,305,000E T (FHE R AR
23,534,0007T) BICDMOR 5 - A
BEZEP R AR -
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use FR-AEERKE RZXENHMHE
assets and lease liabilities of approximately RMB11,418,000 (2023: ERENERSABEFRAEE
approximately RMB13,344,000) and approximately RMB11,418,000 ENHEABEIRAHNARE
(2023: approximately RMB13,344,000), respectively, in respect of lease 11,418,000 (ZEZ=F : HHA
arrangements for plant and equipment. R #13,344,0000) RO AR
11,418,0007C (ZTE=Z=4F : fHA
R #13,344,0007T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEEBELENEEEH
activities
2024 —E-MFE
Interest-
bearing
bank and
other Interest Lease
borrowings payables liabilities
FTEHRTR
H i fE ™ EARE HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®T AR%®T T
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-HFE—HF—H 5,434,596 - 128,220
Changes from financing cash flows F&R &R EEE) 2,686,769 - -
Additions to lease liabilities fﬁfﬁh@ - - 11,418
Accretion of interest expenses .5 5 2 1 hn 129,878 6,612 4,695
Early termination of lease liabilites ~ A& & ERATA - = = (10,537)
Repayment of interest expenses BEFEMX (153,289) (6,612) -
Repayment of loans and other BEERRHEMER
borrowings (4,652,985) - -
Principal and interest elements HENRA AR EF S
of lease payments - - (38,427)
Foreign exchange movement SNEE B 3,240 - 1,223
At 31 December 2024 i ie 3
T=A=Er— 3,448,209 - 96,592
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 37.
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

REBRSREBRIE(F)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

(b) MEEFHELENAEBEED

activities (Continued) (4&)
2023 —T-=F
Interest-
bearing
bank and
other Interest Lease
borrowings payables liabilities
FFERITR
Hib g FER R B HEAE
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREETTT AREF T AR®ET T
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%—H—8 6,317,464 - 146,439
Changes from financing cash flows  BE IR & s & 5,109,367 - -
Additions to lease liabilities HEAEEmMm = = 13,3144}
Accretion of interest expenses ANl 185,053 33,342 4,824
Early termination of lease liabilities ~ A& & &IZRI42 1L = = (806)
Repayment of interest expenses BB B R (197,268) (52,560) =
Repayment of loans and other EEEFREMER
borrowings (5,994,672) - -
Principal and interest elements HEMRNAS EFE
of lease payments - - (37,983)
Transfer to interest-bearing bank EE ST BIRIT R
and other borrowings E b & 5K (19,218) 19,218 =
Foreign exchange movement BINF =) 33,870 = 2,402
At 31 December 2023 NET ==
+=—A=+—8 5,434,596 - 128,220
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEBRESARHAZ
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash AR RERNEERSRLR
flows is as follows: BIR
2024 2023
—E-@OF =B==4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARETTT
Within operating activities KSR ERE 2,734 3,748
Within financing activities B & & B E IS 38,209 37,983
Total HEt 40,943 41,731
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38.

39.
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COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

38. H&iE
AREBRBELHRE TIIE L EIE -

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT

Contracted, but not provided for: EEENEE ST
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 67,584 153,707
Capital contributions payable to investments  JEftIRER HE 58 337,319 315,961
Total s 404,903 469,668

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, which are
secured by the assets of the Group, are included in note 31 to the financial

statements.

The summary of the pledged assets is as follows:

(a)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, 100% of the shares of Shenzhen
Topknow Industrial Development Co., Ltd. Were pledged to secure
certain bank loans.

As at 31 December 2024, the assets (including property, plant and
equipment, equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income, inventory, trade and bills receivables,
and cash and cash equivalents) of SPL and the real estate of the
Company located in Pingshan District, Shenzhen, totally amounting
to approximately RMB2,921,927,000 were mortgaged to obtain loans
from certain banks.(2023: approximately RMB2,970,380,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the bank deposits secured for performance
guarantees margin were approximately RMB80,000 respectively. (2023:
approximately RMB80,000).

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7

39. EEE M
ol A S8 [ 6 P M S 0 AN R L BB AR AT
B AR SRR A 31 ©

HEREENH2MT

(a)

RZE—MFER=T=_=F+=A
=B FIHmEELEERRE
BR D F100%H AR5 B 1R RN
BEETRITER -

RZTE-_ME+=_RA=+—A80"
BIRBSPLEE (BEYE  BER
B UARBEFEAEZEE
AEMEEBEARERE 77
B BHRBGIAEREREERAR
Re kRS EEY) R FRYIF
W ARARIEHESZHARE
2,921,927,000c (ZZE==F : {9
AR#2,970,380,0007T) * ABS
HFEITHER -

R-ZZE-ME+=-A=+—H B
REHRFSHRITFRANABAR
80,000 (ZTE-_=ZF : HAR
#80,0007T) °



40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Name and relationship

Name of related parties

MBAHE S8
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40. BB AR5
(a) & BBRBER

Relationship with the Group
B 7 52 B Y B R

Mr. Li Li and Ms. Li Tan
A ERTHEL L

Shenzhen Leren Technology Co., Ltd.
RINTECRIBRBR QA

Xiamen Jintiantu Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
EFfeHIREGHREEERER)

Xiamen Feilashi Investment Co., Ltd.
EFRKRAKEBRAA

Mr. Shan Yu

BFEE

Xiamen Shuidi Shichuan Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (“Shuidi Shichuan”)

EFKBRFREGELE(ERAR) ([KEEED

Aridis Pharmaceuticals, Inc

OncoQuest Inc.

Resverlogix Corp.

In April 2024, as approved by the Market and Quality Supervision
Commission of Siming Municipality, Xiamen, the registered address of
Urumgi Feilaishi Equity Investment Co., Ltd. was relocated to Xiamen,

and its company name was changed from “Urumgi Feilaishi Equity
Investment Co., Ltd.” to “Xiamen Feilaishi Investment Co., Ltd.”.

Controlling Shareholders

PR R R

Shareholder of the Company
ZAN/NEID 5

Shareholder of the Company
ZN/NET) $

Shareholder of the Company
ZN/NET) §

Shareholder and key management and a close family
member of the Controlling Shareholders

PR N = R E IR E KRR AR AT R

A company controlled by Shareholder, key
management and a close family member of the
Controlling Shareholders

RN - T2 EIRRE R R A R S R A

Minority shareholder of a subsidiary

FARSBRE

Associate
NG|

Associate

=N

—T-FNA - LEFMTRARR
MBEBERERBE  BEARER
RAKRERERR A A M
WEBBREZEMM  ARIEEBAH
[EBAREBERRAKREREGRAD

A7) -
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

40. BB LSRR Z (&

Name and relationship (Continued) (a) & BREEEE)
In July 2024, as approved by the Market and Quality Supervision ZENFELR - KEMTERE
Commission of Siming Municipality, Xiamen, the registered addresses TiEEEEERILE SEBAE
of Urumgi Jintiantu Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) THIBREREGRCE (ARE
and Urumgi Shuidi Shichuan Equity Investment Partnership (Limited %) BEAEKBAERERE
Partnership) were relocated to Xiamen, and their company names were AREE (BRER) &Mt
changed from “Urumgi Jintiantu Equity Investment Partnership (Limited EEBREEMNT - AREBEO A
Partnership)” to “Xiamen Jintiantu Investment Partnership (Limited [EEBAREcHIRBERESGRD
Partnership)” and from “Urumgi Shuidi Shichuan Equity Investment X(BRER)IEZ2ERIEMeH
Partnership (Limited Partnership)” to “Xiamen Shuidi Shichuan TREAGELCE (BREE)] - @A
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)” respectively. [EBKRBRKBEFRERESR
X (ERER)IEE ATEPXK
TMAFREGREE (BRER)] -
Significant related party transactions (b) EXBEBAERS
The Group had the following transactions with related parties during REERFRNETIEHAIRS
the year:
2024 2023
—E-omEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR T T
Revenue from sales of products: EmEERA -
OncoQuest Inc. OncoQuest Inc. 125 1,758
Other related party transactions () HbB@B AR S

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's
banking facilities were guaranteed by its related parties with details set
out in note 31 to the financial statements.
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 0. BB AR Z (&)

(d) Outstanding balances with related parties (d) EEEEEBE R HIREER ,%i:t. X
As disclosed in the statement of financial position, the Group had the ZZD EM‘&HK MNEMEE  AEER
following outstanding balances with related parties at 31 December ZEMERZT=F+=A
2024 and 2023: =+— B EER T R E R A R0

T
2024 2023
—E-ME T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARBF T
Due from related parties FEW BT 5%
Other receivables (non-trade in nature) BB RIE (EBESMHE)
Resverlogix Corp. Resverlogix Corp. 51,802 45,371
Total receivables from related parties FEU FA S 5 SRIE B R 51,802 45,371
Due to related parties FE1T BB 5 7~
Other payables (non-trade in nature) Hitn et RIB GEE S MHHE)
Shenzhen Leren Technology Co., Ltd.(a) FINTTLCREBR QA () 89,811 =
Mr. Li Li TREAE - 67
Ms. Zhang Jie REALZ L 49 49
Ms. Han Tao LS B 79 79
Mr. Gao Xi = I ST A = 92
Deposit received (trade in nature) BliZEe (BH1HEHE)
OncoQuest Inc. OncoQuest Inc. - 4,116
Total payables to related parties FERAEE 5 SRR AR 89,939 4,403

(i) Trade receivables due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Techdow Pharma lItaly S.R.L.
(hereinafter referred to as “Techdow Italy”), was defrauded by a
criminal syndicate as a result of telecom fraud, involving an amount
of approximately EUR11.7 million. In order to safeguard the interests
of the Company and its many investors, on 3 February 2024, Mr. Li
Li, the controlling shareholder of the Company (“Mr. Li"”), committed
to advance funds in RMB equivalent to no more than EUR11.74
million to the Company. The Company hereby confirms that if the
Company or its affiliates (including but not limited to Techdow ltaly)
recovers all or part of the payments or obtains any compensation of
any nature from any relevant liable party through criminal, civil or
other legal proceedings or by any other means, after such payments
or compensation are recovered or obtained, the Company shall return
to Shenzhen Leren the equivalent of the abovementioned amount in
RMB, calculated at a fixed exchange rate of 1 EUR to RMB7.6500, and
the total returned amount shall not exceed the total amount of the
payments actually advanced by Shenzhen Leren to the Company, and
no interest of any form shall accrue on such advance payments during
the relevant period.

(i) JE U BB st 75 0 B 5 E WO OR R SR HE
T RBEEEKREE -

KARIETEEF2AR Techdow
Pharma lItaly S.R.L. (LATNREFE[X
BEAF]) AEEFHREILEER
BRSPS REFEHT0BEUT
i%1%l§“$ AR ERZHEENF
CRZE-_ME_F=H " &XA
1% RERR RSB A ([Z=HRE])
AFEAARERARR BT EA
ZFEINVABBITHES - AR A
EIRER - AR B AA FHIES
BH (BREATRRREEAF)
RBHE REFEERFIUE
WIHJ?‘WEWHF%?E)?L@

B‘}Z*B D IR S S AT I E H
B EFURNK AR E B R &
?%?é - AR R % E RS AR E

LA & € [ %=1 Bl 5 A R #657.6500
THEmMEMNEEARKRERR
YT Bl iRE RN IE R
BCEBRANOFEETE BB
NHRBESNPEAEETEER
B FIE o
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 40. BB B X 5 (&)
(e) Compensation of key management personnel of the (e) AEBXTEEBEAENF
Group A
2024 2023
—E-lmE T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARETFT
Fees aken 300 300
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMREYER 7,284 7,762
Performance-related bonuses BB RATE AT 6,175 4,628
Pension scheme contributions BRIREETEIH R 194 199
13,953 12,889
Further details of Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments are included EEREFHeNFBERT LR
in note 10 to the financial statements. FMIFE10
41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY M. BREREINERMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at RBERKR SEemITANKEE
the end of the reporting period are as follows: m
2024 —E-ME
Financial assets TREE
Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value

fair value through other
through comprehensive

profit or loss income
NARER RAREER
FTEAH GTEREHE
BEEA BEFA
2R HtEEWE Financial Total
NEREE MemEE P—— &%
Mandatorily amortised cost
designated Equity DS 512
assuch  investments TEH
BEmEE RERE SREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TT AR®T ARBTR
Financial assets at fair value through profit WARBENEEAEHTAZTHES
or loss NeREE 1,760,935 - - 1,760,935
Derivative financial instruments fTESRMIA 521 - - 521
Equity investments designated at fair value EEAARBEFSEEZEFA
through other comprehensive income H it 2 E Y AR AR & - 580,134 = 580,134
Financial assets included in other HARMERDEENSREE
non-current assets - - 333 333
Trade and bills receivables B RN FIEREREE - - 1,182,797 1,182,797
Due from related parties JE Uk BB 7 R - - 51,802 51,802
Financial assets included in prepayments, FABMTIE  EfERZIBER
other receivables and other assets HtEENCREE - - 39,227 39,227
Pledged deposits BEAFER - - 80 80
Time deposits EHER - - 267,135 267,135
Cash and cash equivalents ReREEEEY = > 1,421,827 1,421,827
Total @t 1,761,456 580,134 2,963,201 5,304,791
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 4. BEREINERTA
(Continued) (4 )
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at RMERAKR SE eI ANKEE
the end of the reporting period are as follows: (Continued) mT (&)
Financial liabilities EHAEE

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

LA 88 R AR

STEM

cRmEes

RMB’000

ARET T

Trade and bills payable B o ENRBERENER 299,692

Due to related parties JE A BB 5 5k E 128
Financial liabilities included in other payables &t A E fth fE 5% 18 & fE 5t 1B B

and accruals MEmmaE 125,979

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFERITREMBERK 3,448,209

Lease liabilities HEBE 96,592

Total #Et 3,970,600
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY M. REMNESHNEHMIA
(Continued) (4 )
2023 =—B=-=
Financial assets EREE
Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
fair value through other
through  comprehensive
profit or loss income
NRAEBE N
FERH FFERE
BEHA BEHA
EHER Hip2EME Financial Total
NemaE HEREE assets at &t
Mandatorily amortised cost
designated Equity DB B A
as such investments SHER)
BHMPIET BERE CREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss A% BB EAE
BEHAEHERD
SREE 1,420,551 - - 1,420,551
Equity investments designated at fair value BENDAEBENE
through other comprehensive income BEE AL M
FERENRERE - 503,565 - 503,565
Financial assets included in other AAEMERBEERN
non-current assets SREE = = 25,951 25,951
Trade and bills receivables BN ERERER = = 1,263,584 1,263,584
Due from related parties BB 7 3R = - 45,371 45371
Finandial assets included in prepayments, SIABNFIE  EAENGEREMEERN
other receivables and other assets CRAE - - 39,342 39,342
Pledged deposits BEAER - - 80 80
Time deposits EHER - - 85,918 85,918
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEN - - 1,765,645 1,765,645
Total Bt 1,420,551 503,565 3,225,891 5,150,007
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 4. BEREINERTA
(Continued) (#&)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at RBEMR SENeMITANEEEB
the end of the reporting period are as follows: (Continued) mT (&)
Financial liabilities EHAEE
Financial liabilities
at fair value Financial liabilities
through profit or loss at amortised cost
UARERETE
BHEHZETA LU 85 B A
EHERN FTEN
EA- 3R EA= =R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR® T
Derivative financial instruments MEEFMIA 388 388
Trade and bills payable B S RENRIERENER - 302,223
Due to related parties JE 1~ A B 5 30E - 287
Financial liabilities included in FFAEMERFERESEENS
other payables and accruals BB E - 109,565
Interest-bearing bank and other FHERIT R EMER
borrowings - 5,434,596
Lease liabilities HEAE - 128,220
Total st 388 5,975,279
42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 2. TMIBENAIARBERR
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REBEEER
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair values of the Group’s financial RZZE_NMFEFR=ZZFT=Z=F+=A
assets or liabilities approximated to their respective carrying amounts. =+—8: ZK%l%mﬂﬁF_iﬁﬁﬂ’J
ARBEEEESEREAERE
Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and cash EEEEECRaRReEEY T
equivalents, the current portion of time deposits and pledged deposits, GREEEREXONEBITD  B5E
trade and bills receivables, amounts due from related parties, financial assets Wk IE K e W SR I - FE UK B B 5 BRIE
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, trade payables, T ATERIFRIE « H i 8 Y 5k IE &E‘rﬁlﬁ
amounts due to related parties, financial liabilities included in other payables ENTcREE - BEZEMNRIE  ENEH
and accruals, the current portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings and 675 FRIE - BT A E fth FE T FRIE R EETIE
lease liabilities reasonably approximate to their fair values because these BEMER 8 & 5 ERITE KA ENE B
financial instruments are mostly short term in nature. AUAREEEENREERE AR EE
MBS FAAZSeRIARZER

HtE -
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's finance department headed by the financial controller is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The Directors
review the results of the fair value measurement of financial instruments
periodically for annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of long-term interest receivables and the debt investment
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the Group's
own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market
prices. The fair values of unlisted equity investments have been valued
based on a market-based fair value technique that is appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs. The fair values of unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value have been estimated using precedent transaction
method, binomial tree model and the guideline public company method
which require the Directors to determine comparable public companies (peers)
and comparable transactions. Those valuation techniques require significant
observable inputs, including market multiplier, risk-free interest rate, volatility
and liquidity discount which are available from public market. The Directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique,
which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, and
the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income and profit or loss, are reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth
management products issued by banks in Chinese Mainland. The Group has
estimated the fair value of these unlisted investments by using a discounted
cash flow valuation model based on the market interest rates of instruments
with similar terms and risks.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with counterparties,
principally investment in an associate’s derivative financial instruments,
including warrants, which are measured using binomial tree model, using
present value calculations. The model incorporates various market observable
inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, the underlying stock
price and interest rate curves.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the mark-to-market value of the
derivative asset position was net of a credit valuation adjustment attributable
to derivative counterparty default risk.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, management has estimated the potential
effects of using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation

model.

42.
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SRIENQAABERA
REESK (&)
ARBRARIETIRA - B E A
HRTEITHRMER - AEBEE RS
B LG BB B ¢ T B #9745 7
5 BT I O B A A B 2K
%3 EHIRAK DA BIE -

AEBEBAXSGHFIIITESBTA(E
EZRHBENATESRIA (BERRK
HE)NRE) R - XERAFE A
REFEETHE ZELUBESEED
SABEENBARE SEX5H TN
EEER  HERERMEMLE -

RZZE_NFRZ=ZFT=Z=F+=A
=+ —H ETMEEENTEEERT
EBRTETARSGHFEORREN
K= AP LA % -

HRAARBEFEEEZETHTHARLM
2EEENIE ETREREAREEN
5 EREEEMRGERR S ABEMG
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 2. SHIENAAEBERA
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) REEER (&)
Fair value hierarchy AAREBEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the TRELATEERSRIANAREER
Group's financial instruments: BER
Assets measured at fair value: URARBETENEE :
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZB-_WmE+=A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

RAEEFTEFMAERE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERMSETFH EXAHE BERFTTEE
mE WABE WA BE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B—%) (=) (B=#) &=t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T AR¥®T T AR¥T T AR¥T R

Equity investments designated 38 E AR A BETER

at fair value through other HEB A AHAM
comprehensive income 2 HEHKEORERE 91,663 488,471 - 580,134
Financial assets at fair value RanEEFEER
through profit or loss HeHit A2 HiEas
HEemEE 4,812 1,007,335 749,309 1,761,456
Total F 96,475 1,495,806 749,309 2,341,590
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 2. cMIANAAEBERAR
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) REESK (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) RABEER (&)
Assets measured at fair value: (Continued) URAAREBEHFSEHWEE & (&)
As at 31 December 2023 R=-ZB==%+=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AREEFEMASE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
V& BB T IS A BRABRE SEATAEBER
WwE N € EDNE 6
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B—%) (B=#H) (B=#) AFF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETFT ARBTF T ARBTF T

Equity investments designated 3 FEU A A BEFEH

at fair value through other HEFHt AHLM

comprehensive income SHEHREHRERE 565 503,000 - 503,565
Financial assets at fair value RAREEBEFZER

through profit or loss HEHT A HER

HEREE 4,977 613,534 802,040 1,420,551

Total @ 5,542 1,116,534 802,040 1,924,116
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, financial assets HE_Z_MER_ZT_=F+_H
classified under the fair value hierarchy as Level 2 were transferred to Level =ET—HBIEFE HREREERAR
3 due to their unobservable inputs used in fair value measurements. There BEFEFEANT ARG AZSE @ %
were no other significant transfers between the fair value hierarchy of the EHYHEAARBESERETE AN
Group'’s financial instruments during the year ended 31 December 2024 and TREEBAEZE=R -BE_T_MF
the year ended 31 December 2023. TZA=t+-—HLEFERBEE-ZT==

FTA=+—BFE AEESHT
ANRAABESRZHLTELHEANE

%o

Annual Report 2024 4 [& $f &




Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 v 2% B 7E
31 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

224

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 2. THITENAREBERAD
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) REBESEHK(EF)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ANREEER(E)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: ERBEBAABEHNER
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZEBE-_WE+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using
DNAEEETARE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
SEBRTIEHRHN EXAEHE BERTITEE
wmE WABE WA
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(F—%) (F=&) (F=H) &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARBTR ABRBTR ARBET T

Interest-bearing bank and other 3t E4R7T R H MR
borrowings - 1,081,048 - 1,081,048

As at 31 December 2023 R-_ZE-_=F+=-A=+—8

Fair value measurement using

A EEE AR
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

& R T 5 Y EXABE EATAUEERE
H(E A BIER AR

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B—#) (F=8) (F=#) A&F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT ARETT ARBTT

Interest-bearing bank and other &t 23R 1T & H b {3
borrowings - 1,810,021 — 1,810,021
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly include cash and cash
equivalents, time deposits, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, trade payables and other payables and lease liabilities, which
arise directly from its operations. The Group has other financial assets and
liabilities such as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income,
derivative financial instruments, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
and amounts due to related parties and due from related parties. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate
risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarized
below.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates

primarily to the interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.

The Group's policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and
variable rate debts. At 31 December 2024, approximately 70% of the
Group's interest-bearing borrowings bore interest at fixed rates (2023:
approximately 97 %).

43,

B 75 2 M 5
31 December 2024
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ReEEY  THER  BEREFER &
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BNERAEENELERES -

AEBeRTAEENTIERARANX
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. I EREENE FR
AND POLICIES (Continued) B (&)
Interest rate risk (Continued) Fl 2R bz (4F)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible Ti’%ﬁﬁﬂ?TEFﬁﬁﬁ‘rﬁl“ EREFTEN
change in interest rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s ERT - AEEFATAE GRBEFE
profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the FIRE KB R 2) N7 52 (B i ok 39 ) 3
Group's equity. AR R BENERE -
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in (decrease)
basis points profit before tax in equity*
2 Bt A1 75 s
#n, GeA) # i, G 4) O *
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T
2024 —E-NEF
RMB AR¥E 25 (2,617) -
RMB AR¥E (25) 2,617 -
2023 —2=-=
RMB AR 25 (460) -
RMB AR (25) 460 -
* Excluding retained profits * TBEERRER
Foreign currency risk SN E B
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from REBERZINEMA - LR KE
sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units' EEBEMN BN E BN ERE
functional currencies. THHELEE -
In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its interest-bearing bank BEoh - AEEEF BRITE KA INER
borrowings. H e
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting

period to a reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rates arising
from USD/EUR and RMB denominated financial instruments, with all other

43,

B 75 2 M 5
31 December 2024
—EFE-pWES=—H=+—H

MR EER B EHR
BR (&)

S E B ()
TRETNIREEHR - AEBETAFH
%’TEEE’\%TE/EXTE&}\E?&ZEHEE’J%EE
TA(EFMBEEMEERFTENER

variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax. T)BERRINEERE 1@7@‘@&%%&(,@?
=
2024 2023
—E-_E T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBF T
RMB/USD AR/ Ex
Strengthened 5% F1E5% (50,739) (16,449)
Weakened 5% B2 1E5% 50,739 16,449
RMB/EUR AR /BT
Strengthened 5% FH{E5% (34,659) 15,474
Weakened 5% B2 {B5% 34,659 (15,474)
Credit risk EERE

An impairment analysis was performed at 31 December 2024 and 2023
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2024 and 2023

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available without undue cost or
effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

RZTEZNEER-_T=Z=%+=A4
=+ BRAREEEETRES N

NETETEHERBA - BHEXRDHBIEA
HEEUBEEXNNTRES 2 EA48 5]
W B E - Rt E R KA
BER EESAERRSRSBHBHARE

BRABEEIE - BRI &R R E &
HEAHnEERAIEER -

RZEBE-_ONERZZEZ=
+= H +—HERXERMKO
N F R TR B ER

TRENEAAKECEERR (A2
ERNBHER  RIEEMERBFNH
THREMKARE HEIATRE) HiEEES
ERGEEERAR  ARR-_T_WF

R—Z_=F+_A=1t—HHNERE
BB -EINEBELASREENK
[ #8{E
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. MK EREEN B FHE
AND POLICIES (Continued) BE (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 R-CE-_NER_ZTE_-=
December 2024 and 2023 (Continued) +-ZA=+—HEKAERKKO
RERFERER (&)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZBE-WmE+=-A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 B 8 51
EREx HEHERARAL
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—RE FoRER F=RE 1t % &st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TRT AR®TR AR®BTR AR®BT:R

Financial assets included in 5t A EfhIEm B & &=

other non-current assets  H) % & & & 333 - - - 333
Contract assets BHEE - - - 4,018 4,018
Trade and bills receivables* & 5 JfE 4 5518 &

JEU R+ - - - 1,208,724 1,208,724

Financial assets included & AFEA K18 -
in prepayments, other H e GRIE &

receivables and other Efh&EE

assets TREE

— Normal** — TEFFSS 96,300 - - - 96,300

— Doubtful** — TERE** - - 105,317 - 105,317
Due from related parties & Y 8 B 5 7K 18 51,802 - - - 51,802
Pledged deposits [z EEEA 80 - - - 80
Time deposits TE BT X 267,135 - - - 267,135
Cash and cash equivalents R4 RIS ZEY 1,421,827 - - - 1,421,827
Total 15T 1,837,477 - 105,317 1,212,742 3,155,536

SHENZHEN HEPALINK PHARMACEUTICAL GROUP CO., LTD. R /8 L s S £ £ AR 1H AR A 7




Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 2 M 5
31 December 2024
—E oW EF—A=+—H

229

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. B EREENE FHE
AND POLICIES (Continued) BR (&
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 R-ZEB-_ONER=-_FT=-=
December 2024 and 2023 (Continued) +=ZA=+—H %kﬂlﬁﬁi i
RERFMEMRR (&)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZZE-—=F+=-A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 78 23
(ELiEECES > HIEHE 18K
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—RER EPEE FEoREE SRIzA BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTET AREBTRT ARETRT AR¥ETT ARET:T

Financial assets included in 5t A EEfh3Em &N E E

other non-current assets ~ H) % & & & 25,951 = = = 25,951
Contract assets ANEE - - - 10,947 10,947
Trade and bills receivables* & 5 g W 3k 18 &

eSS - - - 1,303,623 1,303,623

Financial assets included &+ A J& i 5018
in prepayments, other H e WGRIE &

receivables and other HiEE
assets TREE
— Normal** — [EE** 143,011 - - - 143,011
— Doubtful** — TERE** - - 67,205 - 67,205
Due from related parties & U B8 Bt 75 3K 18 45,371 - - - 45,371
Pledged deposits [T 80 - - - 80
Time deposits JE HRTF 3K 85,918 - - - 85,918
Cash and cash equivalents IR & MIR& FEY 1,765,645 - - - 1,765,645
Total 8=t 2,065,976 - 67,205 1,314,570 3,447,751
: For trade and bills receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for < RALEERGETERENE S EK
impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the RERERERNS - ERBHERNE
financial statements. B %S M SRR 24 ] EE -
ey The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables oD fid 5t AT FRIE ~ E At FEUCGRIE R H A &
and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there ENSREENARSBHRITELRIEAS
is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit MEEZEERR B VAR RBEL
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is m-HEEEERHARIES] - FA &
considered to be “doubtful”. MEEZEEERBBERITFRE] -
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37 December 2024
—EFE-—pWES=—H=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 (Continued)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
o a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

o it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment of whether
a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over
the remaining life of the financial instrument.

Management makes periodic collective assessments for financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets as well as an
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience. The Group recognises
allowance for financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables based on 12-month ECLs and adjusts for forward-looking
macroeconomic data. Otherwise, they are measured based on the lifetime
expected credit loss.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of internally generated cash flows
from operations and bank borrowings. The Group regularly reviews its
major funding positions to ensure that it has adequate financial resources in
meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the

reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, was as

follows:

43. B EREENERE

BR ()
7 B 1t L B

231

FEBENEREBRBEARNLELNE

BEYRDME LIRITS

N
ERENN

BUMBE L2 BRSFE - REEE
HiRdEET2ESMN - UEREER
MM BERKBETHEMBE -

REBEEORBEBANT ARERHEH
AOESBEENIRBEREINNT

2024
—E-NEF
Less than 1to Over
On demand 1 year 3 years 3 years Total
I PR—F —E=£ =FpE il
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARBTnR AR¥Tr ARBTR AR®Tx
Trade payables B Z RN HRIE - 299,692 - - 299,692
Financial liabilities included in &+ A H 4 & (< 5% 18
other payables and accruals R EEHIE B &Y
TREE 63,974 - - - 63,974
Interest-bearing bank sFEIRITER
borrowings - 2,389,953 1,050,825 42,360 3,483,138
Due to related parties FE 1~ BA Bt 5 3R 89,939 - - - 89,939
Lease liabilities HEBE - 42,273 37,999 26,535 106,807
Total @t 153,913 2,731,918 1,088,824 68,895 4,043,550
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. IR EMREENERE
AND POLICIES (Continued) BUR (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B R B ()
2023
TE-=F
Less than 1to Over
On demand 1 year 3 years 3 years Total
Bl B8 DPR—F —E=fF =FME =X
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTIT ARBTRT AR®TT ARBFTIT AREBTT
Trade payables B 5 RN IR = 302,223 - - 302,223
Derivative financial TEeRIT A
instruments - 388 - - 388
Financial liabilities included in 5+ A E {th f& 1+ 518
other payables and accruals R EETTEE &
sRaE 109,565 - - - 109,565
Interest-bearing bank T ERITER
borrowings - 3,751,174 1,483,734 437,118 5,672,026
Due to related parties FE 1~ BA Bt 5 3B 287 - = = 287
Lease liabilities HEAE - 41,374 61,712 35,540 138,626
Total mit 109,852 4,095,159 1,545,446 472,658 6,223,115
Capital management EXRER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

AEBEAERNTIEBERRRELRE
BOFELERD  BRERBENEARL
KRB XFHHEEBRARRFNRD
ol 4 -

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in REE Ff’i,ié‘ém KR BB N AE R
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the ENEREE BEREAAREBILELA

underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders
or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. B R EEN B ZHE
AND POLICIES (Continued) BE (&)
Capital management (Continued) EXREE ()
The asset-liability ratios as at the end the reporting period are as follows: RBEHARNEEBBLENAT ¢
2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-o=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Total assets EERE 17,343,524 19,203,417
Total liabilities BERE 5,141,403 7,215,040
Asset-liability ratio BEEBGELE 30% 38%
44. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 44, ZEBEEH

According to the profit distribution plan approved by the 14th meeting of the
6th Board of the Company on March 28, 2025, the Company plans to use
the total share capital of 1,467,296,204.00 shares as the base, and distribute
a cash dividend of RMB2.50 (tax included) per 10 shares to all shareholders,
with a total cash dividend of RMB366,824,051.00. The remaining profit will
be retained as undistributed profit. This plan is still subject to the deliberation
and approval of the 2024 Annual General Meeting of the Company.

BEAARENEBEFEETHASE
R-B-_RAFEF=FA=-+\BEZRB
B3 F 9 B 5 B - AR Al AT E AR R AR
1,467,296,204. 000 & h A E & - A2
ERASIORBMDEERESBREARE
250 (E8)  AFFREREBREAR
#366,824,051.007T ° H &% F| 8B 1E &
DEHEF - AFREBRIARAZE
—HEFEERREASRARA -
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31 December 2024
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the

end of the reporting period is as follows:

45, XD B B &R R &R

BERARRARBEHREBRARNE

BT

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
ks —E-=F
+=-A=+-8B +=ZA=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE kR 1,641,467 1,515,727
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 12,352 97,299
Other intangible assets HihmEEE 77,634 10,628
Investments in associates REERRZIRE 340,626 1,653,781
Interests in subsidiaries RF AR ZHEZR 3,316,144 2,179,192
Equity investments designated at fair value EEUAAABESEEHLES
through other comprehensive income FTAHE A2 iz B AR i 1%
‘& 28,259 31,539
Financial assets at fair value through NAREBEFEAHEEZHA
profit or loss EHERNEREE 204,799 371,148
Deferred tax assets BEMSHEE 125,337 119,206
Other non-current assets Hib3EmEEE 6,389 101,042
Total non-current assets FEMBEELTE 5,753,007 6,079,562
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 2,340,672 3,693,552
Trade and bills receivables B2 REUHRIERERER 17,418 37,297
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets JE4 3018 £ fih JiE Y3018 &
EMEE 61,327 102,965
Due from related parties JE W A B 7 2R 2,559,582 2,589,848
Financial assets at fair value through NARBEFEAHEEZHIA
profit or loss EHERNEREE 522,841 354,294
Time deposits E BfF 176,347 70,000
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEY 391,352 929,156
Total current assets MEEERTE 6,069,539 7,777,112
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables B P RIE 45,240 107,905
Other payables and accruals H A fE A FRIE R T 1E B 234,084 141,491
Contract liabilities SHAE 799 349,218
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERIT REME R 1,064,471 2,022,582
Tax payable e 758 35,955 35,955
Due to related parties JE 1<t A B 5 KR 600,883 170,716
Lease liabilities HERE 1,826 519,260
Total current liabilities mEA ERE 1,983,258 3347127
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 4,086,281 4,429,985
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEABERRDER 9,839,288 10,509,547
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. X R R B BAR MR &R (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-_NE ZTZ=F
+=—A=+—-8B +ZRA=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARBT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES *kRBAEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERIT R EMER 1,064,032 1,585,654
Deferred income JEIE U A 16,757 18,508
Lease liabilities HEBE 12,571 22,444
Total non-current liabilities ERMEBERRE 1,093,360 1,626,606
Net assets AEFE 8,745,928 8,882,941
EQUITY Ex
Share capital i@ 1,467,296 1,467,296
Reserves (Note) e (B aE) 7,278,632 7,415,645
Total equity ERAHE 8,745,928 8,882,941
Li Li Shan Yu
3 BF
Director Director
EF -2
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 45. NPT AR R R (F)
COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B 5
A summary of the Company’s reserve is as follows: ARAEEOBENT -
Share Fair Statutory
Share Merger option value Other surplus Retained

premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

RAEE AUEE BRERE AAEERK Hitth%E ATRHHE REER At

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000

AR®TR ARBTR AR¥TR AR¥TR AR%TR AR¥Tn AR¥TR ARET:R

At 31 December 2022 WZE-=F+=-A=+-H 7,558,283 (1,996,731) 33,937 16,791 352,025 540,936 1,233,573 7,738,814
Effect of adoption of amendments to IAS  3E4y( BIPS & 21 3€8) F12% 1)

12 (note 2.2(c)) BiTrE 2 (Mi2.20) - - - - - - - -
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=—F—HH#E 7,558,283 (1,996,731) 33,937 16,791 352,025 540,936 1,233,573 7,738,814
Total comprehensive income for the year N2 E R =B = = = (298) = = (173,104) (173,402)
Share of other reserves of associates EEBE AR A = = - - (2,338) - - (2,338)
Transfer from retained profits HEARDER = - - . - < _ _
Dividend distributed to shareholders RRE A RE S = = = - = - (146,730) (146,730)
Others Hit = E = = (699) = = (699)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R=F-=&E+-A=+—-AK

—Z-mE-A-R 7,558,283 (1,996,731) 33,937 16,493 348,988 540,936 913,739 7,415,645
Total comprehensive income for the year N2 ERZ B4 - - - (20,277) - - (119,812) (140,089)
Share of other reserves of associates FERR & R R K A - - - - (5,102) - - (5,102)
Transfer from retained profits BREARRER - - - - - - - -
Dividend distributed to shareholders RARED RS = = - - - - - _
Others Hity - - - - 8,178 - - 8,178
At 31 December 2024 R-F-M&F+=-A=+-H 7,558,283 (1,996,731) 33,937 (3,784) 352,064 540,936 793,927 7,278,632

46. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 46. Bt FR 2 H

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the EEEeER T -_RF=A=+/\HAB
Board on 28 March 2025. AR L BRE -
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